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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
QUALITY SYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)
September 30, 2013

March 31, 2013

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash

72,816

$

3,498

Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Income taxes receivable

105,999
5,488

11,489

12,012

139,526

148,257

996

710

4,466

—

Deferred income taxes, net

12,180

12,140

Other current assets

12,212

12,720

Total current assets

257,183

297,326

Equipment and improvements, net

23,508

21,887

Capitalized software costs, net

49,773

39,781

Intangibles, net

49,838

27,550

Goodwill

76,219

45,761

Other assets

10,810

Total assets

10,750

$

467,331

$

443,055

$

8,823

$

11,501

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue

66,643

65,207

Accrued compensation and related benefits

11,976

11,915

—

1,480

Dividends payable

10,672

10,418

Other current liabilities

32,343

26,508

Income taxes payable

Total current liabilities

130,457

127,029

Deferred revenue, net of current

1,362

1,219

Deferred compensation

4,298

3,809

Other noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

10,710

3,949

146,827

136,006

601

595

191,416

179,743

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock $0.01 par value; authorized 100,000 shares; issued and outstanding 60,125 and 59,543 shares at September 30, 2013
and March 31, 2013, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

(204)

Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$

(11)

128,691

126,722

320,504

307,049

467,331

$

443,055

QUALITY SYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2013

Six Months Ended September 30,

2012

2013

2012

Revenues:
Software and hardware

$

Implementation and training services
System sales

15,562

$

23,720

$

31,534

$

49,564

7,809

8,535

14,384

20,581

23,371

32,255

45,918

70,145

Maintenance

40,313

38,715

78,921

77,283

Electronic data interchange services

16,545

15,024

33,237

28,847

Revenue cycle management and related services

15,467

14,486

31,482

28,887

Other services

15,385

15,648

31,052

29,262

Maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services

87,710

83,873

174,692

164,279

111,081

116,128

220,610

234,424

Software and hardware

4,779

5,624

9,713

11,395

Implementation and training services

6,972

7,507

14,106

16,652

11,751

13,131

23,819

28,047

5,262

4,741

10,564

9,552

Electronic data interchange services

10,650

9,151

21,446

18,399

Revenue cycle management and related services

11,007

10,556

22,408

21,426

9,012

8,785

17,517

17,335

Total cost of maintenance, EDI, RCM and other
services

35,931

33,233

71,935

66,712

Total cost of revenue

47,682

46,364

95,754

94,759

Gross profit

63,399

69,764

124,856

139,665

38,578

37,832

73,674

74,513

Research and development costs

7,615

6,272

13,229

14,848

Amortization of acquired intangible assets

1,260

1,316

2,454

2,453

Total operating expenses

47,453

45,420

89,357

91,814

Income from operations

15,946

24,344

35,499

47,851

Total revenues
Cost of revenue:

Total cost of system sales
Maintenance

Other services

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative

Interest expense, net

(205)

(62)

(174)

(27)

Other income (expense), net

(155)

220

(409)

7

Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

15,586

24,502

34,916

47,831

5,465

8,811

11,850

16,643

$

10,121

$

15,691

$

Basic
Diluted

$

23,066

10,101

$

$

0.17

$

0.17

$

31,188

15,738

$

22,873

$

31,178

$

0.26

$

0.26

$

0.39

$

0.53

$

0.39

$

0.53

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation (net of $0 tax)
Comprehensive income

(20)

47

(193)

(10)

Net income per share:

Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic

59,734

Diluted

59,347

59,751

Dividends declared per common share

$

0.175

59,647

59,386
$

0.175

59,314

59,663
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

0.350

59,386
$

0.350

QUALITY SYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended September 30,
2013

2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

$

23,066

$

31,188

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation

3,818

3,386

Amortization of capitalized software costs

5,303

4,879

Amortization of other intangibles

4,062

3,810

Provision for bad debts

3,716

3,103

Share-based compensation

1,125

1,383

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense

826

Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation

(62)

(75)

Change in fair value of contingent consideration

(89)

856

(851)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of amounts acquired:
Accounts receivable

9,298

Inventories
Income taxes receivable
Other current assets

(7,736)

(242)

(143)

(4,466)

(3,435)

3,324

Other assets

(394)

(845)

(1,088)

Accounts payable

(2,816)

3,677

Deferred revenue

(4,223)

(15,226)

Accrued compensation and related benefits

61

Income taxes payable

(1,976)

(1,899)

(26)

Other current liabilities

1,818

Deferred compensation

489

(289)

Other non-current liabilities

502

(1,230)

Net cash provided by operating activities

9,677

42,766

29,490

(15,295)

(14,117)

(4,611)

(4,836)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to capitalized software costs
Additions to equipment and improvements
Purchase of Mirth

(34,802)

Purchase of Poseidon

—

—

Purchase of Matrix

(2,033)

—

Net cash used in investing activities

(5,073)

(54,708)

(26,059)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation

62

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

75

1,535

Dividends paid

764

(20,843)

(20,736)

(1,995)

(935)

Net cash used in financing activities

(21,241)

(20,832)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(33,183)

(17,401)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

105,999

134,444

Payment of contingent consideration related to acquisitions

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

72,816

$

117,043

QUALITY SYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS – (Continued)
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended September 30,
2013

2012

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net of refunds

$

17,555

$

20,962

Effective September 9, 2013, the Company acquired Mirth in a transaction summarized as follows:
Fair value of assets acquired

$

Cash paid

62,540
(34,802)

Common stock issued at fair value

(7,882)

Fair value of contingent consideration
Liabilities assumed

(13,307)
$

6,549

Effective May 1, 2012, the Company acquired Poseidon in a transaction summarized as follows:
Fair value of assets acquired

$

Cash paid

2,551
(2,033)

Purchase price holdback

(500)

Liabilities assumed

$

18

$

14,587

Effective April 16, 2012, the Company acquired Matrix in a transaction summarized as follows:
Fair value of assets acquired
Cash paid

(5,073)

Common stock issued at fair value

(3,953)

Purchase price holdback

(853)

Fair value of contingent consideration

(2,862)

Fair value of non-compete agreement (liability)
Liabilities assumed

(1,100)
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUALITY SYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except shares and per share data)
(Unaudited)
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Quality Systems, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, which consist of NextGen
Healthcare Information Systems, LLC (“NextGen”), NextGen RCM Services, LLC, Opus Healthcare Solutions, LLC (“Opus”), ViaTrack Systems, LLC (“ViaTrack”), Matrix
Management Solutions, LLC ("Matrix"), QSI Management, LLC and Quality Systems India Healthcare Private Limited (“QSIH”) (collectively, the “Company”). Mirth
Corporation (“Mirth”) is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition (September 9, 2013). All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated.
Basis of Presentation. The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2013 and for the three and six months ended September 30, 2013
and 2012 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Form 10-Q and Article 10 of the Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X and therefore do
not include all information and notes which would be presented were such consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
presented in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013. Amounts related to disclosures of March 31, 2013 balances within these
interim consolidated financial statements were derived from the aforementioned Form 10-K. In the opinion of management, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements reflect all adjustments which are necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The results of operations for
such interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results of operations to be expected for the full year.
References to amounts in the consolidated financial statement sections are in thousands, except shares and per share data, unless otherwise specified.
Revenue Recognition. The Company generates revenue from the sale of licensing rights to its software products directly to end-users and value-added resellers ("VARs"). The
Company also generates revenue from sales of hardware and third-party software, implementation, training, electronic data interchange (“EDI”), post-contract support
(maintenance) and other services, including revenue cycle management (“RCM”), performed for clients who license its products.
A typical system contract contains multiple elements of the above items. Revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements is allocated to each element
based on the relative fair values of those elements. The fair value of an element is based on vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”). The Company limits its assessment
of VSOE for each element to either the price charged when the same element is sold separately or the price established by management having the relevant authority to do so
for an element not yet sold separately. VSOE calculations are updated and reviewed quarterly or annually depending on the nature of the product or service. The Company
generally establishes VSOE for the related undelivered elements based on the bell-shaped curve method. VSOE is established on maintenance for the Company's largest clients
based on stated renewal rates only if the rate is determined to be substantive and falls within the Company's customary pricing practices.
When evidence of fair value exists for the delivered and undelivered elements of a transaction, discounts for individual elements are aggregated and the total discount is
allocated to the individual elements in proportion to the elements' fair value relative to the total contract fair value.
When evidence of fair value exists for the undelivered elements only, the residual method is used. Under the residual method, the Company defers revenue related to the
undelivered elements in a system sale based on VSOE of fair value of each of the undelivered elements and allocates the remainder of the contract price net of all discounts to
revenue recognized from the delivered elements. If VSOE of fair value of any undelivered element does not exist, all revenue is deferred until VSOE of fair value of the
undelivered element is established or the element has been delivered.
Provided that fees are fixed or determinable and collection is considered probable, revenue from licensing rights and sales of hardware and third-party software is generally
recognized upon physical or electronic shipment and transfer of title. In certain transactions where collection risk is high, the revenue is deferred until collection occurs or
becomes probable. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, then the revenue recognized in each period (subject to application of other revenue recognition criteria) will be the
lesser of the aggregate amounts due and payable or the amount of the arrangement fee that would have been recognized if the fees were being recognized using the residual
method. Fees which are considered fixed or determinable at the inception of the Company's arrangements must be negotiated at the outset of an arrangement and generally be
based on the specific volume of products to be delivered without being subject to change based on variable pricing mechanisms such as the number of units copied or
distributed or the expected number of users.
Revenue from implementation and training services is recognized as the corresponding services are performed. Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the contractual
maintenance period.
Contract accounting is applied where services include significant modification, development or customization.
The Company ensures that the following criteria have been met prior to recognition of revenue:

▪

the price is fixed or determinable;

▪

the customer is obligated to pay and there are no contingencies surrounding the obligation or the payment;

▪

the customer's obligation would not change in the event of theft or damage to the product;

▪

the customer has economic substance;

▪

the amount of returns can be reasonably estimated; and

▪

the Company does not have significant obligations for future performance in order to bring about resale of the product by the customer.

The Company has historically offered short-term rights of return in certain sales arrangements. If the Company is able to estimate returns for these types of arrangements,
revenue is recognized, net of an allowance for returns, and these arrangements are recorded in the consolidated financial statements. If the Company is unable to estimate
returns for these types of arrangements, revenue is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements until the rights of return expire, provided also, that all other criteria
for revenue recognition have been met.
Revenue related to sales arrangements that include hosting or the right to use software stored on the Company's hardware is recognized in accordance to the same revenue
recognition criteria discussed above only if the customer has the contractual right to take possession of the software without incurring a significant penalty and it is feasible for
the customer to either host the software themselves or through another third-party. Otherwise, the arrangement is accounted for as a service contract in which the entire
arrangement is deferred and recognized over the period that the hosting services are being performed.
From time to time, the Company offers future purchase discounts on its products and services as part of its sales arrangements. Such discounts that are incremental to the range
of discounts reflected in the pricing of the other elements of the arrangement, that are incremental to the range of discounts typically given in comparable transactions, and that
are significant, are treated as an additional element of the contract to be deferred. Amounts deferred related to future purchase options are not recognized until either the
customer exercises the discount offer or the offer expires.
RCM service revenue is derived from services fees, which include amounts charged for ongoing billing and other related services, and are generally billed to the customer as a
percentage of total collections. The Company does not recognize revenue for services fees until these collections are made, as the services fees are not fixed or determinable
until such time.
Revenue is divided into two categories, “system sales” and “maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services.” Revenue in the system sales category includes software license fees,
third-party hardware and software and implementation and training services related to purchase of the Company's software systems. Revenue in the maintenance, EDI, RCM
and other services category includes maintenance, EDI, RCM services, consulting services, annual third-party license fees, hosting services, Software as a Service ("SaaS")
fees and other services revenue.
Goodwill. The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually during its first fiscal quarter, referred to as the annual test date. The Company will also test for impairment
between annual test dates if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. Impairment testing for goodwill is performed at
a reporting-unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment (referred to as a component). A component of an operating segment is
a reporting unit if the component constitutes a business for which discrete financial information is available and segment management regularly reviews the operating results of
that component. An impairment loss would generally be recognized when the carrying amount of the reporting unit's net assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the reporting
unit.
As of September 30, 2013, the Company has not identified any events or circumstances that would require an interim goodwill impairment test. During the quarter ended
December 31, 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $17,400 related to the Hospital Solutions Division as a result of deteriorating financial performance. The
impairment charge reduced the book value of goodwill associated with the division to $4,342. See Note 4.

Share-Based Compensation. The following table shows total share-based compensation expense included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the
three and six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2013

Six Months Ended September 30,

2012

2013

2012

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue

$

89

Research and development costs
Selling, general and administrative
Total share-based compensation
Income tax benefit

$

73

89

74

406
584
(184)

Decrease in net income

$

400

$

163

149
133

272

831

1,101

419

1,125

1,383

(127)
$

$

131

292

(352)
$

773

(447)
$

936

Recent Accounting Standards. New accounting pronouncements implemented by the Company during the current year or requiring implementation in future periods are
discussed below or in the notes, where applicable.
In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (ASU
2013-02). The new standard requires an entity to provide information about the amounts reclassified out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income by component. The
adoption of this guidance had no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements, but may have an effect on the required disclosures for future reporting periods.
2. Fair Value Measurements
The following tables set forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis at
September 30, 2013 and March 31, 2013:
Balance at
September 30,
2013

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (1)

$

72,816

Restricted cash
Marketable securities (2)

$

72,816

$

—

$

—

3,498

3,498

—

—

11,489

11,489

—

—

$

87,803

$

87,803

$

—

$

—

$

16,559

$

—

$

—

$

16,559

$

16,559

$

—

$

—

$

16,559

LIABILITIES
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions

Balance at

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

March 31,
2013

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (1)

$

Restricted cash
Marketable securities (2)

105,999

$

105,999

$

—

$

—

5,488

5,488

—

—

12,012

12,012

—

—

$

123,499

$

123,499

$

—

$

—

$

5,336

$

—

$

—

$

5,336

$

5,336

$

—

$

—

$

5,336

LIABILITIES
Contingent consideration related to acquisitions

___________________________________
(1) Cash equivalents consists of money market funds.

(2) Marketable securities consist of fixed-income securities.
The Company’s contingent consideration liability is accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis and is adjusted to fair value when the carrying value differs from fair value.
Key assumptions include discount rates and probability-adjusted achievement of revenue and strategic targets that are not observable in the market. The categorization of the
framework used to measure fair value of the contingent consideration liability is considered Level 3 due to the subjective nature of the unobservable inputs used. The fair
values of the contingent consideration liability for Sphere Health Systems, Inc. ("Sphere"), IntraNexus, Inc. ("IntraNexus"), Matrix, and Mirth were estimated based on the
probability of achieving certain business milestones and management’s forecast of expected revenues.
The following table presents activity in the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), as of and for the
six months ended September 30, 2013:
Total Liabilities
Balance as of April 1, 2013

$

5,336

Acquisitions (Note 3)

13,307

Earnout payments

(1,995)

Fair value adjustments
Balance as of September 30, 2013

(89)
$

16,559

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements
The Company has certain assets, including goodwill and other intangible assets, which are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis and are adjusted to fair value only if
an impairment charge is recognized. The categorization of the framework used to measure fair value of the assets is considered Level 3 due to the subjective nature of the
unobservable inputs used. During the six months ended September 30, 2013, there were no adjustments to fair value of such assets, except for the intangible assets acquired
from Mirth as discussed further below.
3. Business Combinations
On September 9, 2013, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Mirth, a global leader in health information technology that helps clients achieve
interoperability. The acquisition will enhance the Company’s current enterprise interoperability initiatives and broaden its accountable and collaborative care, population
health, disease management and clinical data exchange offerings. The preliminary Mirth purchase price totaled $55,991, which includes share-based contingent consideration
with an estimated fair value of $13,307 payable over a three year period subject to achievement of certain strategic milestones. The goodwill arising from the acquisition of
Mirth represents the opportunity for the Company to sell Mirth-powered health information technology solutions as a complement to its other products as well as other
expected market participant synergies going forward and is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes over a period of 15 years. Mirth operates under the NextGen
Division.
The Company accounted for the Mirth acquisition as a purchase business combination. The preliminary purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The fair values of acquired assets and liabilities assumed represent
management’s estimate of fair value and are considered preliminary. The estimated fair values may be further adjusted as additional information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date becomes available during the twelve month period after the acquisition date (“measurement period”). Any changes in the
values allocated to tangible and identified intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the measurement period may result in material adjustments to goodwill.
The estimated fair value of the acquired tangible and intangible assets and liabilities assumed were determined using multiple valuation approaches depending on the type of
tangible or intangible asset acquired, including but not limited to the income approach, the excess earnings method and the relief from royalty method approach.
The total preliminary purchase price for the Mirth acquisition during the six months ended September 30, 2013 is summarized as follows:
Mirth
Cash paid

$

Common stock issued at fair value

7,882

Contingent consideration
Total purchase price
The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocation for the Mirth acquisition:

34,802
13,307

$

55,991

Mirth
Fair value of the net tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Current assets (including accounts receivable of $4,283)

$

4,905

Equipment and improvements

828

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(748)

Deferred revenues

(5,802)

Total net tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed

(817)

Fair value of identifiable intangible assets acquired:
Trade name

1,350

Customer relationships

2,800

Software technology

22,200

Goodwill

30,458

Total identifiable intangible assets acquired

56,808

Total purchase price

$

55,991

The pro forma effects of the Mirth acquisition would not have been material to the Company’s results of operations and are therefore not presented.

4. Goodwill
The Company does not amortize goodwill as it has been determined to have an indefinite useful life.
Goodwill by division consists of the following:
March 31,
2013
QSI Dental Division (1)

$

7,289

September 30,
2013

Acquisitions
$

—

$

7,289

NextGen Division

1,840

30,458

32,298

Hospital Solutions Division

4,342

—

4,342

RCM Services Division
Total goodwill

32,290
$

45,761

—
$

30,458

32,290
$

76,219

(1) QSI Dental Division goodwill is presented on a basis consistent with that of the management reporting structures within QSI. For the purposes of testing goodwill for
impairment annually and as otherwise may be required, however, the QSI Dental Division goodwill is allocated to all business units that derive cash flows from the products
associated with the acquired goodwill. For all periods presented in this report, the allocation resulted in substantially all of such goodwill being ascribed to the NextGen
Division.
Approximately 65% of the goodwill balance as of September 30, 2013 is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes over the periods prescribed by the Internal
Revenue Code ("IRC").

5. Intangible Assets
In connection with the Mirth acquisition, the Company recorded $26,350 of intangible assets related to trade name, customer relationships and software technology. The
Company is amortizing the trade name and customer relationships over five years and the software technology over seven years. The weighted average amortization period for
the total amount of intangible assets acquired is 6.7 years.
Approximately 75% of the acquired intangible assets are expected to be deductible for income tax purposes over the periods prescribed by the IRC.
The Company’s definite-lived intangible assets, other than capitalized software development costs, are summarized as follows:

September 30, 2013
Customer
Relationships
Gross carrying amount

$

Accumulated amortization
Net intangible assets

25,956

Trade Name &
Contracts
$

3,368

(12,177)
$

13,779

Software
Technology
$

42,709

$

33,986

(1,295)
$

2,073

Total
$

(8,723)

72,033
(22,195)

$

49,838

March 31, 2013
Customer
Relationships
Gross carrying amount

$

Accumulated amortization
Net intangible assets

23,156

Trade Name &
Contracts
$

2,018

(10,028)
$

13,128

Software
Technology
$

(1,112)
$

906

20,509

Total
$

(6,993)
$

13,516

45,683
(18,133)

$

27,550

Activity related to the intangible assets for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 is summarized as follows:
Customer
Relationships
Balance as of April 1, 2013

$

Acquisition

$

2,800

Amortization (1)
Balance as of September 30, 2013

13,128

Trade Name &
Contracts

13,779

$

Acquisition

$

15,235

$

(330)
$

1,082

33,986

$

15,292

27,550
26,350
(4,062)

$

Software
Technology

1,250

(2,020)
$

162

Total
$

(1,730)
$

Trade Name &
Contracts

9,450

Amortization (1)
Balance as of September 30, 2012

7,805

2,073

13,516
22,200

(183)
$

Customer
Relationships
Balance as of April 1, 2012

$

1,350

(2,149)
$

906

Software
Technology

49,838
Total

$

23,259

1,150

11,850

(1,460)

(3,810)

14,982

$

31,299

_____________________________
(1) Amortization of the customer relationships and the trade name & contracts intangible assets is included in operating expenses and amortization of the software technology
intangible assets is included in cost of revenue for software and hardware.

The following table represents the remaining estimated amortization of definite-lived intangible assets as of September 30, 2013:
For the year ended March 31,
2014 (remaining six months)

$

5,668

2015

10,337

2016

10,000

2017

9,230

2018 and beyond

14,603

Total

$

49,838

6. Capitalized Software Costs
The Company’s capitalized software development costs are summarized as follows:
September 30,
2013
Gross carrying amount

$

Accumulated amortization
Net capitalized software costs

109,971

March 31, 2013
$

(60,198)
$

49,773

94,676
(54,895)

$

39,781

Activity related to net capitalized software costs for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 is summarized as follows:
2013
Balance as of April 1

$

39,781

2012
$

19,994

Capitalized

15,295

14,117

Amortization

(5,303)

(4,879)

Balance as of September 30

$

49,773

$

29,232

The following table presents the remaining estimated amortization of capitalized software costs as of September 30, 2013. The estimated amortization is comprised of (i)
amortization of released products and (ii) the expected amortization for products that are not yet available for sale based on their estimated economic lives and projected
general release dates.
For the year ended March 31,
2014 (remaining six months)

$

8,000

2015

16,000

2016

14,100

2017

9,300

2018 and beyond

2,373
$

Total

49,773

7. Composition of Certain Financial Statement Captions
Accounts receivable include amounts related to maintenance and services that were billed but not yet rendered at each period end. Undelivered maintenance and services are
included as a component of the deferred revenue balance on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
September 30,
2013
Accounts receivable, gross

$

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net

151,738

March 31,
2013
$

(12,212)
$

139,526

160,080
(11,823)

$

148,257

Inventories are summarized as follows:
September 30,
2013
Computer systems and components
Inventories

March 31,
2013

$

996

$

710

$

996

$

710

Equipment and improvements are summarized as follows:
September 30,
2013
Computer equipment

$

34,899

March 31,
2013
$

31,633

Furniture and fixtures

8,846

8,416

Leasehold improvements

8,868

7,125

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Equipment and improvements, net

$

52,613

47,174

(29,105)

(25,287)

23,508

$

21,887

Current and non-current deferred revenue are summarized as follows:
September 30,
2013
Maintenance

$

14,750

March 31,
2013
$

12,085

Implementation services

34,691

36,899

Annual license services

9,983

9,906

Undelivered software, subscriptions and other

7,219

6,317

Deferred revenue

$

66,643

$

65,207

Deferred revenue, net of current

$

1,362

$

1,219

Accrued compensation and related benefits are summarized as follows:
September 30,
2013
Payroll, bonus and commission

$

3,270

$

11,976

Vacation
Accrued compensation and related benefits

March 31,
2013
$

3,842

$

11,915

8,706

8,073

Other current and non-current liabilities are summarized as follows:
September 30,
2013
Contingent consideration and other liabilities related to acquisitions

$

11,333

March 31,
2013
$

8,426

Users group meeting deposits

3,963

—

Care services liabilities

3,498

5,488

Accrued EDI expense

3,014

1,452

Accrued Consulting

1,512

2,602

Accrued royalties

1,352

1,331

Self insurance reserve

1,321

1,336

Deferred rent

823

689

Sales tax payable

660

869

Accrued travel

456

384

Outside commission payable

315

461

Customer deposits
Other accrued expenses
Other current liabilities

Contingent consideration and other liabilities related to acquisitions

262

4,021

3,208

$

32,343

$

26,508

$

6,789

$

1,382

Deferred rent
Other liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

75

$

3,921

2,448

—

119

10,710

$

3,949

8. Income Tax
The provision for income taxes for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $5.5 million and $8.8 million, respectively. The effective tax rates
were 35.1% and 36.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The effective rate for the three months ended September 30, 2013 decreased as
compared to the same prior year period due to a net benefit from the federal research and development tax credit and an increase benefit in qualified production activities
deduction. The federal research and development tax credit statute expired on December 31, 2011, and in January 2013, was retroactively enacted through December 31, 2013.
The provision for income taxes for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $11.9 million and $16.6 million, respectively. The effective tax rates
were 33.9% and 34.8% for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The effective rate for the six months ended September 30, 2013 decreased as
compared to the same prior year period due to a net benefit from the federal research and development tax credit and an increase benefit in qualified production activities
deduction. The federal research and development tax credit statute expired on December 31, 2011, and in January 2013, was retroactively enacted through December 31, 2013.
Uncertain tax positions
As of September 30, 2013, the Company had recorded a liability of $1.2 million for unrecognized tax benefits related to various federal, state and local income tax matters. If
recognized, this amount would reduce the Company’s effective tax rate. The tax liability for the six months ended September 30, 2013 increased from the same prior year
period by $0.6 million due to additional local income tax contingent liability and certain tax positions related to acquired companies.
The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for tax years before 2012. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to state income
tax examinations for tax years before 2008. The Company does not anticipate that total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change due to the settlement of audits or the
expiration of statute of limitations within the next twelve months.
9. Earnings per Share
The Company provides presentation of “basic” and “diluted” earnings per share (“EPS”). Shares discussed below are in thousands.

Three Months Ended September 30,
2013
Net income

$

Six Months Ended September 30,

2012
10,121

$

2013
15,691

$

2012
23,066

$

31,188

Basic net income per share:
Weighted-average shares outstanding — Basic

59,734

59,347

59,647

59,314

Basic net income per common share

$

0.17

$

0.26

$

0.39

$

0.53

Net income

$

10,121

$

15,691

$

23,066

$

31,188

Diluted net income per share:
Weighted-average shares outstanding — Basic

59,734

Effect of potentially dilutive securities
Weighted-average shares outstanding — Diluted
Diluted net income per common share

$

59,347

59,647

59,314

17

39

16

72

59,751

59,386

59,663

59,386

0.17

$

0.26

$

0.39

$

0.53

The computation of diluted net income per share does not include 1,397 and 1,306 options to acquire shares of common stock for the three and six months ended
September 30, 2013, respectively, because their inclusion would have an anti-dilutive effect on net income per share.
The computation of diluted net income per share does not include 1,205 and 1,024 options to acquire shares of common stock for the three and six months ended
September 30, 2012, respectively, because their inclusion would have an anti-dilutive effect on net income per share.
10. Share-Based Awards
Employee Stock Option Plans
In September 1998, the Company’s shareholders approved a stock option plan (the “1998 Plan”) under which 8,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for the issuance
of options. The 1998 Plan provides that employees, directors and consultants of the Company may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors or a duly designated
compensation committee, be granted options to purchase shares of common stock. The exercise price of each option granted was determined by the Board of Directors at the
date of grant, and options under the 1998 Plan expire no later than 10 years from the grant date. Options granted will generally become exercisable in accordance with the
terms of the agreement pursuant to which they were granted. Certain option grants to directors became exercisable three months from the date of grant. Upon an acquisition of
the Company by merger or asset sale, each outstanding option may be subject to accelerated vesting under certain circumstances. The 1998 Plan terminated on December 31,
2007. As of September 30, 2013, there were 20,000 outstanding options related to the 1998 Plan.
In October 2005, the Company’s shareholders approved a stock option and incentive plan (the “2005 Plan”) under which 4,800,000 shares of common stock were reserved for
the issuance of awards, including stock options, incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, unrestricted stock, restricted
stock units, performance shares, performance units (including performance options) and other share-based awards. The 2005 Plan provides that employees, directors and
consultants of the Company may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors or a duly designated compensation committee, be granted awards to acquire shares of common
stock. The exercise price of each option award shall be determined by the Board of Directors at the date of grant in accordance with the terms of the 2005 Plan, and under the
2005 Plan awards expire no later than 10 years from the grant date. Options granted will generally become exercisable in accordance with the terms of the agreement pursuant
to which they were granted. Upon an acquisition of the Company by merger or asset sale, each outstanding option may be subject to accelerated vesting under certain
circumstances. The 2005 Plan terminates on May 25, 2015, unless terminated earlier by the Board of Directors. As of September 30, 2013, there were 1,397,409 outstanding
options and 2,617,727 shares available for future grant related to the 2005 Plan.

A summary of stock option transactions during the six months ended September 30, 2013 follows:
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
per Share

Number of
Shares
Outstanding, April 1, 2013

1,159,183

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

30.54

5.5

Granted

469,000

18.76

7.7

Exercised

(79,214)

19.38

0.1 $

Forfeited/Canceled

$

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

(131,560)

186

31.68

5.4

Outstanding, September 30, 2013

1,417,409

$

27.59

6.2 $

1,562

Vested and expected to vest, September 30, 2013

1,329,729

$

27.68

6.2 $

1,435

364,669

$

31.46

4.5 $

33

Exercisable, September 30, 2013

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes valuation model for estimating the fair value of share-based compensation with the following assumptions:
Six Months
Ended September
30, 2013
Expected life

Six Months
Ended September
30, 2012

4.9 years

5.0 years

Expected volatility

43.4% - 43.7%

41.3% - 45.0%

Expected dividends

3.1% - 3.9%

2.4% - 3.8%

Risk-free rate

1.0% - 1.5%

0.7% - 0.8%

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $5.19 and $8.41 per share, respectively.
The Company issues new shares to satisfy option exercises. Based on historical experience of option cancellations, the Company has estimated an annualized forfeiture rate of
8.3% and 5.8% for employee options for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and 0.0% for director options for the six months ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012. Forfeiture rates are adjusted over the requisite service period when actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from the estimate.
During the six months ended September 30, 2013, a total of 469,000 options to purchase shares of common stock were granted under the 2005 Plan at an exercise price equal
to the market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. A summary of stock options granted under the 2005 Plan during fiscal years 2014 and 2013 is as
follows:
Number of
Option Grant Date
August 15, 2013

Vesting

Shares

Exercise Price

Terms (1)

Expires

85,000

$

20.85

Five years

August 15, 2021

July 30, 2013

28,000

$

22.59

Five years

July 30, 2021

May 29, 2013

356,000

$

17.95

Five years

May 29, 2021

40,000

$

19.00

Five years

January 23, 2021

5,000

$

17.68

Five years

November 5, 2020

Fiscal year 2014 option grants
January 23, 2013
November 5, 2012
September 25, 2012

469,000

20,000

$

18.42

Five years

September 25, 2020

346,000

$

29.17

Five years

May 24, 2020

May 24, 2012

30,000

$

29.17

Four years

May 24, 2020

May 23, 2012

115,500

$

29.45

Five years

May 23, 2020

May 24, 2012

Fiscal year 2013 option grants

556,500

__________________________________
(1) Options vest in equal annual installments on each grant anniversary date commencing one year following the date of grant.

Performance-Based Awards
On May 22, 2013, the Board of Directors approved its fiscal year 2014 equity incentive program for certain employees to be awarded options to purchase the Company’s
common stock. The maximum number of options available under the equity incentive program plan is 600,000, of which 210,000 are reserved for the Company’s named
executive officers and 390,000 for non-executive employees of the Company. Under the program, executive officers are eligible to receive cash bonuses and options based on
meeting certain target increases in revenue, EPS and operating income growth for fiscal year 2014. Under the program, non-executive employees are eligible to receive options
based on meeting certain target increases in revenue and EPS growth for fiscal year 2014 and the recommendations of senior management. The options shall be issued pursuant
to the 2005 Plan, have an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, a term of eight years and vesting in five equal annual
installments commencing one year following the date of grant.
Compensation expense associated with the performance based awards under the Company’s equity incentive plans are initially based on the number of options expected to vest
after assessing the probability that certain performance criteria will be met. Cumulative adjustments are recorded quarterly to reflect subsequent changes in the estimated
outcome of performance-related conditions. The Company utilized the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the assumptions below to calculate stock compensation
expense related to the performance based awards. Stock compensation expense recorded for these awards was not significant for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and
2012, respectively.
Six Months
Ended September
30, 2013
Expected life

Six Months
Ended September
30, 2012

4.9 years

5.0 years

Expected volatility

41.0% - 43.5%

41.7% - 45.0%

Expected dividends

3.2% - 3.7%

2.5% - 3.8%

1.4%

0.6% - 0.7%

Risk-free rate

Non-vested stock option award activity, including employee stock options and performance-based awards, during the six months ended September 30, 2013 is summarized as
follows:
WeightedAverage
Grant-Date
Fair Value
per Share

Non-Vested
Number of
Shares
Outstanding, April 1, 2013

804,340

$

9.89

Granted

469,000

5.19

Vested

(89,040)

10.08

(131,560)

9.84

Forfeited/Canceled
Outstanding, September 30, 2013

1,052,740

$

7.77

As of September 30, 2013, $6,511 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to stock options is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.8 years.
This amount does not include the cost of new options that may be granted in future periods or any changes in the Company’s forfeiture percentage. The total fair value of
options vested during the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $897 and $1,270, respectively.
Restricted Stock
On May 22, 2013, the Board of Directors approved its 2014 Director Compensation Program, pursuant to which each non-employee director is to be awarded shares of
restricted stock upon election or re-election to the Board of Directors. Additionally, as part of the 2014 equity incentive program, each executive officer received, as a
component of his or her base salary, a grant of restricted stock. The shares of restricted stock are awarded under the 2005 Plan. Such shares of restricted stock vest in two equal,
annual installments on the first and second anniversaries of the grant date and are nontransferable for one year following vesting. The weighted-average grant date fair value
for the restricted stock was estimated using the market price of the common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of the restricted stock is amortized on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period.

The Company recorded compensation expense related to restricted stock of approximately $289 and $324 for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Restricted stock activity for the six months ended September 30, 2013 is summarized as follows:
WeightedAverage
Grant-Date
Fair Value
per Share

Number of
Shares
Outstanding, April 1, 2013

30,385

$

27.09

Granted

57,324

20.75

Vested

(15,635)

30.38

(3,000)

24.81

Canceled
Outstanding, September 30, 2013

69,074

$

20.93

As of September 30, 2013, $1,294 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to restricted stock is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8
years. This amount does not include the cost of new restricted stock that may be granted in future periods.
11. Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company had cash deposits at U.S. banks and financial institutions which exceeded federally insured limits at September 30, 2013. The Company is exposed to credit loss
for amounts in excess of insured limits in the event of non-performance by the institutions; however, the Company does not anticipate non-performance by these institutions.
12. Commitments, Guarantees and Contingencies
Commitments and Guarantees
The Company's software license agreements include a performance guarantee that the Company's software products will substantially operate as described in the applicable
program documentation for a period of 365 days after delivery. To date, the Company has not incurred any significant costs associated with its performance guarantee or other
related warranties and does not expect to incur significant warranty costs in the future. Therefore, no accrual has been made for potential costs associated with these warranties.
Certain arrangements also include performance guarantees related to response time, availability for operational use, and other performance-related guarantees. Certain
arrangements also include penalties in the form of maintenance credits should the performance of the software fail to meet the performance guarantees. To date, the Company
has not incurred any significant costs associated with these warranties and does not expect to incur significant warranty costs in the future. Therefore, no accrual has been made
for potential costs associated with these warranties.
The Company has historically offered short-term rights of return in certain sales arrangements. If the Company is able to estimate returns for these types of arrangements and
all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met, revenue is recognized and these arrangements are recorded in the consolidated financial statements. If the Company is
unable to estimate returns for these types of arrangements, revenue is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements until the rights of return expire, provided also, that
all other criteria of revenue recognition have been met.
Certain standard sales agreements contain a money back guarantee providing for a performance guarantee that is already part of the software license agreement as well as
training and support. The money back guarantee also warrants that the software will remain robust and flexible to allow participation in the federal health incentive programs.
The specific elements of the performance guarantee pertain to aspects of the software, which the Company has already tested and confirmed to consistently meet using the
Company's existing software without any modifications or enhancements. To date, the Company has not incurred any costs associated with this guarantee and does not expect
to incur significant costs in the future. Therefore, no accrual has been made for potential costs associated with this guarantee.
The Company's standard sales agreements contain an indemnification provision pursuant to which it shall indemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the indemnified party for
losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party in connection with any United States patent, any copyright or other intellectual property infringement claim by any thirdparty with respect to its software. As the Company has not incurred any significant costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements, the
Company believes that its estimated exposure on these agreements is currently minimal. Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recorded for these indemnification
obligations.
Hussein Litigation
On October 7, 2013, a complaint was filed against the Company and certain of the Company’s officers and directors in the Superior Court of the State of California for the
County of Orange, captioned Ahmed D. Hussein v. Sheldon Razin, Steven Plochocki, Quality Systems, Inc. and Does 1-10, inclusive, No. 30-2013-00679600-CU-NP-CJC, by
Ahmed Hussein, a former director and significant shareholder of the Company. The complaint generally alleges fraud and deceit, constructive fraud, negligent
misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary duty in connection with statements made to the Company’s shareholders regarding the Company’s financial condition and projected
future performance. The complaint

seeks actual damages, exemplary and punitive damages and costs. The Company believes that plaintiff’s claims are without merit and intends to defend against them
vigorously.

13. Operating Segment Information
The Company has four reportable segments that are evaluated regularly by its chief decision making group (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Operating Officer) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
Operating segment data is as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2013

Six Months Ended September 30,

2012

2013

2012

Revenue:
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated revenue

4,904

$

84,701

4,846

$

10,055

$

9,800

87,328

166,236

173,521

4,734

8,172

10,201

19,536

16,742

15,782

34,118

31,567

$

111,081

$

116,128

$

220,610

$

234,424

$

1,254

$

679

$

2,209

$

1,148

Operating income (loss):
QSI Dental Division
NextGen Division

30,418

33,897

59,986

62,737

Hospital Solutions Division

(4,237)

(1,165)

(6,831)

1,182

2,686

1,789

5,526

3,642

RCM Services Division
Unallocated corporate expense
Consolidated operating income

(14,175)
$

15,946

(10,856)
$

24,344

(25,391)
$

35,499

(20,858)
$

47,851

Management evaluates performance based upon stand-alone segment operating income. Because assets by segment are not reported to or used by the Company’s chief decision
making group to allocate resources to, or to assess performance, total assets by segment are not disclosed.
Effective April 1, 2013, the Company reorganized certain overhead related departments to unallocated corporate expense from the operating segments in an effort to centralize
shared services functions and to be consistent with the basis in which the decision making group disaggregates financial information. The Company concluded the impact of
the reorganization to prior year operating income was not material to the operating segments or unallocated corporate expense and are therefore not restated.
14. Subsequent Events
On October 23, 2013, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.175 per share on the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock, payable to
shareholders of record as of December 13, 2013 with an expected distribution date on or about January 3, 2014.

ITEM 2.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and certain information incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements within the “safe harbor” provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements included or incorporated by reference in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, other than statements that are
purely historical, are forward-looking statements. Words such as “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “estimate,” “will,” “should,” “would,” “could,”
“may,” and similar expressions also identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, discussions of our product
development plans, business strategies, future operations, financial condition and prospects, developments in and the impacts of government regulation and legislation,
including, without limitation, The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act ("ARRA") and The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, and market factors influencing
our results. Our expectations, beliefs, objectives, intentions and strategies regarding our future results are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and
uncertainties, both foreseen and unforeseen, that could cause actual results to differ materially from results contemplated in our forward-looking statements. These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, our ability to continue to develop new products and increase systems sales in markets characterized by rapid technological
evolution, consolidation, and competition from larger, better-capitalized competitors. Many other economic, competitive, governmental and technological factors could affect
our ability to achieve our goals, and interested persons are urged to review any risks that may be described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” as set forth herein and other risk factors
appearing in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 (“Annual Report”), as supplemented by additional risk factors, if any, in
our interim filings on our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as in our other public disclosures and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").
Because of these risk factors, as well as other variables affecting our financial condition and results of operations, past financial performance may not be a reliable indicator of
future performance and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods. We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
This management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations ("MD&A") is provided as a supplement to the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q in order to enhance your understanding of our results of operations and financial condition and should
be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. Historical results of operations, percentage margin fluctuations and any trends that may be inferred from the discussion below are not necessarily indicative of the
operating results for any future period.
Our MD&A is organized as follows:
•

Management Overview. This section provides a general description of our Company and operating segments, a discussion as to how we derive our revenue,
background information on certain trends and developments affecting our Company, a summary of our acquisition transactions and a discussion on
management’s strategy for driving revenue growth.

•

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates. This section discusses those accounting policies that are considered important to the evaluation and reporting of our
financial condition and results of operations, and whose application requires us to exercise subjective or complex judgments in making estimates and
assumptions. In addition, all of our significant accounting policies, including our critical accounting policies, are summarized in Note 1, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” of our notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

•

Company Overview. This section provides a more detailed description of our Company, its operating segments, and the products and services we offer.

•

Overview of Results of Operations and Results of Operations by Operating Divisions. These sections provide our analysis and outlook for the significant line items
on our consolidated statements of income, as well as other information that we deem meaningful to understand our results of operations on both a consolidated
basis and an operating division basis.

•

Liquidity and Capital Resources. This section provides an analysis of our liquidity and cash flows.

•

New Accounting Pronouncements. This section provides a summary of the most recent authoritative accounting standards and guidance that have either been recently
adopted by our Company or may be adopted in the future.

Management Overview
Quality Systems, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries operate as four business divisions (each, a "Division") which are comprised of: (i) the QSI Dental Division, (ii) the
NextGen Division, (iii) the Hospital Solutions Division (formerly Inpatient Solutions) and (iv) the RCM Services Division (formerly Practice Solutions). In fiscal year 2011,
we opened a captive entity in India called Quality Systems India Healthcare Private Limited (“QSIH”). We primarily derive revenue by developing and marketing healthcare
information systems that automate certain aspects of medical and dental practices, networks of practices such as physician hospital organizations (“PHOs”) and management
service organizations (“MSOs”), ambulatory care centers, community health centers and medical and dental schools along with comprehensive systems implementation,
maintenance and support and add on complementary services such as revenue cycle management (“RCM”) and electronic data interchange (“EDI”). Our systems and services
provide our clients with the ability to redesign patient care and other workflow processes while improving productivity through the facilitation of managed access to patient
information. Utilizing our proprietary software in combination with third-party hardware and software solutions, our products enable the integration of a variety of
administrative and clinical information operations.
The turbulence in the worldwide economy has impacted almost all industries. While healthcare is not immune to economic cycles, we believe it is more heavily influenced by
US-based regulatory and national health projects than by the economic cycles of our economy. The impact of the current economic conditions on our existing and prospective
clients has been mixed. While we continue to see organizations that are doing fairly well operationally, some organizations, especially those with a large dependency on
Medicaid populations, have been impacted by the challenging financial conditions faced by many state governments. Various factors have had, and are anticipated to continue
to have, a meaningful impact on the U.S. healthcare industry, including the Obama Administration's broad healthcare reform efforts (particularly the HITECH portion of the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act), the individual state responses to the government-requested Medicaid
expansion to address new insureds, and the increasing focus of private businesses on moving their employee health benefit offerings to a more wellness-based health platform.
We have benefited and hope to continue to benefit from the increased demands on healthcare providers for greater efficiency and lower costs, financial incentives from the
ARRA to physicians who adopt electronic health records, as well as increased adoption rates for electronic health records and other technology in the healthcare arena. We also
believe that healthcare reform and the movement towards pay for performance/quality initiatives will also stimulate demand for robust electronic health record solutions as
well as new health information technology solutions from bundled billing capabilities to patient engagement and population health management.
While we expect to benefit from the increasing demands for greater efficiency as well as government support for increased adoption of electronic health records, the market for
physician based electronic health records software is becoming increasingly saturated while physician group practices are rapidly being consolidated by hospital, insurance
payers and other entities. Hospital software providers are leveraging their position with their hospital customers to gain market share with hospital owned physician practices.
Insurance providers and large physician groups are also consolidating physician offices creating additional opportunity for ambulatory software providers such as NextGen.
Our strategy is to focus addressing upcoming needs of accountable care organizations around interoperability, patient engagements, population health, and data analytics.
In September 2013, we acquired Mirth Corporation ("Mirth"), an industry leader within the Health Information Exchange (“HIE") market with technologies and services
delivering vendor agnostic interoperability capability to the Healthcare Community. This acquisition also provides expanded capabilities around population health management
and data analytics, which will be used as a foundation to continue enhancing our existing products as well as developing new product and service offerings for accountable care
organizations
We believe that our core strength lies in the central role our software products and services play in the delivery of healthcare by the primary physician in an ambulatory setting.
We intend to remain at the forefront of upcoming new regulatory requirements including ICD-10 and meaningful use requirements for stimulus payments. We believe that the
expanded requirements for continued eligibility for incentive payments under meaningful use rules will result in an expanded replacement market for electronic health records
software. We intend to continue the development and enhancement of our software solutions to support healthcare reform and the transition from fee for service to pay for
performance/quality initiatives such as accountable care organizations. Key elements of our future software development will be to expand our interoperability capabilities to
enhance the competitiveness of our software offerings, continue to integrate our ambulatory and inpatient products, making our products more intuitive and easy to use, and to
enhance our ability to deliver our software over the cloud with the latest technology.
We also want to continue investments in our infrastructure, including but not limited to adding new clients through maintaining and expanding sales, marketing and product
development activities and expanding our relationship with existing clients through delivery of add-on and complementary products and services while continuing our goldstandard commitment of service in support of our client satisfaction programs. These investments in our infrastructure will continue while maintaining reasonable expense
discipline. We believe that our growing customer base that is using our software on a daily basis is a strategic asset, and we intend to expand our product and service offerings
towards this customer base in order to leverage this strategic asset.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial statements and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going
basis, we evaluate estimates (including but not limited to those related to revenue recognition, uncollectible accounts receivable, capitalizable software development costs,
intangible assets and self-insurance accruals) for reasonableness. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that management believes to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that may not be readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our
Annual Report. We discuss our critical accounting policies and estimates in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” of our Annual Report. There have been no material changes in our significant accounting policies or critical accounting policies and estimates since the end of
fiscal year 2013.
Company Overview
Quality Systems, Inc. was incorporated in California in 1974. Our principal offices are located at 18111 Von Karman Ave., Suite 700, Irvine, California, 92612. We operate on
a fiscal year ending on March 31.
The Company was founded with an early focus on providing information systems to dental group practices. This focus area would later become the QSI Dental Division. In the
mid-1980s, we capitalized on the increasing focus on medical cost containment and further expanded our information processing systems to serve the ambulatory market. In
the mid-1990s, we made two acquisitions that accelerated our penetration of the ambulatory market and formed the basis for the NextGen Division. In the last few years, we
acquired several companies, which operate under the Hospital Solutions Division, as part of our strategy to expand into the small and specialty hospital market. More recently,
we acquired Mirth, which operates under the NextGen Division, and is expected to enhance our current enterprise interoperability initiatives and broaden its accountable and
collaborative care, population health, disease management and clinical data exchange offerings. Today, we serve the dental, ambulatory, hospital and RCM services markets
through our QSI Dental Division, NextGen Division, Hospital Solutions Division and RCM Services Division.
The Divisions have historically operated as stand-alone operations, with each Division maintaining its own distinct product lines, product platforms, development,
implementation and support teams and branding. However, there are a growing number of customers who are simultaneously utilizing software or services from more than one
of our Divisions. In an effort to encourage this cross selling of our products and services between Divisions, we are in the process of further integrating our ambulatory and
inpatient products to provide a more robust and comprehensive platform to offer our customers. The Divisions also share the resources of our “corporate office,” which
includes a variety of accounting and other administrative functions.
In September 2012, we announced certain organizational changes to achieve greater efficiency and integration in our operations as well as to enhance our ability to cross sell
products and services to our customers. The changes consolidated Sales, Marketing, Information Technology, and Software Development responsibilities into separate
Company-wide roles. We also announced the hiring of a Chief Operating Officer, reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer, responsible for the operations of the
Company across all Divisions. We are continuing to evaluate the organizational structure of the Company with the objective to achieve greater synergies and further integration
of our products and services.
The QSI Dental Division, NextGen Division and Hospital Solutions Division develop and market software that is designed to automate and streamline a number of the
administrative functions required for operating a medical, dental, or hospital practice, such as patient scheduling and billing. It is important to note that since in both the
medical and dental environments, practice management software systems have already been implemented by the vast majority of practices, we actively compete for the
replacement market. These Divisions also develop and market software that automates patient records in physician practices, community health centers (CHCs) and hospital
settings. In this patient records area of our business, we are typically competing to replace paper-based patient record alternatives as opposed to replacing previously purchased
systems. The Hospital Solutions Division develops and markets financial management and billing software products, which perform administrative functions required for
operating small and specialty hospitals as well as clinical offerings such as multi-disciplinary clinical documentation and computerized physician order entry (CPOE). The
RCM Services Division provides technology solutions and outsourcing services to cover the full spectrum of healthcare providers' RCM needs, with a primary focus on
outsourced billing and collection services.
In January 2011, QSIH was formed in Bangalore, India to function as our India-based captive to offshore technology application development and business processing
services.
We continue to pursue product and service enhancement initiatives within each of our Divisions. The majority of such expenditures are currently targeted to the NextGen and
Hospital Solutions Division product lines and client bases.

The following table reflects our reported segment revenue and segment revenue growth by Division for the three and six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Segment Revenue Breakdown
Three Months Ended September 30,
2013
QSI Dental Division
NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

Six Months Ended September 30,

2012

2013

2012

4.4%

4.2%

4.6%

4.2%

76.2%

75.2%

75.3%

74.0%

4.3%

7.0%

4.6%

8.3%

15.1%

13.6%

15.5%

13.5%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Segment Revenue Growth
Three Months Ended September 30,
2013
QSI Dental Division
NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

Six Months Ended September 30,

2012

2013

2012

1.2 %

7.4 %

2.6 %

2.0%

(3.0)%

5.9 %

(4.2)%

10.4%

(42.1)%

(3.3)%

(47.8)%

24.1%

6.1 %

29.6 %

8.1 %

23.3%

(4.3)%

7.9 %

(5.9)%

12.7%

QSI Dental Division. The QSI Dental Division, co-located with our corporate headquarters in Irvine, California, focuses on developing, marketing and supporting software
suites sold to dental group organizations located throughout the United States. The QSI Dental Division sells additional licenses to its legacy products as existing clients
expand their operations, and sells its Web-based SaaS model practice management and clinical software solutions to new customers. This software solution, QSIDental™ Web,
is marketed primarily to multi-location dental group practices in which the QSI Dental Division has historically been a dominant player. Further, QSI Dental sells its Electronic
Dental Chart in conjunction with NextGen PM ("Practice Management") and EHR ("Electronic Health Record") and is marketed as NextGen EDR (“Electronic Dental
Record”) to Federally Qualified Health Centers (“FQHC”) and other safety net entities further defined below.
The QSI Dental Division participates jointly with the NextGen Division in providing software and services to safety-net clinics like FQHCs and other “safety net” health
centers, including Public Health Centers, Community Health Centers, Free Clinics, as well as Rural and Tribal Health Centers. FQHCs are community-based organizations and
are funded by the federal government, which provide medical and dental services to underprivileged and underserved communities. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care
Act, which was signed into law in March 2010, reserved $11 billion over a multi-year period for FQHCs, creating unprecedented opportunities for FQHCs growth and the
formation of new FQHCs. When combined and used in tandem, NextGen EHR, NextGen EDR, and NextGen Practice Management provides a unique product in this
marketplace - an integrated patient record accessible by both physicians and dentists. On May 3, 2013, NextGen EDR version 4.3 was ONC-ATCB certified by the
Certification Commission for Health Information (CCHIT®) as a complete EHR and complies with all clinical quality measures for Eligible Providers. The additional software
NextGen EDR version 4.3 relied on to demonstrate compliance was NextGen EHR version 5.8.
The QSI Dental Division's legacy practice management software suite uses a UNIX® operating system. It's Clinical Product Suite (“CPS”) can be fully integrated with the
client server-based practice management software offered from each of our Divisions. When integrated and delivered with the NextGen Practice Management solution, CPS is
re-branded as NextGen EDR. CPS/EDR incorporates a wide range of clinical tools including, but not limited to, periodontal charting and digital imaging of X-ray and interoral camera images as part of the electronic patient record. The QSI Dental Division also develops, markets, and provides EDI services to dental practices, including electronic
submission of claims to insurance providers as well as automated patient statements.
NextGen Division. The NextGen Division, with headquarters in Horsham, Pennsylvania and a significant location in Atlanta, Georgia, provides integrated clinical, financial
and connectivity solutions for ambulatory and dental provider organizations. The NextGen Division's major product categories include the NextGen Ambulatory product suite
and NextGen Community Connectivity.
The NextGen Ambulatory product suite streamlines patient care with standardized, real-time clinical and administrative workflows within a physician’s practice, and major
product categories include NextGen EHR, NextGen PM, NextGen Dashboard, NextGen Mobile, and NextGen NextPen. NextGen Community Connectivity consists of
NextGen Health Information Exchange (“NextGen HIE,” formerly Community Health Solution), NextGen Patient Portal (“NextMD.com”), and NextGen Health Quality
Measures (“NextGen HQM”). The NextGen Division also

offers hosting services, NextGuard – Data Protection services, and consulting services, such as strategic governance models and operational transformation, technical
consulting such as data conversions or interface development. The NextGen Division products utilize Microsoft Windows technology and can operate in a client-server
environment as well as via private intranet, the Internet, or in an ASP environment. The NextGen Division also provides EDI services, which include electronic submission of
claims to insurance providers as well as automated patient statements.
On September 9, 2013, we acquired Mirth, a global leader in health information technology that helps clients achieve interoperability. Operating results associated with Mirth
products and services are included in the NextGen Division.
Hospital Solutions Division. The Hospital Solutions Division, with its primary location in Austin, Texas, provides integrated clinical, financial and connectivity solutions for
rural, community and specialty hospitals. This Hospital Solutions Division also develops and markets an equivalent revenue cycle management and clinical information
systems software products for the small and specialty hospital market, which perform the administrative functions required for operating hospitals.
In the last few years, we have acquired companies that were established developers of software and services for the inpatient market to operate under the Hospital Solutions
Division. On May 1, 2012, we acquired The Poseidon Group ("Poseidon"), a provider of emergency department software. On July 26, 2011, we acquired CQI Solutions, Inc.
("CQI"), a provider of hospital systems for surgery management. On April 29, 2011, we acquired IntraNexus, Inc. ("IntraNexus"), a provider of Web-based integrated clinical
and hospital information systems. On February 10, 2010, we acquired Opus Healthcare Solutions, LLC ("Opus"), a provider of Web-based clinical solutions to hospital systems
and integrated health networks nationwide and on August 12, 2009 we acquired Sphere Health Systems, Inc. ("Sphere"), a provider of financial information systems to the
small hospital inpatient market. These acquisitions are part of our strategy to continue to expand in the small and specialty hospital market and to add new clients by taking
advantage of cross selling opportunities between the ambulatory and inpatient markets.
RCM Services Division. The RCM Services Division, with locations in St. Louis, Missouri, North Canton, Ohio, South Jordan, Utah and Hunt Valley, Maryland, provides
technology solutions and consulting services to cover the full spectrum of healthcare providers' RCM needs, from patient access through claims denials, with a primary focus
on billing and collection services. The RCM Services Division combines a Web-delivered SaaS model and the NextGen PM software platform to execute its service offerings.
Execution of the plan to transition our client base onto the NextGen platform is being implemented. On April 15, 2012, we acquired Matrix Management Solutions, LLC
(“Matrix”). Since 1998, North Canton, Ohio-based Matrix, a value-added reseller for NextGen Healthcare, has provided RCM services, healthcare information technology
solutions and training, implementation and support centered on NextGen technology, to its clients nationwide. The acquisition has enabled our RCM Services Division to
expand its footprint among private and hospital-based physicians and groups by leveraging Matrix's RCM expertise.
Overview of Our Results

•

Consolidated revenue decreased 5.9% in the six months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the prior year period. The decrease reflects a 34.5% decline in system
sales revenue, mitigated by 6.3% growth in recurring services revenue (i.e. maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services revenues).

•

Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased to 56.6% for the six months ended September 30, 2013 compared to 59.6% in the prior year period. The
decline was attributable to a shift in the mix of revenue towards recurring services and a decline in the profit margin on system sales revenue due to a higher proportion of
lower-margin implementation services. For the six months ended September 30, 2013, recurring services revenue comprised 79.2% of consolidated revenue, as compared
to 70.1% in the prior year period.

•

Consolidated operating income decreased 25.8% in the six months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the prior year period primarily due to a 10.6% decrease in
consolidated gross profit mitigated by a 2.7% reduction in total operating expenses.

QSI Dental Division

•

QSI Dental Division revenue increased 2.6% in the six months ended September 30, 2013. Divisional operating income (excluding unallocated corporate expenses) was
$2.2 million in the six months ended September 30, 2013, an increase of 92.4% as compared to the same prior year period. The increase in operating income was primarily
the result of a $0.9 million reduction in selling, general and administrative expenses due to various cost saving initiatives in the current period. It should be noted that the
QSI Dental Division's new software solution (“QSIDental Web”) is being sold as a SaaS solution for which revenue is recognized over a longer period of time rather than
upfront. Revenue recognized from QSIDental Web was not significant in the six months ended September 30, 2013.

•

The QSI Dental Division is well-positioned to sell to the FQHCs market and intends to continue leveraging the NextGen Division's sales force to sell its dental electronic
medical records software to practices that provide both medical and dental services, such as FQHCs, which are receiving grants as part of the ARRA.

•

Our goal for the QSI Dental Division is to maximize profit performance given the constraints represented by a relatively weak purchasing environment in the dental group
practice market while taking advantage of opportunities with the new QSIDental Web product.

NextGen Division

•

NextGen Division revenue decreased 4.2% in the six months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to the same prior year period. This variance reflects a 30.3% decline
in system sales revenue, mitigated by 8.8% growth in recurring service revenue, including an increase of 6.4% in maintenance and 16.9% in EDI revenue.

•

NextGen Division operating income (excluding unallocated corporate expenses) decreased by 4.4% in the six months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to the same
prior year period. The decrease in operating income is primarily the result of a decrease in total revenue, partially offset by an 8.4% reduction in total operating expenses,
primarily due to various cost saving initiatives and a higher amount of capitalizable labor costs in the current period.

•

Our acquisition of Mirth on September 9, 2013 did not significantly impact the NextGen Division results for the current period.

•

Our goals include taking maximum advantage of benefits related to the ARRA and continuing to further enhance our existing products, including continued efforts to
maintain our status as a qualified vendor under the ARRA, expanding our software and service offerings supporting pay-for-performance initiatives around accountable
care organizations, bringing greater ease of use and intuitiveness to our software products, expanding our interoperability capabilities, integrating our inpatient and
ambulatory software products and further development and enhancements of our portfolio of specialty focused templates within our EHR software. We intend to remain at
the forefront of upcoming new regulatory requirements, including ICD-10 and meaningful use requirements for stimulus payments. We believe that the expanded
requirements for continued eligibility for incentive payments under meaningful use rules will result in an expanded replacement market for electronic health records
software. We also intend to continue selling additional software and services to existing clients, expanding penetration of connectivity and other services to new and
existing clients, and capitalizing on growth and cross selling opportunities within the RCM Services Division and the Hospital Solutions Division.

•

We anticipate achieving general release of our next significant versions of our ambulatory software products in the quarter ending December 31, 2013. We expect these
release(s) will result in significantly higher rates of amortization related to previously capitalized software development costs than have been reflected in our recent
historical operating results. Refer to Note 6, “Capitalized Software Costs” of our notes to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for an estimate of future amortization of capitalized software costs as of September 30, 2013.

•

The NextGen Division’s growth is attributed to a strong brand name and reputation within a growing marketplace for electronic health records and investments in sales
and marketing activities, including new marketing campaigns, trade show attendance and other expanded advertising and marketing expenditures. We have also recently
expanded our relationship with certain value added resellers with significant resources both domestically and internationally.

Hospital Solutions Division
•

Hospital Solutions Division revenue decreased 47.8% in the six months ended September 30, 2013. Revenue was negatively impacted by a 67.5% decline in system sales,
as well as lower maintenance revenue and higher accruals for anticipated sales credits. The decline in maintenance revenue relates to a scheduled run-off related to a
specific legacy customer from one of the acquired entities of the division.

•

Divisional operating loss (excluding unallocated corporate expenses) was $(6.8) million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to $1.2 million in
divisional operating income for the same prior year period. Operating income was negatively impacted by significantly lower revenue during the period, partially offset by
a decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses.

•

The Hospital Solutions Division is expected to benefit from being able to offer both financial and CCHIT® certified clinical software that have been packaged together,
from the certification of the division's NextGen® Inpatient Clinicals software for stage two of meaningful use in May 2013, and from cross sell opportunities with existing
NextGen Division customers, including hospitals that are owned or affiliated with physician offices.

•

The Hospital Solutions Division has incurred losses in the last several quarters and is expected to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future while we continue to
invest in implementation and training, support, and development to support our growing customer base and maximize customer satisfaction. We believe that we will be
able to generate operational improvements and efficiencies in our implementation of new customers and that there continues to be meaningful opportunity in the Hospital
Solutions Division market in spite of the recent losses which we have incurred. Though we have confidence in our assumptions and the future performance of the Hospital
Solutions Division, if the division fails to achieve sustained future revenue growth and improved operating margins, the fair value of the reporting unit could be negatively
impacted, resulting in an impairment of goodwill and/or other intangible assets.

RCM Services Division
•

RCM Services Division revenue increased 8.1% in the six months ended September 30, 2013. The RCM Services Division benefited from organic growth achieved
through cross selling RCM services to existing NextGen Division clients and well as new clients added during the six months ended September 30, 2013.

•

Operating income as a percentage of revenue increased to approximately 16.2% of revenue in the six months ended September 30, 2013 versus 11.5% of revenue in the
same prior year period primarily as a result of an increase in the RCM Services Division's revenue and gross profit compared to the prior year period.

•

The Company believes that a significant opportunity exists to continue cross selling RCM services to existing NextGen Division customers. The portion of existing
NextGen Division customers who are using the RCM Services Division's services is less than 10%. We also believe that the increased complexity related to the billing and
collections process, which goes into effect with ICD-10 in October of 2014, will create additional opportunities for our RCM Services Division.

•

There is also a significant opportunity to expand the RCM Services Division's services into the Hospital Solution and Dental Division's customers as well. Management is
actively pursuing efforts to achieve faster growth from expanded efforts to leverage the existing NextGen Division's sales force towards selling RCM services.

•

Actual and expected customer turnover may impact short term revenue for the division. However, we are encouraged by increased sales activity and a growing sales
pipeline of RCM services.

Corporate Expenses (costs unallocated to the operating segments)
As a result of the Mirth acquisition, we anticipate an increase in certain expenses compared to our recent historical operating results, specifically:
•

Amortization of of acquired intangible assets. Refer to Note 5, “Intangibles Assets” of our notes to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for remaining estimated amortization of definite-lived intangible assets as of September 30, 2013.

•

Acquisition related expenses (including fair value adjustments). The preliminary purchase accounting valuation of the Mirth acquisition resulted in a discount of $5.2
million related to share-based purchase consideration. Such discount is currently expected to be amortized over a three year period ending September 2016. This
amortization will be reflected as a component of our selling, general and administrative operating expenses.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of net revenue represented by each item in our consolidated statements of income (certain percentages
below may not sum due to rounding):

Three Months Ended September 30,
(Unaudited)

2013

Six Months Ended September 30,

2012

2013

2012

Revenues:
Software and hardware
Implementation and training services

14.0%

20.4%

14.3%

21.1%

7.0

7.3

6.5

8.8

21.0

27.8

20.8

29.9

Maintenance

36.3

33.3

35.8

33.0

Electronic data interchange services

14.9

12.9

15.1

12.3

Revenue cycle management and related services

13.9

12.5

14.3

12.3

Other services

13.9

13.5

14.1

12.5

79.0

72.2

79.2

70.1

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

4.3

4.8

4.4

4.9

System sales

Maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services
Total revenues
Cost of revenue:
Software and hardware
Implementation and training services

6.3

6.5

6.4

7.1

10.6

11.3

10.8

12.0

Maintenance

4.7

4.1

4.8

4.1

Electronic data interchange services

9.6

7.9

9.7

7.8

Revenue cycle management and related services

9.9

9.1

10.2

9.1

Total cost of system sales

Other services

8.1

7.6

7.9

7.4

Total cost of maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services

32.3

28.7

32.6

28.4

Total cost of revenue

42.9

39.9

43.4

40.4

Gross profit

57.1

60.1

56.6

59.6

34.7

32.6

33.4

31.8

6.9

5.4

6.0

6.3

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development costs
Amortization of acquired intangible assets
Total operating expenses

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

42.7

39.1

40.5

39.1

Income from operations

14.4

21.0

16.1

20.4

Interest income (expense), net

(0.2)

(0.1)

(0.1)

0.0

Other income (expense), net

(0.1)

0.2

(0.2)

0.0

Income before provision for income taxes

14.1

21.1

15.8

20.4

4.9

7.6

5.4

7.1

13.5%

10.4%

13.3%

Provision for income taxes
Net income

9.2%

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012
Net Income. Our net income for the three months ended September 30, 2013 was $10.1 million, or $0.17 per share, on both a basic and fully diluted basis. In comparison, we
earned $15.7 million, or $0.26 per share, on both a basic and fully diluted basis for the three months ended September 30, 2012. The change in net income for the three months
ended September 30, 2013 was primarily attributed to the following:
•
•

•

a 39.2% decline in consolidated system sales revenue related to a number of factors, including higher adoption rates by large physician groups resulting in a lower
number of new opportunities, the consolidation of physician offices by hospitals and other large enterprises thereby reducing the number of potential opportunities,
and an extension of the deadline to adopt stage two meaningful use requirements until calendar 2014.
a decline in consolidated gross profit of $6.4 million (9.1%) resulting from the decrease in consolidated system sales, mitigated by a growth in gross profit of 3.2%
for maintenance and 13.5% for RCM services revenue.
a $2.0 million (4.5%) increase in total operating expenses compared to the prior year period. This increase is primarily due to a 21.4% increase in research and
development expenses in the current period reflecting increased investment related to regulatory changes such as ICD-10 and stage two meaningful use
requirements, as well as other enhancements to our products.

•

a reduction of $3.3 million in the provision for income taxes, principally reflecting a lower level of taxable income in the current period.

Revenue. Revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 4.3% to $111.1 million from $116.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2012.
NextGen Division revenue decreased 3.0% to $84.7 million compared to $87.3 million in the three months ended September 30, 2012, QSI Dental Division revenue increased
1.2% to $4.9 million from $4.8 million, RCM Services Division revenue increased 6.1% to $16.7 million from $15.8 million, and Hospital Solutions Division revenue
decreased 42.1% during that same period to $4.7 million from $8.2 million.
System Sales. Revenue earned from our company-wide sales of systems for the three months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 27.5% to $23.4 million from $32.3 million
in the same prior year period.
The decrease in system sales was driven primarily by lower sales of software to both new and existing clients for both the NextGen and Hospital Solutions Divisions. For the
NextGen Division, revenue from system sales decreased 22.1%, or $6.0 million, to $21.1 million during the three months ended September 30, 2013 from $27.0 million during
the same prior year period.
The following table breaks down our reported system sales into software, hardware and third-party software, and implementation and training services components on a
consolidated and divisional basis for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
Implementation
and Training
Services

Hardware, Third
Party Software

Software

Total System
Sales

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division

$

14,249

Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

438

$

211

$

458

$

1,107

998

5,831

21,078

(538)

100

1,520

1,082

104

—

—

104

14,253

$

302

$

1,309

$

471

$

7,809

$

394

$

23,371

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

$

1,167

18,851

1,757

6,451

27,059

1,917

297

1,599

3,813

125

—

91

21,195

$

2,525

$

8,535

216
$

32,255

NextGen Division software license revenue decreased 24.4% in the three months ended September 30, 2013 versus the same period last year. The NextGen Division’s software
revenue accounted for 67.6% of divisional system sales revenue during the three months ended September 30, 2013 compared to 69.7% during the same period a year ago.
Software license revenue continues to be an area of primary emphasis for the NextGen Division.
Hospital Solutions Division software license revenue decreased $2.5 million in the three months ended September 30, 2013 versus the same period last year due to significantly
lower software sales, combined with higher accruals for anticipated sales credits.
Our decline in software revenue was related to a number of factors including higher adoption rates by large physician groups which resulted in a smaller number of new
opportunities, the consolidation of physician offices by hospitals and other large enterprises thereby reducing the number of potential opportunities, and an extension to the
deadline to adopt stage two meaningful use requirements until calendar 2014.
We believe there are other trends which may positively impact future systems sales. Many of our existing large enterprise customers have plans to grow, which will create
future revenue opportunities as these customers purchase additional software and services to support their growth plans. We also expect to benefit from the growth of a
replacement market driven by an expected consolidation of electronic health records vendors. Finally, we believe many new opportunities will be created by the evolution of
healthcare from a pay for services reimbursement model to a pay for performance model around the management of patient populations. Additionally, the Mirth acquisition is
providing us with new products and services around HIE and interoperability, which we intend to utilize to drive future growth. It is difficult to assess the relative impact as
well as the timing of positive and negative trends, however, we believe the company is well positioned to support the ever increasing need for healthcare information
technology.
During the three months ended September 30, 2013, 4.7% of the NextGen Division’s system sales revenue was represented by hardware and third-party software compared to
6.5% during same period a year ago. The number of clients who purchase hardware and third-party software and the dollar amount of hardware and third-party software
revenue fluctuates each quarter depending on the needs of clients. The inclusion of hardware and third-party software in the NextGen Division’s sales arrangements is typically
at the request of our clients.

Implementation and training revenue related to system sales at the NextGen Division decreased 9.6% in the three months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same
prior year period primarily due to a decline in the amount of new system sales in the division. Implementation and training revenue related to system sales at the Hospital
Solutions Division decreased 4.9%, in the three months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the same prior year period. The amount of implementation and training
services revenue is dependent on several factors, including timing of client implementations, the availability of qualified staff and the mix of services being rendered. It should
be noted that we have experienced a decline in the level of systems sales in recent quarters which in turn have resulted in a decline in the amount of implementation services
sold, specifically in the NextGen Division. We have not reduced our staffing levels in spite of the decline in revenue as we believe that the demand for services is going to
increase especially as our customers implement new versions of our software related to the ICD-10 requirements.
Maintenance, EDI, RCM and Other Services. For the three months ended September 30, 2013, our company-wide revenue from maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services
grew 4.6% to $87.7 million from $83.9 million in the same prior year period. The increase is primarily due to an increase in maintenance and EDI revenue from the NextGen
Division and RCM revenue from the RCM Services Division.
Total NextGen Division maintenance revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2013 grew 6.5% to $35.2 million from $33.1 million for the same prior year period
while NextGen Division EDI revenue grew 10.3% to $15.1 million compared to $13.7 million in the same prior year period. Other services revenue for the NextGen Division,
which consists primarily of third-party annual software license renewals, consulting services, SaaS fees and hosting services, decreased 1.5% to $13.3 million in the three
months ended September 30, 2013 from $13.5 million in the same prior year period.
QSI Dental Division maintenance, EDI and other services revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $3.8 million and $3.7 million, respectively.
For the three months ended September 30, 2013, RCM revenue for the RCM Services Division increased to $15.5 million compared to $14.5 million in the same prior year
period. For the Hospital Solutions Division, maintenance and other services revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 16.2% as compared to the same
prior year period primarily due to a decrease in maintenance revenue primarily due to a scheduled roll off of an existing legacy customer from one of the acquired entities of
the division.
The following table details maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services revenue by category on a consolidated and divisional basis for the three months ended September 30,
2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
Maintenance

EDI

RCM

Other

Total

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

$

2,075

$

1,370

35,214

15,113

2,864
160
40,313

$

1,946

$

$

—

$

352

$

3,797

—

13,296

39

—

749

3,652

23

15,467

988

16,638

16,545

$

15,467

$

1,350

$

—

$

63,623

15,385

$

383

$

87,710

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

13,696

—

13,502

60,269

3,478

—

—

881

4,359

220
$

3,679

33,071

38,715

(22)
$

15,024

14,486
$

14,486

882
$

15,648

15,566
$

83,873

Maintenance revenue for the NextGen Division increased by $2.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the same prior year period, primarily
as a result of net additional licenses from both new and existing clients.
The NextGen Division’s EDI revenue growth has come from new clients and from further penetration of the division’s existing client base while the growth in RCM revenue is
primarily attributable to organic growth. We intend to continue to promote maintenance, EDI and RCM services to both new and existing clients.
Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2013 increased slightly to $47.7 million from $46.4 million in the same prior year period and the
cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue increased to 42.9% from 39.9%. The increase in the cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue is due to a change in the mix of
revenues toward recurring services revenue, which have historically experienced a lower profit margin than system sales, as well as a decrease in the margins on system sales
due to a higher proportion of lower-margin implementation services.

The following table details revenue and cost of revenue on a consolidated and divisional basis for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2013

%

2012

%

QSI Dental Division
Revenue

$

4,904

100.0%

2,357

48.1%

$

2,547

51.9%

$

84,701

100.0%

28,594

33.8%

$

56,107

66.2%

$

4,734

100.0%

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

4,846

100.0%

2,621

54.1%

$

2,225

45.9%

$

87,328

100.0%

27,850

31.9%

$

59,478

68.1%

$

8,172

100.0%

NextGen Division
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Hospital Solutions Division
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

4,385

92.6%

4,238

51.9%

$

349

7.4%

$

3,934

48.1%

$

16,742

100.0%

$

15,782

100.0%

RCM Services Division
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Unallocated cost of revenue

11,410

68.2%

10,978

69.6%

$

5,332

31.8%

$

4,804

30.4%

$

936

N/A

$

677

$

111,081

100.0%

$

116,128

100.0%

47,682

42.9%

46,364

39.9%

63,399

57.1%

69,764

60.1%

N/A

Consolidated
Revenue
Cost of revenue
$

Gross profit

$

Gross profit margins for the NextGen Division and the Hospital Solutions Division decreased for the three months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same prior year
period primarily due to a significant decrease in total system sales (consisting of software and hardware sales and training and implementation services). Although cost of sales
decreased for total system sales, such costs did not decrease at the same rate as the decrease in system sales revenue. Gross profit margin in the QSI Dental Division and RCM
Services Division increased for the three months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the same prior year period primarily due to improved recurring revenue profit
margins during the current period.
The following table details the individual components of cost of revenue and gross profit as a percentage of total revenue on a consolidated and divisional basis for the three
months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Hardware,
Third Party
Software

Payroll and
Related
Benefits

EDI

Total Cost
of Revenue

Other

Gross Profit

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013
QSI Dental Division

3.0%

21.5%

12.5%

11.1%

48.1%

51.9%

NextGen Division

1.1%

12.1%

11.0%

9.6%

33.8%

66.2%

Hospital Solutions Division

1.9%

60.7%

0.4%

29.6%

92.6%

7.4%

RCM Services Division

0.0%

45.3%

0.6%

22.3%

68.2%

31.8%

1.1%

19.6%

9.1%

13.1%

42.9%

57.1%

QSI Dental Division

8.8%

20.3%

14.6%

10.4%

54.1%

45.9%

NextGen Division

1.9%

11.7%

8.7%

9.6%

31.9%

68.1%

Hospital Solutions Division

3.2%

25.1%

0.0%

23.6%

51.9%

48.1%

RCM Services Division

0.0%

45.1%

1.0%

23.5%

69.6%

30.4%

2.0%

17.6%

7.3%

13.0%

39.9%

60.1%

Consolidated
Three Months Ended September 30, 2012

Consolidated

During the three months ended September 30, 2013, hardware and third-party software constituted a lower portion of cost of revenue compared to the same prior year period in
the NextGen Division. The number of clients who purchase hardware and third-party software and the dollar amount of hardware and third-party software purchased fluctuates
each quarter depending on the needs of our clients. Gross profit for the Hospital Solutions Division decreased to 7.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2013 as
compared to 48.1% for the same

prior year period due to significant declines in system sales revenues and maintenance gross profit. The change in maintenance gross profit was primarily a result of increased
accruals for anticipated sales credits in the current period.
Our payroll and benefits expense associated with delivering our products and services increased to 19.6% of consolidated revenue in the three months ended September 30,
2013 compared to 17.6% during the same period last year. The absolute level of consolidated payroll and benefit expenses grew from $20.4 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2012 to $21.8 million in the three months ended September 30, 2013. A significant portion of the increase, approximately $0.5 million, is related to the RCM
Services Division. RCM is a service business, which inherently has higher payroll costs as a percentage of revenue. An increase of $0.8 million in payroll and benefits
expenses within the Hospital Solutions Division aggregated with decreases in total system sales resulted in an increase to 60.7% of consolidated revenue in the three months
ended September 30, 2013 compared to 25.1% during the same period last year. Other increases of approximately $0.1 million for the QSI Dental Division are primarily due to
increased payroll and benefits expense associated with delivering products and services. The amount of share-based compensation expense included in cost of revenue was not
significant for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Other cost of revenue, which primarily consists of third-party annual license, hosting costs and outsourcing costs, increased slightly to 13.1% of total revenue during the three
months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to 13.0% for the same period a year ago. Other expenses increased as a percentage of revenue primarily due to the mix of other
services revenue sold compared to the prior year period.
As a result of the foregoing events and activities, our gross profit percentage decreased to 57.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2013 versus 60.1% for the same
prior year period.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2013 increased 2.0% to $38.6 million
as compared to $37.8 million for the prior year period. The increase in these expenses resulted primarily from:

•
•
•
•
•

$1.0 million increase in salaries and related benefit expenses
$0.7 million of proxy contest related expenses
$0.2 million increase in bad debt expense; partially offset by
$0.4 million decrease in acquisition related expenses, including fair value adjustments; and
$0.7 million net decrease in other selling and administrative expenses

Share-based compensation expense was approximately $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and is included in
the aforementioned amounts. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue increased from 32.6% in the three months ended September 30, 2012 to
34.7% in the three months ended September 30, 2013.
Research and Development Costs. Research and development costs for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were $7.6 million and $6.3 million, respectively.
Research and development costs as a percentage of revenue increased to 6.9% in the three months ended September 30, 2013 from 5.4% for the prior year period. The increase
in research and development expenses is primarily due to the continued investment in enhancements to our specialty template development, preparation for ICD-10
requirements, new products including NextGen Knowledge Base Model ("KBM"), NextGen Mobile, NextGen NextPen, NextGen Community Connectivity consisting of
NextGen HIE, NextGen Patient Portal (“NextMD.com”), and NextGen Health Quality Measures (“NextGen HQM”), and other enhancements to our existing products.
Additions to capitalized software costs offset increases in research and development costs. For the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, our additions to
capitalized software were $8.0 million and $9.8 million, respectively, as we continue to enhance our software to meet the Meaningful Use definitions under the ARRA as well
as further integrate both ambulatory and inpatient products. The decrease in capitalized software is primarily due to the inclusion of $3.0 million paid in the prior year quarter
for the source code of a pharmacy system which supports Hospital Division customers, partially offset by higher capitalizable labor costs in the current period. For the three
months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, total research and development expenditures including costs expensed and costs capitalized was $15.6 million and $16.1 million,
respectively. We intend to continue to invest heavily in research and development as we develop a new integrated inpatient and outpatient, web-based software platform as well
as continue to bring additional functionality and features to the medical community. Share-based compensation expense included in research and development costs was not
significant for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets. Amortization included in operating expenses related to acquired intangible assets was $1.3 million for both the three months
ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Interest and Other Income (Expense). Total interest and other income (expense) was $(0.4) million and $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Interest and other income (expense) consists primarily of dividends and interest earned on our investments along with foreign currency gains or losses for the
period.
Our investment policy is determined by our Board of Directors. We currently maintain our cash in very liquid short term assets including tax exempt and taxable money market
funds, Certificates of Deposit and short term Municipal Bonds with maturities of 365 days or less at the time of purchase. Our Board of Directors continues to review alternate
uses for our cash including, but not limited to, payment of a special

dividend, initiation of a stock buyback program, an expansion of our investment policy and other items. Additionally, it is possible that we will utilize some or all of our cash to
fund acquisitions or other similar business activities. Any or all of these programs could significantly impact our investment income in future periods.
Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $5.5 million and $8.8 million, respectively. The
effective tax rates were 35.1% and 36.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The effective rate for the three months ended September 30,
2013 decreased as compared to the same prior year period due to a net benefit from the federal research and development tax credit and an increase benefit in qualified
production activities deduction. The federal research and development tax credit statute expired on December 31, 2011, and in January 2013, was retroactively enacted through
December 31, 2013.
Comparison of the Six Months Ended September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012
Net Income. Our net income for the six months ended September 30, 2013 was $23.1 million, or $0.39 per share, on both a basic and fully diluted basis. In comparison, we
earned $31.2 million, or $0.53 per share, on both a basic and fully diluted basis for the six months ended September 30, 2012. The change in net income for the six months
ended September 30, 2013 was primarily attributed to the following:

•
•
•
•

a 47.5% decline in consolidated system sales revenue related to a number of factors, including higher adoption rates by large physician groups resulting in a lower
number of new opportunities, the consolidation of physician offices by hospitals and other large enterprises thereby reducing the number of potential opportunities,
and an extension of the deadline to adopt stage two meaningful use requirements until calendar 2014.
a decline in consolidated gross profit of $14.8 million (10.6%) resulting from the decrease in consolidated system sales, mitigated by a growth in gross profit of
12.9% for EDI and 21.6% for RCM services.
a $2.5 million (2.7%) reduction in total operating expenses primarily due to various cost saving initiatives and a higher rate of capitalizable costs in the current
period in anticipation of achieving general release of our next significant versions of our ambulatory software products in the quarter ended December 31, 2013.
a reduction of $4.8 million in the provision for income taxes, principally reflecting a lower level of taxable income in the current period.

Revenue. Revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 5.9% to $220.6 million from $234.4 million for the six months ended September 30, 2012.
NextGen Division revenue decreased 4.2% to $166.2 million from $173.5 million in the six months ended September 30, 2012, QSI Dental Division revenue increased 2.6% to
$10.1 million from $9.8 million, RCM Services Division revenue increased 8.1% to $34.1 million from $31.6 million, and Hospital Solutions Division revenue decreased
47.8% to $10.2 million from $19.5 million in the same prior year period.
System Sales. Revenue earned from our company-wide sales of systems for the six months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 34.5% to $45.9 million from $70.1 million in
the same prior year period.
The decrease in system sales was driven primarily by lower sales of software to both new and existing clients, partially offset by increased implementation revenue at both the
NextGen and Hospital Solutions Divisions. NextGen Division sales in this category decreased 30.3%, or $17.5 million, to $40.3 million during the six months ended
September 30, 2013 from $57.7 million during the same prior year period while the Hospital Solutions Division experienced a 67.5%, or $6.5 million, decrease in category
revenue to $3.1 million in the six months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to $9.6 million in the same prior year period.

The following table breaks down our reported system sales into software, hardware and third-party software, and implementation and training services components on a
consolidated and divisional basis for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
Hardware,
Third
Party Software

Software

Implementation
and Training
Services

Total System
Sales

Six Months Ended September 30, 2013
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division

$

27,745

Hospital Solutions Division

(579)

RCM Services Division
Consolidated

990

196
$

602

$

$

782

$

$

2,327

2,396

10,128

40,269

184

3,522

3,127

—

28,352

735

(1)

3,182

$

862

$

195

14,384

$

784

$

45,918

Six Months Ended September 30, 2012
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

$

2,428

39,544

3,022

15,166

57,732

4,412

714

4,481

9,607

228

—

150

378

44,966

$

4,598

$

20,581

$

70,145

NextGen Division software license revenue decreased 29.8% in the six months ended September 30, 2013 versus the same period last year. The Division’s software revenue
accounted for 68.9% of divisional system sales revenue during the six months ended September 30, 2013 compared to 68.5% during the same period a year ago. Software
license revenue continues to be an area of primary emphasis for the NextGen Division.
Hospital Solutions Division software license revenue decreased $5.0 million in the six months ended September 30, 2013 versus the same period last year due to significantly
lower software sales, combined with higher accruals for anticipated sales credits.
Our decline in software revenue was related to a number of factors including higher adoption rates by large physician groups which resulted in a smaller number of new
opportunities, the consolidation of physician offices by hospitals and other large enterprises thereby reducing the number of potential opportunities, and an extension to the
deadline to adopt stage two meaningful use requirements until calendar 2014.
We believe there are other trends which may positively impact future systems sales. Many of our existing large enterprise customers have plans to grow which will create
future revenue opportunities as these customers purchase additional software and services to support their growth plans. We also expect to benefit from the growth of a
replacement market driven by an expected consolidation of electronic health records vendors. Finally, we believe many new opportunities will be created by the evolution of
healthcare from a pay for services reimbursement model to a pay for performance model around the management of patient populations. Additionally, the Mirth acquisition is
providing us with new products and services around HIE and interoperability, which we intend to utilize to drive future growth. It is difficult to assess the relative impact as
well as the timing of positive and negative trends, however, we believe the company is well positioned to support the ever increasing need for healthcare information
technology.
During the six months ended September 30, 2013, 5.9% of the NextGen Division’s system sales revenue was represented by hardware and third-party software compared to
5.2% during the same period a year ago. The number of clients who purchase hardware and third-party software and the dollar amount of hardware and third-party software
revenue fluctuates each quarter depending on the needs of clients. The inclusion of hardware and third-party software in the NextGen Division’s sales arrangements is typically
at the request of our clients.
Implementation and training revenue related to system sales at the NextGen Division decreased 33.2% in the six months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same prior
year period. Implementation and training revenue related to system sales at the Hospital Solutions Division decreased 21.4%, in the six months ended September 30, 2013 as
compared to the same prior year period. The amount of implementation and training services revenue is dependent on several factors, including timing of client
implementations, the availability of qualified staff and the mix of services being rendered. It should be noted that we have experienced a decline in the level of systems sales in
recent quarters which in turn have resulted in a decline in the amount of implementation services sold, specifically in the NextGen Division. We have not reduced our staffing
levels in spite of the decline in revenue as we believe that the demand for services is going to increase especially as our customers implement new versions of our software
related to the ICD-10 requirements.
Maintenance, EDI, RCM and Other Services. For the six months ended September 30, 2013, our company-wide revenue from maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services
grew 6.3% to $174.7 million from $164.3 million in the same prior year period. The increase is primarily due to an increase in maintenance, EDI and other services revenue
from the NextGen Division and RCM revenue from the RCM Services Division.
Total NextGen Division maintenance revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2013 grew 6.4% to $68.9 million from $64.8 million for the same prior year period
while NextGen Division EDI revenue grew 16.9% to $30.3 million compared to $26.0 million in the same prior

year period. Other services revenue for the NextGen Division, which consists primarily of third-party annual software license renewals, consulting services, SaaS fees and
hosting services, increased 6.4% to $26.7 million in the six months ended September 30, 2013 from $25.1 million in the same prior year period. Other services revenue
benefited from a strong increase in consulting revenue to existing NextGen Division customers.
QSI Dental Division maintenance, EDI and other services revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $7.7 million and $7.4 million, respectively. For
the six months ended September 30, 2013, RCM revenue for the RCM Services Division grew $2.6 million, or 9.0%, to $31.5 million compared to $28.9 million in the same
prior year period. For the Hospital Solutions Division, maintenance and other services revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 28.8% as compared to
the same prior year period primarily due to a decrease in maintenance revenue primarily due to a scheduled roll off of an existing legacy customer from one of the acquired
entities of the division.
The following table details maintenance, EDI, RCM and other services revenue by category on a consolidated and divisional basis for the six months ended September 30,
2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
Maintenance

EDI

RCM

Other

Total

Six Months Ended September 30, 2013
QSI Dental Division

$

NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

4,185

$

2,776

68,920

30,349

5,447
369

$

—

$

767

$

7,728

—

26,698

125,967

75

—

1,552

7,074

37

31,482

2,035

33,923

$

78,921

$

33,237

$

31,482

$

31,052

$

174,692

$

3,907

$

2,734

$

—

$

731

$

7,372

Six Months Ended September 30, 2012
QSI Dental Division
NextGen Division
Hospital Solutions Division
RCM Services Division
Consolidated

64,755

25,951

—

25,083

115,789

8,225

—

—

1,704

9,929

396
$

77,283

162
$

28,847

28,887
$

28,887

1,744
$

29,262

31,189
$

164,279

Maintenance revenue for the NextGen Division increased by $4.2 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the same prior year period, primarily as
a result of net additional licenses from both new and existing clients.
The NextGen Division’s EDI revenue growth has come from new clients and from further penetration of the division’s existing client base while the growth in RCM revenue is
primarily attributable to organic growth. We intend to continue to promote maintenance, EDI and RCM services to both new and existing clients.
Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2013 increased 1.1% to $95.8 million from $94.8 million in the same prior year period and the cost
of revenue as a percentage of revenue increased to 43.4% from 40.4% driven primarily by a higher percentage of lower margin revenue streams such as EDI and RCM services
as well as slight cost increases across all revenue categories.

The following table details revenue and cost of revenue on a consolidated and divisional basis for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
Six Months Ended September 30,
2013

%

2012

%

QSI Dental Division
Revenue

$

10,055

100.0%

4,955

49.3%

$

5,100

50.7%

$

166,236

100.0%

57,272

34.5%

$

108,964

65.5%

$

10,201

100.0%

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

9,800

100.0%

5,049

51.5%

$

4,751

48.5%

$

173,521

100.0%

57,347

33.0%

$

116,174

67.0%

$

19,536

100.0%

NextGen Division
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Hospital Solutions Division
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

8,627

84.6%

8,780

44.9%

$

1,574

15.4%

$

10,756

55.1%

$

34,118

100.0%

$

31,567

100.0%

RCM Services Division
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Unallocated cost of revenue

23,293

68.3%

22,224

70.4%

$

10,825

31.7%

$

9,343

29.6%

$

1,607

N/A

$

1,359

N/A

$

220,610

100.0%

$

234,424

100.0%

95,754

43.4%

94,759

40.4%

$

124,856

56.6%

$

139,665

59.6%

Consolidated
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Gross profit margins for the NextGen Division and the Hospital Solutions Division decreased for the six months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same prior year
period primarily due to a significant decrease in total system sales (consisting of both software and hardware sales and training and implementation services). Although the cost
of sales decreased within total system sales, such costs did not decrease at the same rate as the decrease in system sales revenue. Gross profit margin in the QSI Dental Division
and RCM Services Division increased for the six months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the same prior year period primarily due to improved recurring revenue
profit margins during the current period.
The following table details the individual components of cost of revenue and gross profit as a percentage of total revenue on a consolidated and divisional basis for the six
months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:
Hardware,
Third Party
Software

Payroll and
Related
Benefits

EDI

Total Cost
of Revenue

Other

Gross Profit

Six Months Ended September 30, 2013
QSI Dental Division

4.6%

20.6%

13.4%

10.7%

49.3%

50.7%

NextGen Division

1.3%

12.2%

11.2%

9.8%

34.5%

65.5%

Hospital Solutions Division

1.3%

50.1%

0.4%

32.8%

84.6%

15.4%

RCM Services Division

0.0%

44.1%

0.8%

23.4%

68.3%

31.7%

1.3%

19.3%

9.2%

13.6%

43.4%

56.6%

QSI Dental Division

7.0%

19.8%

14.3%

10.4%

51.5%

48.5%

NextGen Division

1.6%

11.6%

8.8%

11.0%

33.0%

67.0%

Hospital Solutions Division

3.9%

21.1%

0.0%

19.9%

44.9%

55.1%

RCM Services Division

0.0%

45.0%

1.2%

24.2%

70.4%

29.6%

1.8%

17.2%

7.3%

14.1%

40.4%

59.6%

Consolidated
Six Months Ended September 30, 2012

Consolidated

During the six months ended September 30, 2013, hardware and third-party software constituted a lower portion of cost of revenue compared to the same prior year period in
the NextGen Division. The number of clients who purchase hardware and third-party software and the dollar amount of hardware and third-party software purchased fluctuates
each quarter depending on the needs of our clients.

Our payroll and benefits expense associated with delivering our products and services increased to 19.3% of consolidated revenue in the six months ended September 30, 2013
compared to 17.2% during the same period last year. The absolute level of consolidated payroll and benefit expenses grew from $40.4 million in the six months ended
September 30, 2012 to $42.6 million in the six months ended September 30, 2013. A significant portion of the increase, approximately $0.8 million of the increase is related to
the RCM Services Division as RCM is a service business, which inherently has higher percentage of payroll costs as a percentage of revenue. An increase of 1.0 million in
payroll and benefits expenses within the Hospital Solutions Division aggregated with decreases in total system sales resulted in an increase to 50.1% of consolidated revenue in
the six months ended September 30, 2013 compared to 21.1% during the same period last year. Other increases of $0.2 million for the NextGen Division and $0.1 million for
the QSI Dental Division are primarily due to increased payroll and benefits expense associated with delivering products and services. The amount of share-based compensation
expense included in cost of revenue was not significant for six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Other cost of revenue, which primarily consists of third-party annual license, hosting costs and outsourcing costs, decreased slightly to 13.6% of total revenue during the six
months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to 14.1% for the same period a year ago. Other expenses decreased as a percentage of revenue primarily due to the mix of other
services revenue sold compared to the prior year period.
As a result of the foregoing events and activities, our gross profit percentage decreased to 56.6% for the six months ended September 30, 2013 versus 59.6% for the same prior
year period.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the six months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 1.1% to $73.7 million as
compared to $74.5 million for the prior year period. The decrease in these expenses resulted primarily from:
•
•

•
•
•

$0.6 million decrease in sales commissions, reflecting the lower level of revenues
$0.7 million decrease in acquisition related expenses, including fair value adjustments
$0.6 million net decrease in other selling and administrative expenses; partially offset by
$0.6 million increase in bad debt expense; and
$0.5 million of proxy contest related expenses

Share-based compensation expense was approximately $0.8 million and $1.1 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and is included in
the aforementioned amounts. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue increased from 31.8% in the six months ended September 30, 2012 to
33.4% in the six months ended September 30, 2013.
Research and Development Costs. Research and development costs for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were $13.2 million and $14.8 million, respectively.
Research and development costs as a percentage of revenue decreased to 6.0% in the six months ended September 30, 2013 from 6.3% for the prior year period. The decrease
in research and development expenses was primarily due to the achievement of technological feasibility for one of our major projects intended to bring greater integration
between our ambulatory and inpatient software products and solutions, therefore allowing us to begin to capitalize costs related to this project in the second quarter of fiscal
2013. We also continue to invest significantly in enhancements to our specialty template development, preparation for ICD-10 requirements, new products including NextGen
KBM, NextGen Mobile, NextGen NextPen, NextGen Community Connectivity consisting of NextGen HIE, NextGen Patient Portal, and NextGen HQM, and other
enhancements to our existing products.
Additions to capitalized software costs offset increases in research and development costs. For the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, our additions to capitalized
software were $15.3 million and $14.1 million, respectively, as we continue to enhance our software to meet the Meaningful Use definitions under the ARRA as well as further
integrate both ambulatory and inpatient products. The increase in capitalized software added in the six months ended September 30, 2013 was primarily the result of greater
investment in the hospital business unit. For the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, total research and development expenditures including costs expensed and
costs capitalized was $28.5 million and $28.9 million, respectively. We intend to continue to invest heavily in research and development expenses as we develop a new
integrated inpatient and outpatient, web-based software platform as well as continue to bring additional functionality and features to the medical community. Share-based
compensation expense included in research and development costs was not significant for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets. Amortization included in operating expenses related to acquired intangible assets was $2.5 million for both the six months ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Interest and Other Income (Expense). Total interest and other income (expense) was $(0.6) million for the six months ended September 30, 2013. Total interest and other
income (expense) was not significant for the six months ended September 30, 2012. Interest and other income consist primarily of dividends and interest earned on our
investments along with foreign currency gains or losses for the period.
Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $11.9 million and $16.6 million, respectively. The
effective tax rate was 33.9% and 34.8% for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The effective rate for the six months ended September 30, 2013
decreased as compared to the same prior year period due to a net benefit from the federal research and development tax credit and an increase benefit in qualified production
activities deduction. The federal research and development tax credit statute expired on December 31, 2011, and in January 2013, was retroactively enacted through December
31, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table presents selected financial statistics and information for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (dollar amounts in thousands):
Six Months Ended September 30,
2013

2012

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities

$

84,305

$

122,032

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities

$

(33,706)

$

(17,399)

Net income

$

23,066

$

31,188

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

42,766

$

29,490

Number of days of sales outstanding (1)
_________________________
(1) Days sales outstanding is equal to net accounts receivable divided by average daily revenue.

115

119

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash provided by operations has historically been our primary source of cash and has primarily been driven by our net income plus adjustments to add back non-cash expenses,
including depreciation, amortization of intangibles and capitalized software costs, provisions for bad debts and inventory obsolescence, share-based compensation, changes in
fair value of contingent consideration and deferred taxes.
The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flows for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
Six Months Ended September 30,
2013
Net income

$

Non-cash expenses
Change in deferred revenue
Cash from net income, as adjusted
Change in accounts receivable
Change in other assets and liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

2012
23,066

$

16,491

(4,223)

(15,226)

37,542

32,453

9,298

(7,736)

(4,074)
$

31,188

18,699

42,766

4,773
$

29,490

Cash from Net Income. Net income makes up the majority of our cash generated from operations for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012. Cash flows from net
income are affected by changes in deferred revenue, as well as non-cash adjustments including depreciation, amortization of intangibles and amortization of capitalized
software costs, provisions for bad debts, share-based compensation, changes in fair value of contingent consideration and deferred taxes. Deferred revenues decreased $4.2
million and $15.2 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Total non-cash expenses were $18.7 million and $16.5 million for the six
months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The $2.2 million increase in non-cash expenses for the six months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the
same prior year period is primarily due to increases of approximately $0.4 million in depreciation, $0.4 million of amortization of capitalized software costs, $0.3 million of
amortization of other intangibles, $0.6 million of bad debt expense and a $1.7 million increase in deferred income tax expense, partially offset by a $0.3 million decrease in
share-based compensation and a $0.9 million decrease in fair value adjustments for contingent consideration.
Accounts Receivable. Net cash inflows associated with changes in accounts receivable were approximately $9.3 million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 versus
net outflows of approximately $7.7 million for the six months ended September 30, 2012. The change in cash flows attributable to accounts receivable activity is primarily due
to an additional emphasis on working capital management in the current period. This emphasis is reflected as a reduction of days sales outstanding (“DSO”) in comparison to
the prior year period. Specifically, DSO decreased to 115 days during the six months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to 119 days in the prior year period.
Provided that profitability and the turnover of accounts receivable remain consistent (at a minimum) with the 2013 fiscal year, we anticipate being able to continue generating
cash from operations during fiscal year 2014 primarily from our net income.
Other Assets and Liabilities. Cash from operations was negatively impacted by a net change in other assets and liabilities of $4.1 million compared to a net benefit of $4.8
million for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. For the six months ended September 30, 2013, the $4.1 million change in other assets and
liabilities is primarily the result of income tax payments made during the period,

which shifted our net income tax position to a $4.5 million income tax receivable as of September 30, 2013, from a $1.5 million income tax payable at March 31, 2013. During
such period, our cash flows relating to other assets and liabilities also reflected a $2.8 million decrease in accounts payable, a $3.3 million decrease in other current assets
(including restricted cash) and a $1.4 million net increase in all other assets and liabilities.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $54.7 million and $26.1 million, respectively. The $28.6
million increase in net cash used in investing activities is primarily due to $34.8 million of cash paid for the acquisition of Mirth in the current period, partially offset by $7.1
million net cash paid for the acquisitions of Matrix and Poseidon in the same prior year period.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities for the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $21.2 million and $20.8 million, respectively. During the six months ended
September 30, 2013, we received proceeds of $1.5 million from the exercise of stock options, paid $20.8 million in dividends to shareholders and paid $2.0 million in
contingent consideration related to acquisitions compared to proceeds of $0.8 million from the exercise of stock options, payment of $20.7 million in dividends to shareholders
and payment of $0.9 million in contingent consideration related to acquisitions during the same prior year period.
Further, we recorded a reduction in our tax benefit from share-based compensation of $0.1 million for both the six months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 related to tax
deductions received from stock option exercises. The benefit was recorded as additional paid in capital.
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities
At September 30, 2013, we had combined cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $84.3 million, reflecting a decrease of $33.7 million from the
comparable balance as of March 31, 2013. This decrease principally reflects $34.8 million expended for the purchase of Mirth in September 2013.
We may use a portion of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities towards future acquisitions, although the timing and amount of funds to be used has not been
determined. We intend to expend some of these funds for the development of products complementary to our existing product line as well as new versions of certain of our
products. These developments are intended to take advantage of more powerful technologies and to increase the integration of our products. Such expenditures will be funded
from cash on hand and cash flows from operations.
In January 2007, our Board of Directors adopted a policy whereby we intend to pay a regular quarterly dividend on our outstanding common stock, subject to further review
and approval and the establishment of record and distribution dates by our Board of Directors prior to the declaration of each such quarterly dividend. We anticipate that future
quarterly dividends, if and when declared by our Board of Directors pursuant to this policy, would likely be distributable on or about the fifth day of each January, April, July
and October.
On October 23, 2013, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.175 per share on our outstanding shares of common stock, payable to shareholders of
record as of December 13, 2013 with an expected distribution date on or about January 3, 2014.
Our Board of Directors declared the following dividends during the periods presented:

Declaration Date

Record Date

Payment Date

Per Share Dividend

May 22, 2013

June 14, 2013

July 5, 2013

$

0.175

July 24, 2013

September 13, 2013

October 4, 2013

$

0.175

$

0.350

Fiscal year 2014
May 24, 2012

June 15, 2012

July 3, 2012

$

0.175

July 25, 2012

September 14, 2012

October 5, 2012

$

0.175

October 25, 2012

December 14, 2012

December 28, 2012

$

0.175

January 23, 2013

March 15, 2013

April 5, 2013

$

0.175

$

0.700

Fiscal year 2013

Management believes that its cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities on hand at September 30, 2013, together with its cash flows from operations, will be sufficient to
meet its working capital and capital expenditure requirements, as well as any dividends to be paid in the ordinary course of business, for the next twelve months.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations at September 30, 2013 and the effect that such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and
cash in future periods:
For the year ended March 31,
Contractual Obligations
Operating lease obligations

Total
$

Contingent consideration and other acquisition related liabilities
Total

2014 (remaining six
months)

31,338 $
2,492

$

33,830 $

4,243 $
1,221
5,464 $

2015

2016

2017

7,585 $

7,087 $

5,187 $

646

313

312

8,231 $

7,400 $

5,499 $

2018 and
beyond
7,236
—
7,236

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of our notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for a discussion of new accounting standards.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS
There is little to no market risk as we currently maintain our cash in very liquid short term assets including tax exempt and taxable money market funds and short-term U.S.
Treasury securities with maturities of 90 days or less at the time of purchase.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, respectively) have evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Security Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the "Exchange Act") as of
September 30, 2013, the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Evaluation Date”). They have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, these
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that material information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them
by others within those entities and would be disclosed on a timely basis. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures are designed, and are effective, to give reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. They have also concluded that the our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that are filed or submitted under the Exchange Act are accumulated and
communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
As a result of the Company’s acquisition of Mirth on September 9, 2013, the Company has expanded its internal controls over financial reporting to include consolidation of
Mirth's results of operations. These controls will be incorporated into the Company’s evaluation of its internal controls and attestation activities pursuant to Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for fiscal year 2014.
During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, there were no other changes in our “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at that reasonable assurance level. However, management can provide no
assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting can prevent all errors and all fraud under all circumstances. A control
system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design
of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been
or will be detected. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On October 7, 2013, a complaint was filed against us and certain of our officers and directors in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Orange,
captioned Ahmed D. Hussein v. Sheldon Razin, Steven Plochocki, Quality Systems, Inc. and Does 1-10, inclusive, No. 30-2013-00679600-CU-NP-CJC, by Ahmed Hussein, a
former director and significant shareholder of ours. The complaint generally alleges fraud and deceit, constructive fraud, negligent misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary
duty in connection with statements made to our shareholders regarding our financial condition and projected future performance. The complaint seeks actual damages,
exemplary and punitive damages and costs.
In addition to the above, we have experienced legal claims by customers regarding product and contract disputes and from time to time, claims by other third parties asserting
that we have infringed their intellectual property rights. We believe that these claims, including Mr. Hussein's, are without merit and intend to defend against them vigorously;
however, we could incur substantial costs and diversion of management resources even if we are ultimately successful in the defense of such claims. Litigation is inherently
uncertain and always difficult to predict. We refer you to the discussion of infringement and litigation risks in our “Item 1A. Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Our business is subject to many risks and uncertainties, which may materially and adversely affect our future business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
These risk factors are disclosed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report and the risk factors set forth below, which supplement the risk factors previously disclosed.
We face risks related to the periodic maintenance and upgrades that need to be made to our products. As we continue to develop and improve upon our technology and
offerings, we need to periodically upgrade and maintain the products deployed to our customers. This process can require a significant amount of our internal time and
resources, and be complicated and time consuming for our customers. Certain upgrades may also pose the risk of system delays or failure. If our periodic upgrades and
maintenance cause disruptions to our customers, we may lose revenue-generating transactions, our customers may elect to use other solutions and we may also be the subject
of negative publicity that may adversely affect our business and reputation.
We face risks related to litigation advanced by a former director and shareholder of ours. On October 7, 2013, a complaint was filed against us and certain of our officers and
directors in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Orange, captioned Ahmed D. Hussein v. Sheldon Razin, Steven Plochocki, Quality Systems, Inc. and
Does 1-10, inclusive, No. 30-2013-00679600-CU-NP-CJC, by Ahmed Hussein, a former director and significant shareholder of ours. The complaint generally alleges fraud
and deceit, constructive fraud, negligent misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary duty in connection with statements made to our shareholders regarding our financial
condition and projected future performance. Although we believe the claims to be without merit, our operating results and share price may be negatively impacted due to the
negative publicity, expenses incurred in connection with our defense, management distraction, and/or other factors related to this litigation. In addition, litigation of this nature
may negatively impact our ability to attract and retain customers and strategic partners, as well as qualified board members and management personnel.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable
ITEM 5.
None.

OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Exhibit Number Description
2.1*

Share Purchase Agreement by and among Quality Systems, Inc., each of the shareholders of Mirth Corporation identified on Annex A thereto, and Jon
Teichrow dated as of September 9, 2013.

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS**

XBRL Instance

101.SCH**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

101.LAB**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label

101.PRE**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

* Filed herewith.
** XBRL information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of section 11 or 12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1933, as
amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these section.

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

QUALITY SYSTEMS, INC.
Date:

October 31, 2013

By:
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Steven T. Plochocki
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date:

October 31, 2013

By:

/s/ Paul A. Holt
Paul A. Holt
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
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Dated as of September 9, 2013
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SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of September 9, 2013 by and among
Quality Systems, Inc., a California corporation (“Buyer”), each of the shareholders of Mirth Corporation, a California corporation
(“Company”) identified on Annex A (each a “Seller” and collectively, “Sellers”), and Jon Teichrow, an individual and a Seller, as
representative of the Sellers (“Representative”). Capitalized terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them in ARTICLE XI.
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Company is engaged in the business of creating, developing and providing services in connection with custom
software applications and systems;
WHEREAS, Sellers own all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company as set forth on Annex A (the
“Purchased Shares”);
WHEREAS, Sellers desire to sell, and Buyer desires to purchase, all of Sellers’ right, title and interest in and to the
Purchased Shares on the terms and conditions contained herein; and
WHEREAS, the parties desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with
this Agreement.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and
agreements set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby
acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
SALE AND TRANSFER OF THE PURCHASED SHARES; CLOSING
1.1 Purchased Shares and Treatment of Company Options
(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each Seller hereby agrees to sell, transfer,
convey, assign and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer hereby agrees to purchase, acquire and accept from each Seller, all right title and
interest in and to the number of Purchased Shares set forth opposite such Seller’s name on Annex A hereto, which Purchased
Shares constitute all of the Purchased Shares owned by such Seller, free and clear of any Security Interest, in exchange for the
consideration set forth in Section 1.2 hereof.
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(b) Sellers have caused each and every Company Option that remained outstanding as of immediately prior to the
Closing to be cancelled and extinguished. Prior to the Closing, the board of directors of the Company has adopted such resolutions,
and take such other actions necessary to cause the Company Options to be treated as set forth in this Section 1.1(b).
1.2 Purchase Price. In full consideration for the sale and delivery of the Purchased Shares by Sellers and the covenants of
Sellers contained herein, Buyer shall pay to Sellers the following (collectively, the “Purchase Price”):
(a) Closing Payment. At the Closing, Buyer will pay to Sellers in accordance with the percentage ownership set
forth opposite such Seller’s name on Annex A, an amount equal to Thirty-Two Million Dollars ($32,000,000), as adjusted in
accordance with Section 1.4, minus the Company Expenses (the “Closing Cash Payment”).
(b) Payoff of Company Expenses. At the Closing, Buyer will pay, directly to the applicable third parties on behalf
of the Company, the Company expenses set forth on Schedule 1.2(b) (the “Company Expenses”), which will be delivered by Sellers
to Buyer no later than two (2) business days prior to Closing. For each Company Expense, Schedule 1.2(b) shall set forth the full
payment amount, including without limitation, any related expenses, fees, interest or other charges required to satisfy such
Company Expense in full, the name of the third party to whom such amount is due, including without limitation, Sellers’
investment bankers, attorneys and/or other advisors and any other representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement and wire instructions for each third party.
(c) Closing Shares. At the Closing, Buyer will issue to the Escrow Agent in book entry form, a number of Buyer
Shares (the “Closing Shares”) with a total value equal to Twenty-Seven Million Dollars ($27,000,000) calculated as of the Closing
Date using the Share Valuation Method (the “Closing Shares Amount”). The Closing Shares shall be held by the Escrow Agent
under the terms of the Escrow Agreement and shall be disbursed in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement and
subject to adjustment as set forth on Schedule 1.5(a)(i), to Sellers in accordance with the percentage ownership set forth opposite
such Seller’s name on Annex A. One-third of the Closing Shares shall include a restriction providing that such shares cannot be
sold until the first (1st) anniversary of the Closing Date (except as otherwise provided in Schedule 1.5(a)(i)) and shall be registered
for the benefit of Sellers in accordance with the percentage ownership set forth opposite such Seller’s name on Annex A, on the
six-month anniversary of the Closing Date (the “Tranche One Shares”); One-third of the Closing Shares shall include a restriction
providing that such shares cannot be sold until the second (2nd) anniversary of the Closing Date (except as otherwise provided in
Schedule 1.5(a)(i)) and shall be registered for the benefit of the Sellers in accordance with the percentage ownership set forth
opposite such Seller’s name on Annex A, on the eighteen-month anniversary of the Closing Date (the “Tranche Two Shares”); and
One-third of
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the Closing Shares shall include a restriction providing that such shares cannot be sold until the third (3rd) anniversary of the
Closing Date (except as otherwise provided in Schedule 1.5(a)(i)) and shall be registered for the benefit of Sellers in accordance
with the percentage ownership set forth opposite such Seller’s name on Annex A, on the thirty-month anniversary of the Closing
Date (the “Tranche Three Shares”).
1.3 The Closing. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take place
on and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement on the
date hereof (the “Closing Date”).
1.4 Closing Amount Adjustment.
(a) Target Working Capital. The Closing Amount will be adjusted by the difference between the Closing Date
Working Capital and an amount (the “Target Working Capital”) equal to $273,238, less an amount equal to the lower of (i) the
incremental income tax owed by Sellers as a direct result of the 388(h)(10) Election, compared to a sale of the Purchased Shares
without the 338(h)(10) Election (computed in the manner shown on Schedule 1.4(a)), and (ii) $1,500,000.
(b) Estimated Closing Adjustment. Prior to the Closing, Sellers have delivered to Buyer (i) a certificate setting
forth its good faith estimate of the Closing Date Working Capital (the “Estimated Closing Date Working Capital”) and (ii) the
documentation underlying Sellers’ calculation of the Estimated Closing Date Working Capital. Furthermore, Sellers shall provide
any and all additional information and documentation reasonably requested by Buyer to support the Estimated Closing Date
Working Capital. The Closing Cash Payment shall be increased by the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Closing Date
Working Capital exceeds the Target Working Capital or the Closing Cash Payment shall be decreased by the amount, if any, by
which the Estimated Closing Date Working Capital is less than the Target Working Capital.
(c) Post-Closing Adjustment. If the Closing Date Working Capital set forth in the Final Balance Sheet is greater
than the Estimated Closing Date Working Capital, Buyer will pay the amount of the difference to Sellers by wire transfer in
immediately available funds. If the Closing Date Working Capital set forth in the Final Balance Sheet is less than the Estimated
Closing Date Working Capital, Sellers will pay the amount of such difference to Buyer by electronic transfer of immediately
available funds. If any such required payment by Sellers is not paid within five (5) Business Days following the date on which such
payment is required to be made, Buyer shall have the right, but not the obligation, to setoff such amount owed by Sellers against
and reduce the Closing Shares, dollar for dollar, using the Share Valuation Method, calculated as of the Closing Date. In the case of
any such setoff by Buyer, the obligation of the Sellers to make such payment shall be deemed satisfied and discharged to the extent
of such setoff. The amount due pursuant to this Section
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1.4(c), whether from Buyer or as a reduction to the Purchase Price, is referred to as the “Closing Adjustment.” For Tax purposes,
any amount due by Buyer or as a reduction to the Purchase Price under this Section 1.4, shall be treated as an adjustment to the
Purchase Price unless a contrary treatment is required by Law.
(d) Adjustment Procedures. The Closing Adjustment described in Section 1.4(c) will be determined as follows:
(i) Within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare, in accordance with GAAP, and
deliver to Sellers a balance sheet of the Company as of the Closing Date which shall set forth the Closing Date Working Capital
(the “Final Balance Sheet”). The Parties acknowledge and agree that for purposes of determining the Closing Amount Adjustment
pursuant to this Section 1.4(d)(i) the Final Balance Sheet shall be prepared on a basis consistent with and utilizing the same
principles, practices and policies of the Company as those used in preparing the Most Recent Balance Sheet.
(ii) Sellers and any professionals chosen by Sellers shall have the right to review the Company’s books and
records relating to, and the work papers of Buyer and its advisors utilized in, preparing the Final Balance Sheet.
(iii) If Sellers deliver a timely notice of disagreement, Buyer and Sellers shall attempt in good faith during
the thirty (30) days immediately following Buyer’s receipt of timely notice of disagreement to resolve any disagreement with
respect to the Final Balance Sheet. If, at the conclusion of such 30-day period, Buyer and Sellers have not resolved their
disagreements regarding the Final Balance Sheet, Buyer and Sellers shall refer the items of disagreement for final determination to
the Orange County, California office of a regional accounting firm which is mutually acceptable to Buyer and Sellers (the
“Accountants”). However, if Buyer and Sellers are unable to agree on such a firm which is willing to so serve, Buyer shall deliver
to Sellers a list of two independent regional accounting firms that are not auditors, tax advisors or other consultants to Buyer or its
Affiliates or Sellers or their Affiliates, and Sellers shall select one of such two firms to be the Accountants within five (5) Business
Days. The Accountants, Buyer and Sellers will enter into such engagement letters as required by the Accountants to perform under
this Section 1.4(d)(iii). The Parties will be reasonably available for the Accountants, and shall instruct the Accountants to render a
final determination within the thirty (30) days immediately following the referral to the Accountants. After the end of the aforesaid
30-day period, neither Sellers nor Buyer may introduce additional disagreements or increase the amount of any disagreement, and
any item not so identified shall be deemed to be agreed to by all Parties and will be final and binding upon the Parties. If any
dispute is submitted to the Accountants, each Party will furnish to the Accountants such work papers and other documents and
information relating to the disputed issues as the Accountants may request and are available to that Party or its independent
accountants (including information of the Company)
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and each Party shall be afforded the opportunity to present the Accountants material relating to the determination and to discuss the
determination with the Accountants. The Accountants shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and shall resolve matters in
dispute and adjust and establish any disputed amount to reflect such resolution. It is the intent of Buyer and Sellers that the process
set forth in this Section 1.4(d)(iii) and the activities of the Accountants in connection herewith are not intended to be and, in fact,
are not arbitration and that no formal arbitration rules shall be followed (including rules with respect to procedures and discovery).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the scope of the Accountants’ review of any dispute between Buyer
and Sellers regarding the Final Balance Sheet and/or the calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital pursuant to this Section
1.4(d)(iii) shall be limited solely to the resolution of the objections to the calculation of the Closing Date Working Capital that are
set forth in the notice of disagreement, and the Accountants shall have not authority over any other disagreement (including but not
limited to questions of Law, interpretation of contract, and fraud). Within thirty (30) days after the matter is submitted to the
Accountants, the Accountants shall issue a written report of its review, setting forth in reasonable detail its calculation of such Final
Balance Sheet. The Final Balance Sheet shall be deemed to be conclusive and binding on Buyer and Sellers upon (A) the failure of
Sellers to deliver to Buyer a notice of disagreement within fifteen (15) Business Days of receipt of the Final Balance Sheet
prepared by Buyer, (B) resolution of any disagreement by mutual agreement of Buyer and Sellers after a timely notice of
disagreement has been delivered to Buyer, or (C) notification by the Accountants of their final determination of the items of
disagreement submitted to them.
(iv) If the Closing Adjustment based on the Accountants’ review of the Final Balance Sheet is closer to
Sellers’ Closing Adjustment proposal in its notice of disagreement than the Closing Adjustment based on the Final Balance Sheet,
the fees and disbursements of the Accountants under this Section 1.4(d) shall be borne exclusively by Buyer. If the Closing
Adjustment based on the Accountants’ review of the Final Balance Sheet is closer to the Closing Adjustment based on the Final
Balance Sheet than Sellers’ Closing Adjustment proposal in its notice of disagreement, the fees and disbursements of the
Accountants under this Section 1.4(d) shall be borne exclusively by Sellers. If any such required payment by Sellers is not paid
within five (5) Business Days following the date on which such payment is required to be made, Buyer shall have the right, but not
the obligation, to setoff any such amount owed by Sellers against and reduce the Closing Shares, dollar for dollar, using the Share
Valuation Method, calculated as of the Closing Date. In the case of any such setoff by Buyer, the obligation of the Sellers to make
such payment shall be deemed satisfied and discharged to the extent of such setoff.
1.5 Strategic Objectives Closing Shares Adjustment.
(a) The number of Tranche Two Shares and Tranche Three Shares shall be subject to adjustment as set forth on
Schedule 1.5(a)(i).
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(b) Closing Shares Adjustment Procedures.
(i) The Tranche Two Shares, as adjusted as provided in this Section, the other provisions of this Agreement
and Schedule 1.5(a)(i), will be released to the Sellers by the Escrow Agent as soon as practical after the First Adjustment Date (as
defined in Schedule 1.5(a)(i)), or sooner as provided in Schedule 1.5(a)(i). The Tranche Three Shares, as adjusted as provided in
this Section, the other provisions of this Agreement and Schedule 1.5(a)(i), will be released to the Sellers by the Escrow Agent as
soon as practical after the Second Adjustment Date (as defined in Schedule 1.5(a)(i)), or sooner as provided in Schedule 1.5(a)(i).
From time to time, as and when the Representative determines that any Strategic Objective (as defined in Schedule 1.5(a)(i)) has
been achieved, the Representative will deliver to Buyer a written notice so stating. Within fifteen (15) Business Days of the First
Adjustment Date, if Buyer determines that any Strategic Objective required to have been achieved on or before the First
Adjustment Date (other than any Strategic Objective that Buyer and Representative have previously agreed has been fully
achieved, or that is deemed to have been fully achieved as provided in this Section 1.5(b)) has not been achieved in full, Buyer will
deliver to the Representative a written notice so stating, which shall also set forth the amount of the applicable Closing Shares
adjustment pursuant to Schedule 1.5(a)(i) and a description in reasonable detail of the reasons for such adjustment. Within fifteen
(15) Business Days of the Second Adjustment Date, if Buyer determines that any Strategic Objective required to have been
achieved after the First Adjustment Date and on or before the Second Adjustment Date (other than any Strategic Objective that
Buyer and Representative have previously agreed has been fully achieved, or that is deemed to have been fully achieved as
provided in this Section 1.5(b)) has not been achieved in full, Buyer will deliver to the Representative a written notice so stating,
which shall also set forth the amount of the applicable Closing Shares adjustment and a description in reasonable detail of the
reasons for such adjustment. Each of the notices referred to in the preceding sentences is hereinafter referred to as an “Adjustment
Certificate.” If either party fails, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of an Adjustment Certificate, to deliver to the other party, a
written notice objecting to such Adjustment Certificate in reasonable detail setting forth such objecting party’s objections to the
Adjustment Certificate and, if applicable, such objecting party’s determination of the Closing Shares adjustment that should be
made with respect to the Strategic Objective(s) covered by such Adjustment Certificate (an “Adjustment Objection Notice”), then
such Adjustment Certificate, the Closing Shares adjustment set forth therein, if any, and the statements therein regarding
achievement or partial achievement of the Strategic Objective(s) covered by such Adjustment Certificate, will be deemed final and
binding on both Sellers and Buyer. If either party timely delivers an Adjustment Objection Notice, then the parties will attempt in
good faith to resolve the issues outstanding with respect to such Adjustment Certificate.
(ii) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event that there shall be a dispute among the
parties arising out of or relating to the Closing Shares adjustment, then such dispute shall be settled by final and binding arbitration
in Orange County, California in

6

accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules and Procedures of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Any
determination or award issued as a result of such arbitration shall be final and binding between the parties thereto, and shall be
enforceable by any court having jurisdiction over the party against whom enforcement is sought. The fees and expenses of such
arbitration (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) will be borne by the party delivering the Adjustment Objection Notice, unless it is
determined that the Adjustment Certificate being contested either overstated or understated the applicable Closing Shares
adjustment by at least twenty percent (20%), in which case such fees and disbursements will be borne exclusively by the party
delivering the Adjustment Certificate.
(c) Closing Shares Adjustment. The Closing Shares adjustment, if any, shall be effective upon the later of (i) the
earlier of the date that the applicable Adjustment Certificate is binding on Sellers and Buyer as a result of the operation of Section
1.5(a) or the party that received the applicable Adjustment Certificate gives notice to the other party that it has no objection to the
Adjustment Certificate, or (ii) if disputed pursuant to Section 1.5(b), upon final determination of the applicable Closing Shares
adjustment. Any Closing Shares subject to dispute shall remain in escrow until the applicable Closing Shares adjustment is
effective, and the balance of the Closing Shares will be released to Sellers in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
Buyer and the Sellers will cooperate in good faith in promptly providing joint instructions to the Escrow Agent regarding release to
Sellers of all or an appropriate portion Closing Shares, as adjusted in accordance with this Section, the other provisions of this
Agreement and Schedule 1.5(a)(i) as soon as practical following the First Adjustment Date, the Second Adjustment Date or upon
the occurrence of any other events requiring a release of the Closing Shares as set forth in Schedule 1.5(a)(i).
1.6 Withholding Tax. Buyer and the Company shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Purchase Price all Taxes
that Buyer and the Company may be required to deduct and withhold under any provisions of applicable Tax Laws. All such
withheld amounts shall be treated as delivered to Sellers hereunder.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONCERNING THE COMPANY AND THE SELLERS
Each Seller, severally and jointly, represents and warrants to Buyer that, except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule, the
statements contained in this ARTICLE II are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement, except to the extent such
representations and warranties are specifically made as of another date (in which case such representations and warranties will be
true and correct as of such date). The Disclosure Schedule shall be arranged in sections and subsections corresponding to the
numbered and lettered sections and subsections contained in this ARTICLE II. The disclosures in any section or subsection of the
Disclosure Schedule shall qualify any other
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sections and subsections in this ARTICLE II only to the extent it is reasonably apparent from a reading of the disclosure or through
written cross-reference that such disclosure is applicable to such other sections and subsections.
2.1 Organization, Qualification and Corporate Power.
(d) The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the
State of California. The Company is duly qualified to conduct business and is in good standing under the Laws of each jurisdiction
listed in Section 2.1 of the Disclosure Schedule, which jurisdictions constitute the only jurisdictions in which the nature of the
Company’s business or the ownership or leasing of its properties requires such qualification, except for those jurisdictions in which
the failure to be so authorized, qualified or licensed would not result in a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company has all
requisite power and authority to carry on the business in which it is engaged and to own and use the properties owned and used by
it. The Company has furnished to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of the Company’s charter documents. Neither the
Company nor any Seller is in default under or in violation of any provision of its charter documents.
(e) The Company and each Seller has all necessary authority and legal capacity to enter into this Agreement and
execute and deliver each other agreement, instrument and document required hereby to be executed and delivered by it, to carry out
its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement has
been, and each agreement, instrument and document required hereby to be executed and delivered by each Seller at the Closing will
be, duly executed and delivered by each Seller, and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer and/or other
parties thereto) constitutes, or in the case of each agreement or instrument to be delivered at the Closing, will constitute, legal, valid
and binding obligations of each Seller and the Company, enforceable against each Seller and the Company in accordance with its
terms, subject as to enforcement, to (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium and other
similar Laws now or hereinafter in effect relating to or affecting the rights and remedies of creditors’ generally and (ii) general
principles of equity.
2.2 Capitalization.
(a)
The Company is authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of common stock, of which 8,700,000 shares are
designated “Series A Common Stock”, and 1,300,000 shares are designated “Series B Common Stock” (the “Company Shares”), of
which 5,231,250 shares of Series A Common Stock are issued and outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, and no shares of
Series B Common Stock are issued and outstanding. Each Seller is the sole owner, beneficially and of record, of the Company
Shares set forth opposite its name on Annex A, free and clear of all
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Security Interests. The Company has reserved 1,300,000 shares of Series B Common Stock for issuance under the Company Option
Plan (the “Option Pool”), as of the date of this Agreement, 620,723 shares of which were subject to Company Options that have
been cancelled and extinguished prior to the Closing. All of the issued and outstanding Company Shares are validly issued, fully
paid and nonassessable, and have been issued in compliance with all applicable Laws. Except for the Option Pool, no Company
Shares are held in treasury or are authorized or reserved for issuance. There are no accrued but unpaid dividends payable by the
Company on any Company Shares.
(b) Except for the Company Option Plan, the Company does not sponsor or maintain any stock option plan or any
other plan or agreement providing for any equity or equity-linked compensation to any Person. As of the Closing, there are no
outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, rights (including “phantom” stock rights), preemptive rights or other contracts,
commitments, understandings, plans or arrangements, including any right of first refusal or right of conversion or exchange under
any outstanding security, instrument or agreement, obligating the Company to issue or sell any shares of the Company or to grant,
extend or enter into any option with respect thereto, whether granted under the Company Option Plan, that certain Stock
Redemption Agreement dated December 23, 1996 by and among the Company and the Sellers, or otherwise.
(c) No Company Shares have been issued subject to a repurchase option on the part of the Company or repurchase
obligation of the Company, risk of forfeiture or other similar condition.
(d)
There are no preemptive rights or agreements, arrangements or understandings (written or oral) to issue
preemptive rights with respect to the issuance or sale of Company Shares created by statute or any agreement or other arrangement
(written or oral) to which the Company is a party or to which it is bound and there are no agreements, arrangements or
understandings (written or oral) to which the Company is a party pursuant to which the Company has the right to elect to satisfy
any Liability by issuing Company Shares or Equity Interests.
(e) The Company is not a party or subject to any agreement, arrangement or understanding (written or oral), and
there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding (written or oral) between or among any Persons which affects, restricts or
relates to voting, transfer of any Company Shares, giving of any written consent, or dividend right with respect to or the
transferability of any Company Shares, including any shareholder agreement, voting trust agreement or proxy. No debt securities of
the Company are issued and outstanding.
2.3 Noncontravention. Neither the execution and delivery by Sellers of this Agreement, nor the consummation by Sellers
of the transactions contemplated hereby, will (a) conflict with or violate any provision of the charter documents of the Company,
(b) require on the part of the
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Company or any Seller any notice to or filing with, or any permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any Governmental Entity,
except for any filing, Permit authorization, consent or approval, which, if not obtained or made would not have a Company
Material Adverse Effect, (c) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a
default under, result in the acceleration of obligations under, create in any party the right to terminate, modify or cancel, or require
any notice, consent or waiver under, any contract or instrument to which the Company or any Seller is a party or by which the
Company or any Seller is bound or to which any of their respective assets is subject, except for any conflict, breach, default,
acceleration, right to termination, modification, cancellation, notice, consent or waiver that would not have a Company Material
Adverse Effect, (d) result in the imposition of any Security Interest upon any assets of the Company, or (e) violate any order, writ,
injunction, decree, statute, rule or regulation applicable to any Seller or the Company.
2.4
Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in Section 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company does not have any
Subsidiaries. Other than the Subsidiaries, the Company has no direct or indirect stock or other equity or ownership interest
(whether controlling or not) in any corporation, association, partnership, joint venture or other entity. The Company owns of record
and beneficially all of the issued and outstanding membership interests of each Subsidiary free and clear of any Security Interest.
None of the Subsidiaries listed on Section 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, controls, directly or indirectly or has any direct or
indirect equity participation or similar interest (whether controlling or not) in any corporation, partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture, trust or other business association or entity.
2.5
Financial Statements. The Company has provided to Buyer, copies of which are attached to Section 2.5 of the
Disclosure Schedule, true and complete copies of the following consolidated financial statements of the Company (the “Financial
Statements”): (a) audited balance sheet and statement of income, change in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company as
of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 together with the auditor’s report thereon; (b)
unaudited balance sheet and statement of income, change in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company as of and for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012; and (c) unaudited balance sheet and statement of operations as of and for the period ended
July 31, 2013. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the
periods covered thereby, fairly present the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of the
respective dates thereof and for the periods referred to therein and are consistent with the books and records of the Company.
2.6 No Company Material Adverse Effect; Absence of Certain Changes. Since the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date,
(i) there has not been any Company Material Adverse Effect and to the Knowledge of the Company no event has occurred or
circumstance exists that may result in
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such a Company Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Company has operated its business only in the Ordinary Course of Business,
and, except as set forth on Section 2.6 of the Disclosure Schedule:
(a) the Company has not incurred any Debt;
(b) the Company has not made any acquisition (by merger, consolidation, or acquisition of stock or assets or
otherwise) of any other Person;
(c) the Company has not created any Security Interest on any of its assets, tangible or intangible;
(d) except for sales to customers of the Company’s products and services in the Ordinary Course of Business, the
Company has not sold, assigned or transferred any of its tangible assets;
(e) the Company has not entered into or amended any material Applicable Contract other than standard customer,
reseller and OEM agreements in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(f) the Company has not (i) entered into or amended any employment or severance or similar agreement with any
employee or any collective bargaining agreement, (ii) adopted or amended, or increased the payments to or benefits under, any
profit sharing, bonus, thrift, stock option, deferred compensation, savings, insurance, restricted stock, pension, retirement, or other
employee benefit plan for or with any of its directors, officers or employees or (iii) granted any increase in compensation payable
or to become payable or the benefits provided to its directors, officers or employees, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(g) the Company has not (i) made or changed any Tax election or (ii) made any material change in any method of
accounting or accounting practice used by it, other than any such changes required by GAAP;
(h) the Company has conducted and reflected in its books and records each transaction referenced in Section 2.26
of the Disclosure Schedule on an arm’s-length basis;
(i) there has not been any material casualty, loss, damage or destruction of Company property (whether or not
covered by insurance);
(j)
the Company has not made any single expenditure or commitment to purchase personal property or for
additions to property, plant and equipment in excess of $10,000;
(k) the Company has not issued, sold or otherwise disposed of any debenture, note, stock, or Equity Interest or
modified or amended any right of any holder thereof;
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(l)

the Company has not amended, terminated, waived, disposed of, or permitted to lapse, any material license or

Permit;
(m) there has not been any amendment to the charter documents of the Company; and
(n) the Company has not materially altered the nature of the Business or business plan.
2.7 Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as provided in Section 2.7 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has no Liability
(whether known or unknown, whether absolute or contingent, whether liquidated or unliquidated and whether due or to become
due), except for (a) Liabilities shown on the Most Recent Balance Sheet, (b) Liabilities which have arisen since the Most Recent
Balance Sheet Date in the Ordinary Course of Business and (c) contractual and other Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of
Business which are not required by GAAP to be reflected on a balance sheet or that would not otherwise be required to be disclosed
in the footnotes of the Company’s financial statements if such footnotes had been prepared.
2.8 Taxes.
(a) Except as provided in Section 2.8 of the Disclosure Schedule, (i) the Company has properly filed on a timely
basis all Tax Returns that it is and was required to file in respect of the Business, (ii) all such Tax Returns were true, correct and
complete and disclose all Taxes required to be paid in respect of the Business for the respective periods covered by such Tax
Returns; (iii) all such income Tax Returns have been examined by the relevant Governmental Entity or the period for assessment of
the Taxes in respect of which such Tax Returns were required to be filed has expired; (iv) the Company has properly paid on a
timely basis all Taxes in respect of the Business, whether or not shown on any of its Tax Returns, that were due and payable; (v) no
examination or audit of any such Tax Return by any Governmental Entity is currently in progress or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened or contemplated, and no Seller knows of any basis upon which a Tax deficiency or assessment in respect of
the Business could reasonably be expected to be asserted against the Company; (vi) the Company has not (A) waived any statute of
limitations with respect to Taxes in respect of the Business or agreed to extend the period for assessment or collection of any such
Taxes, (B) requested any extension of time within which to file any such Tax Return, which Tax Return has not yet been filed, or
(C) executed or filed any power of attorney relating to Taxes in respect of the Business with any Governmental Entity; (vii) all
monies that were required by Law to be withheld or collected (including from employees of the Business for income Taxes and
social security and other payroll Taxes) have been withheld or collected and, either paid on a timely basis to the appropriate
Governmental Entity, set aside in accounts for such purpose, or accrued, reserved against and entered upon the books of the
Business; (viii) the Company has
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complied with all information reporting and back-up withholding requirements including maintenance of the required records with
respect thereto, in connection with amounts paid to any employee, independent contractor, creditor or other third party; (ix) there
are no Security Interests or other encumbrances with respect to Taxes upon any of the assets or properties of the Company, other
than with respect to Taxes not yet due and payable; (x) the Company is not a party to any Tax litigation; (xi) the Company is not
and never has been a party to any specific transaction the main purpose of which has been to avoid, defer, or reduce Taxes; and (xii)
the Company is not and never has been a party to any transaction or agreement that is in conflict with the Tax rules on transfer
pricing in any relevant jurisdiction.
(b) The Company has delivered or made available to Buyer (i) complete and correct copies of all income Tax
Returns relating to Taxes in respect of the Business for all Taxable periods for which the applicable statute of limitations has not yet
expired, and (ii) complete and correct copies of all private letter rulings, revenue agent reports, information document requests,
notices of proposed deficiencies, deficiency notices, protests, petitions, closing agreements, settlement agreements, pending ruling
requests and any similar documents submitted by, received by or agreed to by or on behalf of the Company relating to Taxes in
respect of the Business for all Taxable periods for which the applicable statute of limitations has not yet expired. The Company has
delivered or made available to Buyer complete and correct copies of all other Tax Returns of the Company relating to Taxes for all
Taxable periods for which the applicable statute of limitations has not yet expired.
(c) No transaction contemplated by this Agreement is subject to withholding under Section 1445 of the Code, and
no sales Taxes, use Taxes, real estate transfer Taxes or other similar Taxes will be imposed on the transfer of the Purchased Shares
pursuant to this Agreement.
(d) Section 2.8(d) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth each jurisdiction (other than United States federal) in which
the Company files, or, is required to file or has been required to file a Tax Return or is or has been liable for Taxes on a “nexus”
basis and each jurisdiction that has sent notices or communications of any kind requesting information relating to the Company’s or
any Seller’s nexus with such jurisdiction.
(e) The Company has made (i) a valid election to be treated as an “S corporation,” as that term is defined in
Section 1361(a) of the Code, for federal income tax purposes for all taxable periods since formation through the Closing Date and
(ii) a similar valid election under the laws of each jurisdiction, as applicable, in which the Company is obligated to file income or
franchise Tax Returns or any other applicable jurisdiction. All such elections are currently and have since formation, been in effect
and the Company has made available to Buyer a complete and accurate copy of the Internal Revenue Service letter of acceptance
for such federal election currently in effect. The Company is not nor could be subject to the provisions of Section 1374 of the Code.
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2.9 Assets.
(a) Except as set forth in Section 2.9(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company is the true and lawful owner, and
has good title to, all personal property and other assets reflected in the Financial Statements or acquired after the Most Recent
Balance Sheet Date, free and clear of all Security Interests. The Company owns or leases all tangible assets sufficient for the
conduct of the Business as presently conducted. Each such tangible asset is free from material defects, has been maintained in
accordance with normal industry practice, is in good operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear) and is safe
and suitable for the purposes for which it presently is used and contemplated to be used per such business plan.
(b)
Section 2.9(b) of the Disclosure Schedule lists (i) all fixed assets (within the meaning of GAAP) of the
Company as of the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date having a book value greater than $5,000, indicating the cost, accumulated
book depreciation (if any) and the net book value of each such fixed asset as of the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date, (ii) all other
assets of a tangible nature (other than inventory) of the Company as of the Most Recent Balance Sheet Date whose book value
exceeds $5,000, (iii) all fixed assets (within the meaning of GAAP) relating to the Business owned by any of the Sellers.
(c) Each item of equipment, motor vehicle and other asset that the Company has possession of pursuant to a lease
agreement or other contractual arrangement is in such condition that, upon its return to its lessor or owner under the applicable
lease or contract, the obligations of the Company to such lessor or owner to maintain such item will have been discharged in full
and no additional amounts will be due and owing thereunder.
2.10
Facilities. Section 2.10 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth all plants, offices, manufacturing facilities, stores,
warehouses, administration buildings and all real property and related facilities used in the Business (the “Facilities”).
2.11 Real Property.
(a) Owned Real Property. The Company does not own, directly or indirectly, any interest in any real property.
(b) Actions. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened condemnation proceedings or
other Actions relating to any Leased Real Property.
(c)
Leases or Other Agreements. Except for the Facility Leases listed on Section 2.11(c) of the Disclosure
Schedule, there are no leases, subleases, licenses, occupancy agreements, options, rights, concessions or other agreements or
arrangements, written or oral, granting to any Person the right to purchase, use or occupy any Leased Real Property.
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(d)
Facility Leases and Leased Real Property. With respect to each Facility Lease, the Company has an
unencumbered interest in the Leasehold Estate. The Company enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession of all the Leased Real
Property.
(e)
Utilities. All Leased Real Property is supplied with utilities (including without limitation water, sewage,
disposal, electricity, gas and telephone) and other services necessary for the operation of such Leased Real Property as currently
operated, and to the Company’s Knowledge there is no condition which would reasonably he expected to result in the termination
of the present access from any Leased Real Property to such utility services.
(f) Improvements, Fixtures and Equipment. All Leasehold Improvements, and all Fixtures and Equipment and
other tangible assets owned, leased or used by the Company at the Facilities are (i) insured pursuant to policies, each of which have
been provided to Buyer and are set forth in Section 2.16 of the Disclosure Schedule, (ii) to the Knowledge of the Company,
structurally sound with no known material defects, (ii) in good operating condition and repair, subject to ordinary wear and tear,
(iii) not in need of maintenance, repair or correction except for ordinary routine maintenance and repair, (iv) sufficient for the
operation of the Business as presently conducted and (v) in conformity with all applicable rules and regulations.
(g)
No Special Assessment. The Company has not received notice of any special assessment relating to any
Facility or any portion thereof.
2.12 Intellectual Property.
(a)
Section 2.12(a) of the Disclosure Schedule lists (i) each patent, patent application, copyright registration or
application therefor, and trademark, service mark and domain name registration or application therefor of the Business, and (ii)
each Customer Deliverable of the Business offered as of the date of this Agreement. In connection with each patent asset (patent or
patent application) listed in Section 2.12(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company represents and warrants that (i) the Company
is the sole owner of the patent asset, (ii) the Company has fully complied with the duty to disclose material information to the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office, (iii) to the Knowledge of the Company, the correct individual or individuals are listed as the
inventors, (iv) the Company and Sellers have not received any third party communication that challenges the ownership, validity or
enforceability of the patent asset, (v) the Company and Sellers have not filed, and do not own, any related patents or patent
applications that have not been disclosed to Buyer, and (vi) the patent asset has not been licensed to a third party. The Sellers
further represent and warrant that: (i) to the Knowledge of the Company, each issued patent listed in Section 2.12(a) of the
Disclosure Schedule is valid and enforceable, (ii) to the Knowledge of the Company, no Customer Deliverable infringes any third
party patent or other intellectual property right, (iii) they are not aware of any third party patent that covers, or has been alleged to
cover, any Customer Deliverable,
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(iv) the Company owns all copyrights in the Customer Deliverables, and (v) the Company is the sole owner of the trademark
registrations and trademark applications listed in Section 2.12(a) of the Disclosure Schedule.
(b) The Company has the right to all Company Intellectual Property necessary (i) to use, sell, market and distribute
the Customer Deliverables and (ii) to operate the Business. Each item of Company Intellectual Property will be owned or available
for use by the Company and Buyer immediately following the Closing on substantially identical terms and conditions as it was
owned or available for use by the Company immediately prior to the Closing, except as described in Section 2.12(b) of the
Disclosure Schedule. No current or former employee of the Company has any claim or right in or to the Company Intellectual
Property. No other Person has any rights to any Company Intellectual Property owned by the Company (except pursuant to
agreements or licenses specified in Section 2.12(d) of the Disclosure Schedule or standard customer, reseller and OEM contracts
and licenses entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business), and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no other Person is
infringing, violating or misappropriating any of the Company Intellectual Property, except as described in Section 2.12(b) of the
Disclosure Schedule.
(c)
None of the Company Intellectual Property, Customer Deliverables, or the sale, marketing, distribution,
provision or use thereof, infringes or violates, or constitutes a misappropriation of, any Intellectual Property rights of any Person.
Section 2.12(c) of the Disclosure Schedule lists any complaint, claim or notice, or threat thereof, received by the Company alleging
any infringement, violation or misappropriation; and the Company has provided to Buyer complete access to all written
documentation in the possession of the Company relating to any such complaint, claim, notice or threat. The Company has
provided to Buyer complete access to all written documentation relating to claims or disputes to the Knowledge of the Company,
concerning any Company Intellectual Property.
(d) Section 2.12(d) of the Disclosure Schedule identifies each license or other agreement pursuant to which the
Company has licensed, distributed or otherwise granted any rights to any third party with respect to, any Company Intellectual
Property or any Intellectual Property owned by a party other than the Company, except for standard customer, reseller and OEM
contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business. Except as described in Section 2.12(d) of the Disclosure Schedule, the
Company has not agreed to indemnify any Person against any infringement, violation or misappropriation of any Intellectual
Property rights with respect to any Customer Deliverables, except for standard customer, reseller and OEM contracts entered into in
the Ordinary Course of Business. The Company is not, nor will it be as a result of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or
the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, in breach of any license, sublicense or other agreement relating to
Company Intellectual Property.
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(e)
Section 2.12(e) of the Disclosure Schedule identifies each item of Intellectual Property used or possessed by
the Company that is owned by a party other than the Company, and the license or agreement pursuant to which the Company uses it
(excluding off-the-shelf software programs licensed by or to the Company pursuant to nonnegotiable standard form, mass market or
“shrink wrap” licenses).
(f) Except as set forth in Section 2.12(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of the Company, all of the
copyrightable materials (but excluding materials created, developed or otherwise provided by a third party) embedded in, or
integrated in, incorporated in or bundled with the Customer Deliverables have been created by employees of the Company within
the scope of their employment by the Company, or by independent contractors of the Company who have executed agreements
expressly assigning all right, title and interest in such copyrightable materials to the Company. Except as set forth in Section 2.12(f)
of the Disclosure Schedule, no portion of such copyrightable materials was jointly developed with any third party (other than
independent contractors of the Company who have executed agreements expressly assigning all right, title and interest in such
copyrightable materials to the Company).
(g)
Except as set forth in Section 2.12(g) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Customer Deliverables, the Internal
Systems, and the Company Intellectual Property do not contain any “Easter egg,” “back door,” time bomb,” “Trojan Horse,”
“worm,” “drop dead device,” “virus” (as these terms are commonly used in the computer software field) or other software routines
designed to permit unauthorized access, to disable or erase software, hardware, or data, or to perform any other similar type of
function.
(h) The Internal Systems, Customer Deliverables, and the Company Intellectual Property currently used by the
Company to provide products and services to its customers (i) are fully adequate for the Business, (ii) meet all of the requirements
of customers under the customer contracts of the Company, and (iii) will meet or are capable of being scaled to meet, all of the
requirements of customers under the customer contracts, including increased volume requirements.
(i)
The Company has maintained object code and source code sufficient to fully and accurately explain the
functioning of the Internal Systems, Customer Deliverables, and the Company Intellectual Property and to allow a reasonably
skilled programmer to fully and satisfactorily use it in the manner intended without reliance on the knowledge or memory of any
Person.
(j) Section 2.12(j) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all Public Software that has been used with or incorporated in
the Internal Systems, Customer Deliverables, and the Company Intellectual Property, their corresponding licenses, and how the
Public Software is used, including whether the Public Software is linked to the Company Intellectual Property (including by
dynamic
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linking). In addition, the Internal Systems, Customer Deliverables, and the Company Intellectual Property do not contain, use or
link with any Public Software code that requires the disclosure or distribution of all or a portion of the non-Public-Software source
code for any Internal Systems, Customer Deliverables or the Company Intellectual Property or requires the distribution of any
Internal Systems, Customer Deliverables, or the Company Intellectual Property without charge to third parties, except for
publishing minor modifications to the Public Software itself that do not contain the Company Intellectual Property.
(k)
To the Knowledge of the Company, the Data Rights and information used by the Company in providing
Customer Deliverables, in keeping track of the financial and business relationships between the Company and customers and in
managing the Business (collectively, the “Data”) (i) does not violate the privacy rights of any Person, (ii) does not infringe upon,
misappropriate, conflict with or violate the Intellectual Property rights of any Person, (iii) was collected and acquired in accordance
with all applicable Laws and agreements, and (iv) when used by the Company, in the manner in which the Data was used prior to
the date hereof, does not violate any applicable Law or agreement. The Company has taken all commercially reasonable steps to
maintain the confidentiality and proprietary nature of the Data.
2.13 Contracts.
(a) Section 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule lists the following Applicable Contracts (written or oral) to which the
Company is a party as of the date of this Agreement:
(i) any Applicable Contract for the lease of personal property from or to third parties providing for lease
payments in excess of $100,000 per annum or having a remaining term longer than six months;
(ii) any Applicable Contract with software vendors, distributors or sales agents allowing for the resale,
marketing or distribution of the Company’s services of products;
(iii) any Applicable Contract containing covenants restraining or limiting the freedom of the Company to
engage in any line of business or compete with any Person including, without limitation, by restraining or limiting the right to
solicit customers or that could reasonably be expected, following the Closing, to restrain or limit the freedom of Buyer or any
Affiliate thereof to engage in any line of business or compete with any Person;
(iv) any Applicable Contract containing a right of first refusal;
(v) any Applicable Contract that is terminable upon or prohibits a change in ownership or control of the
Company, or that requires consent in connection with a change in ownership or control of the Company;
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(vi) any Applicable Contract that provides for the Company to be the exclusive or a preferred provider of
any product or service to any Person or the exclusive or a preferred recipient of any product or service of any Person during any
period of time or that otherwise involves the granting by any Person to the Company of exclusive or preferred rights of any kind;
(vii) any Applicable Contract with any of the Company’s twenty-five (25) largest customers (measured by
billings during the twelve month period ended July 31, 2013);
(viii) any Applicable Contract in which the Company has granted “most favored nation” or similar pricing
provisions or exclusive marketing or distribution rights relating to any products or territory;
(ix) any Applicable Contract under which it has created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed (or may create,
incur, assume or guarantee) Debt or under which it has imposed (or may impose) a Security Interest on any of its assets, tangible or
intangible;
(x) any Applicable Contract for the disposition of any significant portion of the assets or business of the
Company (other than sales of products in the Ordinary Course of Business) or any agreement for the acquisition of the assets or
business of any other entity (other than purchases of inventory or components in the Ordinary Course of Business);
(xi) any employment or consulting Applicable Contract;
(xii)
any Applicable Contract involving any current or former officer, director or shareholder of the
Company or an Affiliate thereof;
(xiii) any Applicable Contract that, by its terms binds Affiliates of the Company or will bind Affiliates of
the Company after the Closing;
(xiv) any Applicable Contract which contains any provisions requiring the Company to indemnify any
other party (excluding indemnities, which are contained in the Company’s standard agreements for the purchase, sale or license of
products or services entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business);
(xv) any other Applicable Contract (other than customer contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of
Business) requiring payments to or by the Company of more than $75,000.
(b) The Company has made available to Buyer a complete and accurate copy of each Applicable Contract listed in
Section 2.12 or Section 2.13 of the Disclosure Schedule, or with respect to each such unwritten Applicable Contract, the Company
has provided a detailed description of the terms of such unwritten Applicable Contract. With respect to each Applicable Contract so
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listed: (i) the Applicable Contract is legal, valid, binding and enforceable and in full force and effect; (ii) the Applicable Contract
will continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable and in full force and effect immediately following the Closing in
accordance with the terms thereof as in effect immediately prior to the Closing; (iii) except as set forth on Section 2.13(b)(iii) of the
Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party, is in breach or violation of, or
default under, any material provision of such Applicable Contract, and no event has occurred, is pending or, to the Knowledge of
the Company, is threatened, which, after the giving of notice, with lapse of time, or otherwise, would constitute a breach or default
of any material provision of such Applicable Contract by the Company or, to the Knowledge of the Company, of any other party
under such Applicable Contract and (iv) except as set forth on Section 2.13(b)(iv) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has
fully satisfied all performance obligations under the Applicable Contract, except for performance obligations which are, under the
terms of the Applicable Contract, to be provided in the future.
2.14
Accounts Receivable. Except as set forth in Section 2.14 of the Disclosure Schedule, each and all Accounts
Receivable of the Company reflected on the Most Recent Balance Sheet (other than those paid since such date), and net of the
allowance for doubtful accounts reflected in the Most Recent Balance Sheet, are valid receivables enforceable and fully collectible
within ninety (90) days of the Closing Date, free and clear of any Action, right of setoff or other dispute, demand or future
obligation of any nature whatsoever. The Company has not received any written notice from an account debtor stating that any
Account Receivable is subject to any Action, contest or setoff by such account debtor.
2.15 Powers of Attorney. Except as set forth in Section 2.15 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no outstanding powers
of attorney executed on behalf of the Company.
2.16 Insurance. Section 2.16 of the Disclosure Schedule lists each insurance policy (including fire, theft/crime, casualty,
comprehensive general liability, workers compensation, business interruption, environmental, errors and omissions, directors and
officers fiduciary liability, employment practices liability, product liability and automobile insurance policies and bond and surety
arrangements) to which the Company is a party, all of which are in full force and effect including the name of the insurer, policy
numbers and whether such policy is a claims-made or occurrence policy. Except as set forth in Section 2.16 of the Disclosure
Schedule, there is no claim pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any existing facts which are reasonably likely to result
in a claim under any such policy, and if any of the foregoing have been disclosed, no such claim or existing facts were questioned,
denied or disputed by the underwriter of such policy. All premiums due and payable under all such policies have been paid. The
Company has not been denied insurance coverage at any time during the past five (5) years and no policies have been cancelled or
have been refused to be renewed by the insurer in the past five (5) years except as set forth in Section 2.16 of the Disclosure
Schedule. To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no
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threatened terminations of, or premium increases with respect to, any such policy except as set forth in Section 2.16 of the
Disclosure Schedule. Each such policy will continue to be enforceable and in full force and effect immediately following the
Closing in accordance with the terms thereof as in effect immediately prior to the Closing. The Company has not failed to timely
give any notice required or failed to satisfy any subjectivities under such insurance policies or binders of insurance.
2.17
Litigation. Except as set forth in Section 2.17 of the Disclosure Schedule, there is no Action by or against the
Company or any Seller that may affect the Business or would affect the legality, validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any
agreement, instrument or document required hereby to be delivered, the timely consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby or thereby, or the timely performance of Sellers’ obligations hereunder or thereunder or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
has been threatened against the Company or that may affect the Business, and to the Knowledge of the Company no event has
occurred or circumstance exists that would be reasonably likely to give rise to or serve as the basis for any such Action. There are
no material judgments, orders or decrees outstanding against the Company.
2.18 Warranties.
(a) Except as set forth in Section 2.18 of the Disclosure Schedule, no Customer Deliverable is subject to any
guaranty, warranty, right of credit or other indemnity (except under standard customer, reseller and OEM contracts, entered into in
the Ordinary Course of Business). Section 2.18 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the aggregate expenses incurred by the
Company in fulfilling its obligations under its guaranty, warranty, right of credit and other indemnity provisions during each of the
fiscal years and the interim period covered by the Financial Statements; and to the Knowledge of the Company, there is no reason
why such expenses should significantly increase as a percentage of sales in the future.
(b) The Company has no Liability (and there is no known basis for any present or future action, suit, proceeding,
hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim or demand giving rise to any Liability) arising out of any injury to individuals or
property as a result of the ownership, possession, or use of any product manufactured, sold, leased or delivered by the Company.
2.19 Employees.
(a) Section 2.19 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all employees of the Company as of the date of this
Agreement, along with the position and the annual rate (or hourly rate, where applicable) of compensation of each such Person.
(b) The Company is not bound by any collective bargaining agreement, and has not experienced any strikes,
grievances, claims of unfair labor practices or other collective bargaining disputes. The Company has never committed any unfair
labor practice. To the

21

Knowledge of the Company, there are no organizational efforts made or threatened, either currently or within the past three (3)
years, by or on behalf of any labor union with respect to employees of the Business.
(c) All employee expenses and benefits shall have been accrued on the accounting books and records of the
Company for all periods prior to and up through the Closing Date.
(d) To the Knowledge of the Company, no officer, key employee or group of employees of the Business has any
plans to terminate employment with the Company.
2.20 Employee Benefits.
(a)
Section 2.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all Company Plans.
Complete and accurate copies of documents embodying each of the Company Plans and related plan documents including (without
limitation) plan documents, trust documents, group annuity contracts, plan amendments, insurance policies or contracts, participant
agreements, employee booklets, administrative service agreements, summary plan descriptions, plan summaries or descriptions,
minutes, resolutions, compliance and nondiscrimination tests for the last three (3) plan years, standard COBRA forms and related
notices, registration statements and prospectuses, and, to the extent still in its possession, any material employee communications
relating thereto, have been provided to Buyer. With respect to each Company Plan which is subject to ERISA reporting
requirements, the Company has provided copies of the Form 5500 reports and any applicable financial statements, including
schedules and reports filed for the last five (5) years. The Company has furnished Buyer with the most recent Internal Revenue
Service determination or opinion letter issued with respect to each such Company Plan which is intended to be a qualified plan as
described in Code Section 401(a), and nothing has occurred since the issuance of each such letter which could reasonably be
expected to cause the loss of tax-qualified status of any Company Plan subject to Code Section 401(a).
(b)
Each Company Plan has been administered in accordance with its terms and in compliance with the
requirements prescribed by any and all statutes, rules and regulations (including ERISA and the Code), except as would not have,
in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, and the Company, and the ERISA Affiliates have performed all material
obligations required to be performed by them under, and are not in material default or violation by any other party to, any Company
Plan and all required contributions required to be made by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate to any Company Plan have been
made. All filings and reports as to each Company Plan subject to ERISA have prepared in good faith and timely filed, all requisite
governmental reports (which were true and correct as of the date filed) have prepared in good faith and timely filed and the
Company has properly and timely filed and distributed or posted all notices
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and reports to employees or participants in the Company Plans required to be filed, distributed or posted. There has been no
“prohibited transaction,” as such term is defined in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, with respect to any
Company Plan and neither the Company or any ERISA Affiliate is subject to any Liability or penalty under Sections 4976 through
4980 of the Code or Title I of ERISA with respect to any Company Plan. With respect to each Company Plan no “reportable event”
within the meaning of Section 4043 of ERISA (excluding any such event for which the thirty (30) day notice requirement has been
waived under the regulations to Section 4043 of ERISA) nor any event described in Section 4062, 4063 or 4041 of ERISA has
occurred. No Company Plan has assets that include securities issued by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate and no Company Plan
constitutes a security which is required to be registered under applicable state or federal securities Laws. There has been no
amendment to, written interpretation or announcement by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate above the level of expense incurred
with respect to that Plan for the most recent fiscal year included in the Company’s financial statements.
(c) No suit, investigation, audit, administrative proceeding or Action (except claims for benefits payable in the
normal operation of the Company Plans and proceedings with respect to qualified domestic relations orders) has been brought, or to
the Knowledge of the Company is threatened, against or with respect to any Company Plan or asserting any rights or claims to
benefits under any Company Plan, including audit or inquiry by the Internal Revenue Service or United States Department of
Labor.
(d) With respect to all Company Plans that are intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, the
Company has either obtained and is entitled to rely on determination letters from the Internal Revenue Service to the effect that
such Company Plans are qualified under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code, including all amendments to the Code which are
currently effective and the plans and the trusts related thereto are exempt from federal income taxes under Sections 401(a) and
501(a), respectively, of the Code, or the Company has time remaining to apply under applicable Treasury Regulations or Internal
Revenue Service pronouncements for a determination letter or opinion letter and no act or omission has occurred, that would
adversely affect its qualification or materially increase its cost. Each Company Plan that is required to satisfy Section 401(k)(3) or
Section 401(m)(2) of the Code has been tested for compliance with, and satisfies the requirements of Section 401(k)(3) and Section
401(m)(2) of the Code for each plan year ending prior to the Closing Date.
(e) The Company has not nor has any ERISA Affiliate ever maintained, established, sponsored, participated in,
contributed to, or is obligated to contribute to, or otherwise incurred any Liability (including, without limitation, any contingent
Liability) under any “multiemployer plan” as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA or to any “pension plan” (as defined in Section
3(2) of ERISA) subject to Section 412 of the Code or Title IV of ERISA. Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has any
actual or potential withdrawal Liability (including,
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without limitation, any contingent Liability) from any complete or partial withdrawal (as defined in Sections 4203 and 4205 of
ERISA) from any multiemployer plan.
(f) With respect to each Company Plan, the Company and each of its ERISA Affiliates have complied with (i) the
applicable healthcare continuation and notice provisions of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985
(“COBRA”) and the regulations thereunder or any state Law governing health care coverage extension or continuation; (ii) the
applicable requirements of the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993 and the regulations thereunder; (iii) the applicable requirements
of HIPAA; (iv) the applicable requirements of the Cancer Rights Act of 1998 and the Newborn and Mother’s Health Protection Act
of 1996; and (v) the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and related statutes and regulations.. The Company has no material
unsatisfied obligations to any employees, former employees, or qualified beneficiaries pursuant to COBRA, HIPAA, or any state
Law governing health care coverage extension or continuation.
(g)
There are no unfunded obligations under any Company Plan providing benefits after termination of
employment to any employee of the Company (or to any beneficiary of any such employee), including but not limited to retiree
health coverage or other retiree welfare benefits and deferred compensation, but excluding continuation of health coverage required
to be continued under Section 4980B of the Code or other applicable Law and insurance conversion privileges under state Law. The
assets of each Company Plan that is funded are reported at their fair market value on the books and records of such Company Plan.
(h) No act or omission has occurred and no condition exists with respect to any Company Plan that would subject
the Company or any ERISA Affiliate to (i) any material fine, penalty, tax or Liability of any kind imposed under ERISA or the
Code or (ii) any contractual indemnification or contribution obligation protecting any fiduciary, insurer or service provider with
respect to any Company Plan.
(i) No Company Plan is funded by, associated with or related to a “voluntary employee’s beneficiary association”
within the meaning of Section 501(c)(9) of the Code.
(j) Each Company Plan may be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued unilaterally by the Company at any
time without Liability or expense to the, Company (or after the Closing Date, Buyer) or such Company Plan as a result thereof
(other than for benefits accrued through the date of termination or amendment and reasonable administrative expenses related
thereto) and no Company Plan, plan documentation or agreement, summary plan description or other written communication
distributed generally to employees by its terms prohibits the Company from amending, terminating or otherwise discontinuing any
such Company Plan.
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(k)
Section 2.20(k) of the Disclosure Schedule discloses each: (i) agreement with any shareholder, director,
executive officer or other key employee of the Company (A) the benefits of which are contingent, or the terms of which are altered,
upon the occurrence of a transaction involving the Company of the nature of any of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, (B) providing any term of employment or compensation guarantee or (C) providing severance benefits or other benefits
after the termination of employment of such director, executive officer or key employee; (ii) agreement, plan or arrangement under
which any Person may receive payments from the Company that may be subject to the tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or
included in the determination of such Person’s “parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Code (without regard to Sections
280G(b)(4) and 280G(b)(5) thereof); and (iii) agreement or plan binding the Company, including any stock option plan, stock
appreciation right plan, restricted stock plan, stock purchase plan, severance benefit plan or Company Plan, any of the benefits of
which will be increased, or the vesting of the benefits of which will be accelerated, by the occurrence of any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or the value of any of the benefits of which will be calculated on the basis of any of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Company Option Plan which is either exempt from Code Section 409A or is in
compliance with Code Section 409A.
(l)
Section 2.20(l) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the policy of the Company with respect to accrued
vacation, accrued sick time and earned time off and the amount of such Liabilities as of the date of this Agreement.
(m)
The Company has classified all individuals who perform services for the Company correctly under the
Company Plans, ERISA and the Code as common law employees, independent contractors, leased employees, and exempt or nonexempt employees.
(n) The Company has not engaged in any transaction with respect to any Company Plan that is the same as or
substantially similar to any transaction that the Internal Revenue Service has determined to be a tax avoidance transaction and has
identified as a listed transaction in published guidance under Section 1.6011-4(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations.
2.21 Environmental Matters.
(a) The Company has complied with all applicable Environmental Laws and Environmental Permits except for
violations of Environmental Laws that have not had and would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect. There is no pending,
or to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened civil or criminal litigation, written notice of violation, formal administrative
proceeding, or investigation, inquiry or information request by any Governmental Entity, relating to any Environmental Law and
Environmental Permits involving the Company or the Business. To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no pending or
threatened civil or criminal litigation, written
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notice of violation, formal administrative proceeding, or investigation, inquiry or information request by any Governmental Entity,
relating to any Environmental Law and Environmental Permits involving any Leased Real Property.
(b) The Company is not, and shall not be, subject to any environmental Liability of any solid or hazardous waste
transporter or treatment, storage or disposal facility that has been used by the Company.
(c) There has been no Release of any Hazardous Material on any of the Leased Real Property or on any property
formerly owned, leased, used or occupied by the Company.
(d) There are no Environmental Claims pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the
Company on any of the Leased Real Property and there are no circumstances that can reasonably be expected to form the basis of
any such Environmental Claim.
(e) To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no actual or alleged Liability, whether fixed or contingent, under
any Environmental Law.
2.22 Legal Compliance.
(a) The Company is currently conducting, and has at all times conducted, the Business in compliance with all
applicable Laws, except where the failure of compliance would not result in a Company Material Adverse Effect. Neither the
Company nor any Seller has received any notice or communication from any Governmental Entity or other third party alleging
noncompliance with any applicable Law.
(b)
The Company complies with and has implemented all such measures required for it to comply with all
applicable obligations of HIPAA and the regulations promulgated thereunder, including without limitation, the privacy and security
regulations (45 C.F.R. 160 and 164) and the transaction and code set regulations (45 C.F.R. 162) promulgated under HIPAA. With
respect to any HIPAA regulatory requirements, including any contractual privacy and security commitments for “Protected Health
Information” (as that term is defined in the HIPAA privacy and security regulations), for which the Company’s (including any
Affiliates) compliance with HIPAA is required (collectively, the “HIPAA Commitments”),
(i) the Company is in material compliance with the HIPAA Commitments;
(ii) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not violate any of the HIPAA Commitments;
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(iii) the Company has not received written inquiries from the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services or any other Governmental Entity regarding the Company’s compliance with the HIPAA Commitments; and
(iv) the HIPAA Commitments have not been rejected by any applicable certification organization which has
reviewed such HIPAA Commitments or to which any such HIPAA Commitment has been submitted.
2.23 Compliance with Healthcare Laws and Regulations.
(a) Without limiting the generality of Section 2.22 or any other representation or warranty made by the Company
herein, the Company is conducting and has conducted the Business and its operations in compliance with, and neither the Company
nor any of its officers, directors, employees (in their capacity as such) or any Seller has engaged in any activities prohibited under,
all applicable civil or criminal statutes, Laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of any federal, state, local or foreign Governmental
Entity with respect to regulatory matters relating to the provision, administration, and/or payment for healthcare products or
services (collectively, “Healthcare Laws”), including, without limitation, (i) rules and regulations governing the operation and
administration of Medicare, Medicaid, or other federal health care programs; (ii) 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7(b), commonly referred to as
the “Federal Anti-Kickback Statute,” (iii) 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn, commonly referred to as the “Stark Law,” (iv) 31 U.S.C. §§ 372933, commonly referred to as the “False Claims Act” and (v) rules and regulations of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
(b) Neither any Seller nor the Company has received any notice or communication from any Governmental Entity
alleging noncompliance with any Healthcare Laws. There is no civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, demand, claim,
complaint, hearing, investigation, notice, demand letter, warning letter, proceeding or request for information pending against the
Company and the Company has any Liability (whether actual or contingent) for failure to comply with any Healthcare Laws. To the
Knowledge of the Company, there is no act, omission, event or circumstance that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any
such action, suit, demand, claim, complaint, hearing, investigation, notice, demand letter, warning letter, proceeding or request for
information or any such Liability. There has not been any violation of any Healthcare Laws by the Company in its submissions or
reports to any Governmental Entity that could reasonably be expected to require investigation, corrective action or enforcement
action. There is no civil or criminal proceeding pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, relating to the Company
or any Company director, officer or employee that involves a matter within or related to Healthcare Laws.
(c) Any remuneration (including, without limitation, a “discount or reduction in price,” as referenced in 42 U.S.C.
§ 1320a-7b(b)(3)(A)) exchanged between the Company and its
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customers, contractors, or other entities with which it has a business relationship (together, “Trading Partners”) has at all times
complied with the requirements of applicable state and federal Medicaid and Medicare laws. No remuneration exchanged between
the Company and its Trading Partners has taken into account, either directly or indirectly, the volume or value of any referrals or
any other federal health care program business generated between the Company and such Trading Partners.
(d) Neither the Company nor any of its directors or officers, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of the
Company’s employees or Trading Partners has been debarred or subject to mandatory or permissive exclusion from participation in
Medicare, Medicaid, or any other federal or state healthcare program.
(e)
The Company has maintained all records required under any Healthcare Laws, except for any failure to
maintain records that would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
2.24 Customers and Suppliers. Section 2.24(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of (a) each customer of the
Company under contract as of July 31, 2013, (b) each supplier that is the sole supplier of any significant product or service to the
Company and (c) each strategic development partner or reseller of the Company. Except as set forth on Section 2.24(b) of the
Disclosure Schedule, no such customer, supplier, partner or reseller has ceased or materially altered its relationship with the
Company, nor do Sellers have any reason to believe, whether upon receipt of notice or otherwise, that any such customer, supplier,
partner or reseller may cease or materially alter such relationship. Except as set forth on Section 2.24(c) of the Disclosure Schedule,
the Company has fully satisfied all performance obligations under the Pfizer Agreement, including without limitation all
obligations to deliver software or technology developments, updates, upgrades, or enhancements to Pfizer.
2.25 Permits. Section 2.25 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all Permits issued to or held by the Company.
Such listed Permits are the only Permits that are required for the Company to conduct the Business as presently conducted. Each
such Permit is in full force and effect; the Company is in compliance with the terms of each such Permit; and, to the Knowledge of
the Company, no suspension or cancellation of such Permit is threatened. There is no basis for believing that such Permit will not
be renewable upon expiration. Each such Permit will continue in full force and effect immediately following the Closing.
2.26 Certain Business Relationships With Affiliates. Except as set forth in Section 2.26 of the Disclosure Schedule, no
Affiliate of the Company (a) owns any property or right, tangible or intangible, which is used in the Business, (b) has any claim or
cause of action against the Company, or (c) owes any money to, or is owed any money by, the Company. Section 2.26 of the
Disclosure Schedule describes any transactions or relationships between the Company and any Affiliate thereof

28

which occurred or have existed since the beginning of the time period covered by the Financial Statements.
2.27
Payments. The Company has not, directly or indirectly, paid or delivered any fee, commission or other sum of
money or item or property, however characterized, to any finder, agent, client, customer, supplier, government official or other
party, in the United States or any other country, which is, or may be with the passage of time or discovery, illegal under any federal,
state or local Laws of the United States or any other country having jurisdiction. The Company has at all times complied, and is in
compliance in all respects, with the applicable provisions of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, as amended, and other similar
domestic and foreign laws and regulations. The Company has not participated, directly or indirectly, in any boycotts or other
similar practices affecting any of its actual or potential customers. The Company has, at all times, done business in an open and
ethical manner.
2.28 Brokers’ Fees. Except as set forth in Section 2.28 of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company, any Seller nor
any other party with whom or for whom the Company or any Seller may have contracted has any liability or obligation to pay any
fees, commissions or any other amounts of any kind whatsoever to any broker, finder or agent with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.
2.29 Books and Records. The minute books and other similar records of the Company contain complete and accurate
records of all actions taken at any meetings of the Company’s shareholders and directors and of all written consents executed in lieu
of the holding of any such meeting. The books and records of the Company accurately reflect in all material respects the assets,
liabilities, business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company and have been maintained in accordance with
good business and bookkeeping practices. Section 2.29 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all accounts and safe deposit
boxes of the Company (including the name of each bank, trust company, savings institution, brokerage firm, mutual fund or other
financial institution with which the Company has an account or safe deposit box) and the names of persons having signature
authority with respect thereto or access thereto.
2.30 Closing Shares. Each Seller acknowledges its understanding that the issuance of the Closing Shares pursuant to this
Agreement is intended to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act and that Buyer’s reliance on such exemption is
predicated in part on the accuracy and completeness of the representations and warranties of each Seller contained herein. In
furtherance thereof, each Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as follows:
(a) Seller is acquiring Closing Shares hereunder solely for its own account and not with a view to, or for offer or
sale in connection with, any distribution thereof. Seller agrees and acknowledges that it will not, directly or indirectly, offer,
transfer, sell, assign, pledge,
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hypothecate or otherwise dispose of (hereinafter, “Transfer”) any of the Closing Shares acquired hereunder, except in compliance
with applicable securities laws.
(b) Seller is knowledgeable, sophisticated and experienced in business and financial matters and fully understands
the limitations on transfer imposed by the Federal securities laws and as described in the Agreement. Seller is able to bear the
economic risk of holding the Closing Shares for an indefinite period and is able to afford the complete loss of its investment in the
Closing Shares; Seller has received and reviewed all information and documents about or pertaining to Buyer, the business and
prospects of Buyer and the issuance of the Closing Shares, as Seller deems necessary or desirable, and has been given the
opportunity to obtain any additional information or documents and to ask questions and receive answers about such information
and documents, Buyer, the business and prospects of Buyer and the Closing Shares, which Seller deems necessary or desirable to
evaluate the merits and risks related to its investment in the Closing Shares. Seller has reviewed with its legal counsel and tax
advisors the forms of the organizational documents of Buyer.
(c) Seller acknowledges that it has been advised that (i) the Closing Shares issued pursuant to this Agreement are
“restricted securities” (unless registered in accordance with applicable U.S. securities laws) under applicable federal securities laws
and may be disposed of only pursuant to an effective registration statement or an exemption therefrom and Seller understands that
Buyer has no obligation to register Seller’s Closing Shares; accordingly, Seller may have to bear indefinitely the economic risks of
an investment in such Closing Shares, (ii) a restrictive legend in the form hereafter set forth shall be placed on any certificates
evidencing the Closing Shares, and (iii) a notation shall be made in the appropriate records of Buyer indicating that the Closing
Shares issued hereunder are subject to restrictions on transfer.
(d) Seller is an “accredited investor” (as such term is defined in Rule 501 (a) of Regulation D under the Securities
Act). Seller has previously provided Buyer with a duly executed Accredited Investor Questionnaire. No event or circumstance has
occurred since delivery of Seller’s Questionnaire to make the statements contained therein false or misleading.
(e) Each certificate evidencing the Closing Shares, if any, issued pursuant to this Agreement, unless registered in
accordance with applicable U.S. securities laws, shall bear the following legend:
The securities evidenced hereby have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), or the
securities laws of any state and may not be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of in the absence of such registration or
an exemption from such registration.
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2.31 Disclosure. No representation or warranty by any Seller contained in this Agreement, and no statement contained in
the Disclosure Schedule or the certificate to be delivered by the Sellers pursuant to Section 6.1(g), contains or will contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will omit to state any material fact necessary, in light of the circumstances under
which it was or will be made, in order to make the statements herein or therein not misleading.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER
Buyer represents and warrants to Sellers that the statements contained in this ARTICLE III are true and correct as of the
Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties are specifically made as of a particular date (in which case
such representations and warranties will be true and correct as of such date).
3.1 Organization and Corporate Power. Buyer is a California corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the Laws of the State of California. Buyer has all requisite power and authority to carry on the business in which it
is engaged and to own and use the properties owned and used by it.
3.2 Authorization of Transaction. Buyer has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, the
Escrow Agreement and the Employment Agreements and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution and
delivery by Buyer of this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and the Employment Agreements, and the consummation by Buyer of
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on the part of
Buyer. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Buyer and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of
Buyer, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms and conditions, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by
(i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium and other similar Laws relating to or affecting the
rights and remedies of creditors generally and (ii) general principles of equity. Each of the Escrow Agreement and the Employment
Agreements, when delivered by Buyer at the Closing, shall have been duly and validly executed and delivered by Buyer, and will
constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms and conditions,
except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by (A) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership,
moratorium and other similar Laws relating to or affecting the rights and remedies of creditors generally and (B) general principles
of equity
3.3 Noncontravention. Neither the execution and delivery by Buyer of this Agreement, nor the consummation by Buyer
of the transactions contemplated hereby, will (a) conflict with or violate any provision of the charter documents of Buyer,
(b) require on the part of Buyer any filing with, or Permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any Governmental Entity,
(c) conflict with,
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result in breach of, constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under, result in the acceleration of
obligations under, create in any party any right to terminate, modify or cancel, or require any notice, consent or waiver under, any
contract or instrument to which Buyer is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets are subject, except for (i) any
conflict, breach, default, acceleration, termination, modification or cancellation which would not adversely affect the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, or (ii) any notice, consent or waiver the absence of which would not
adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, or (d) violate any order, writ, injunction, decree,
statute, rule or regulation applicable to Buyer or any of its properties or assets.
3.4
Litigation. As of the date of this Agreement, there is no Action pending against or, to the knowledge of Buyer,
threatened against or affecting Buyer or any of its officers or directors in their capacity as officers or directors of Buyer before any
court or arbitrator or any Governmental Entity, agency or official, which in any manner challenges or seeks to prevent, enjoin, alter
or materially delay any of the transactions contemplated hereby.
3.5 Closing Shares.
(o) The Closing Shares issuable in accordance with the terms of this Agreement will be duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and not subject to preemptive or similar rights created by statute or any other agreement to
which Buyer is a party or by which Buyer is bound.
(p) Buyer has filed or otherwise furnished all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to
be filed by Buyer under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, including pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) thereof, for the two
years preceding the date hereof (the foregoing materials, including the exhibits thereto and documents incorporated by reference
therein, being collectively referred to herein as the “SEC Reports”) on a timely basis or has received a valid extension of such time
of filing and has filed any such SEC Reports prior to the expiration of any such extension. As of their respective dates, the SEC
Reports complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable, and none
of the SEC Reports, when filed, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading. The financial statements of Buyer included in the SEC Reports comply in all material respects with applicable
accounting requirements and the rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto as in effect at the time of filing.
(q) Buyer Shares are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) or 12(g) of the Exchange Act, and Buyer has taken no
action designed to, or which to its knowledge is likely to
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have the effect of, terminating the registration of Buyer Shares under the Exchange Act nor has Buyer received any notification that
the SEC is contemplating terminating such registration. Buyer has not, in the 12 months preceding the date hereof, received notice
from NASDAQ to the effect that Buyer is not in compliance with the listing or maintenance requirements thereof. Buyer is, and has
no reason to believe that it will not in the foreseeable future continue to be, in compliance with all such listing and maintenance
requirements.
ARTICLE IV
INTENTIONALLY OMITTED
ARTICLE V
INTENTIONALLY OMITTED
ARTICLE VI
CLOSING DELIVERIES
6.1

Deliveries by Sellers. At or prior to the Closing, each Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer:

(a) share certificates representing the Purchased Shares (or affidavits of lost certificates), duly endorsed in blank
for transfer, or accompanied by irrevocable stock powers duly executed in blank, in either case by the holders of such Purchased
Shares as set forth on Annex A;
(b) resignations from each director and officer of the Company and terminations of any employment agreements or
arrangements with the Company, effective as of the Closing;
(c) an Employment Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-1, A-2 or A-3, executed by each Seller, as
applicable (the “Employment Agreements”);
(d) the Escrow Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, executed by each Seller and the Escrow Agent;
(e) evidence (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer) that Seller has obtained at its own expense
all of the waivers, Permits, consents, approvals, novations or other authorizations whatsoever, and effected all of the registrations,
filings and notices which are required on the part of Seller or the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, the consents set forth in Section 2.3 of the Disclosure Schedule;
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(f) evidence (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer) that Sellers’ and the Company’s investment
bankers, attorneys and/or other advisors will be paid in full upon the payment of the Company Expenses, and that the Company has
no other Liability to any such parties for any costs related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
(g)
such other certificates and instruments (including certificates of good standing of the Company in its
jurisdiction of organization, certified charter documents, certificates as to the incumbency of officers and the adoption of
authorizing resolutions) as Buyer shall reasonably request in connection with the Closing.
6.2

Deliveries by Buyer. At or prior to the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Sellers:

(r) to each Seller, the portion of the Closing Cash Payment allocated to such Seller on Annex A by wire transfer to
such Seller at the account specified in writing to Buyer prior to the Closing;
(s) the Employment Agreements, executed by Buyer;
(t) the Escrow Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, executed by Buyer and the Escrow Agent;
(u) evidence (in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Sellers) that Buyer has issued to the Escrow Agent in
book entry form the Closing Shares;
(v) evidence (in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Sellers) that Buyer has paid the Company Expenses
set forth on Schedule 1.2(b); and
(w) such other certificates and instruments (including certificates as to the incumbency of officers and the adoption
of authorizing resolutions) as Sellers shall reasonably request in connection with the Closing.
ARTICLE VII
POST-CLOSING COVENANTS
7.1 Intentionally omitted.
7.2 Confidentiality and Noncompetition.
(a) Each Seller acknowledges that in his capacity as a sole shareholder, founder and executive officer of the
Company, such Seller has occupied positions of trust and confidence with respect to the Company. Each Seller therefore agrees not
to disclose to others or use, directly or indirectly, any Confidential Information regarding the Company, Buyer, the Business, or the
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prospective business of Buyer or the Company, except to the extent that such knowledge, information or documents shall have
become public knowledge other than through improper disclosure by such Seller. “Confidential Information” means all proprietary
and other information, documents, data and ideas, in whatever form, tangible or intangible, of, about, disclosed to, created by or
developed by the Company or the Business and not otherwise in the public domain, including without limitation, (i) all Company
Intellectual Property, (ii) information of, about, created by, disclosed to or developed by the clients, customers, suppliers and
vendors of the Company or the Business, (iii) information relating to the prospective business of the Company or Buyer and
(iv) any proprietary knowledge, trade secrets, data, formulae, specifications, pricing, information, plans (present and future),
strategies, marketing concepts and information, testing information and client and customer lists and all papers and other records
(including computer records) of the documents and other material containing such Confidential Information. Each Seller represents
and warrants to Buyer that, as of the Closing Date, such Seller has surrendered to Buyer all documents, work papers, lists,
memoranda, records, computer data and other data (including all copies) in such Seller’s possession constituting or pertaining in
any way to the Confidential Information. Each Seller acknowledges and agrees that such Confidential Information is specialized,
unique in nature and of great value to Buyer and the Business and that such information gives Buyer and the Business a
competitive advantage.
(b) Each Seller hereby covenants and agrees that, during a period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the
earlier of the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Closing Date and the date on which the Company or its successor(s) cease to operate a
business that would compete in any manner with the Business (the “Covenant Period”), he shall not, directly or indirectly, own,
manage, operate or control, or engage, join or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of, or furnish any
capital or loans to or be connected in any manner with, any Person or business that competes in any manner whatsoever with the
Business, or grant to any Person any right or license to use any Confidential Information or other intellectual property assets or
other Company Intellectual Property owned, held, possessed or used by Buyer in conducting the Business if such Confidential
Information, intellectual property or Company Intellectual Property may be used by such Person or business to compete in any
manner whatsoever with the Business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall prohibit or otherwise restrict such Seller
from (i) being employed or engaged by Buyer or any of Buyer’s Affiliates, or (ii) holding a passive investment in the equity
securities of any Person if such equity securities are registered under the Securities Act, provided that such equity investment does
not exceed two percent (2%) of the outstanding equity securities of such Person.
(c) During the Covenant Period, each Seller agrees that he shall not, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit any present or
former customers, clients or other Persons from whom the Company derived any revenue in the course of conducting the Business
prior to the Closing Date for the purpose of competing with the Business or (ii) solicit any customers, clients or other Persons from
whom the Business derives any revenue, on or after the Closing Date for the purpose of
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competing with the Business or (iii) otherwise interfere with the relationship between Buyer, on the one hand, and any customer,
clients, vendors of the Business, on the other hand.
(d) During the Covenant Period, each Seller agrees that he shall not (i) solicit or induce, directly or indirectly, any
employee or independent contractor of the Business to terminate his relationship with the Business, (ii) directly or indirectly, solicit
or contact for the purposes of offering employment or compensation to or cause any other Person to solicit or contact for the
purposes of offering employment or compensation to any employee or independent contractor of the Business or (iii) otherwise
interfere with the relationship between Buyer, on the one hand, and its employees, on the other hand, with respect to the Business;
provided, that this clause (d) shall not apply to any individual whose employment with the Buyer or the Business, as applicable, has
been terminated prior to such solicitation or contact by such Seller. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall prohibit or
otherwise restrict such Seller from making any general solicitation or offer of employment not directed at an employee or
independent contractor of the Buyer or the Business.
(e) Each Seller acknowledges and recognizes that the Business is and has been conducted throughout the United
States, that Buyer is investing substantial sums of money to acquire, maintain and develop the Business, that Buyer would not be
doing so but for the covenants contained in this Agreement, and that such covenants are necessary in order to protect and maintain
the proprietary interests, goodwill and other legitimate business interests of Buyer with respect to its purchase of the Business and
are reasonable in all respects. Consequently, each Seller acknowledges and agrees that the geographic scope of the covenant not to
compete shall extend to each state and foreign jurisdiction in which (i) the Company’s products and services are deployed, (ii) the
Company has a customer or (iii) the Company has operations or otherwise targets sales and marketing activities or conducts or has
plans to conduct business. Each Seller hereby further acknowledges that the geographic scope and duration of this covenant not to
compete is reasonable.
(f) If any court determines that any of the covenants or other provisions contained in this Section 7.2, or any part
thereof, is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of such covenants and this Agreement shall not thereby be affected and shall be
given full effect without regard to the invalid portions. If any court determines that any of the covenants contained in this Section
7.2, or any part thereof, are unenforceable because of the duration of such provision or the product or area covered thereby or for
any other reason, such court shall have the power and the Parties intend and desire that such court, and in connection with the
purchase and acquisition of the Purchased Shares Buyer is relying on such court to, exercise such power to reduce the duration or
coverage of such provision to the minimum extent necessary to render such provision enforceable, and in its reduced form, such
provision shall then be enforceable and shall be enforced.
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(g)
If the courts of any one or more of such jurisdictions holds such covenants or other provisions wholly
unenforceable by reason of the breadth of such scope or otherwise, it is the intention of each Party that such determination not bar
or in any way affect the rights of Buyer to relief in the courts of any other jurisdiction within the geographic scope of such
covenants or other provisions, as to breaches of such covenants or other provisions in any such other jurisdiction, such covenants or
other provisions as they relate to each jurisdiction and geographic location being, for this purpose, severable into diverse and
independent covenants and other provisions.
(h)
Each Seller hereby agrees that a violation or attempted or threatened violation of the covenants or other
provisions contained in this Section 7.2, or any part thereof, by such Seller will cause irreparable injury to Buyer with respect to the
Business for which money damages would be inadequate, and that Buyer shall be entitled, in addition to any other rights or
remedies they may have, whether in Law or in equity, to obtain an injunction, enjoining and restraining such Seller from violating
or attempting or threatening to violate any provision of this Agreement, including the covenants contained in this Section 7.2.
(i) For the avoidance of doubt, the covenants contained in this Section 7.2 are made by each Seller solely on behalf
of that Seller. In no event will any Seller have any liability or other obligation whatsoever to Buyer for any Damages incurred or
resulting from any breach by any other Seller of such other Seller’s covenants in this Section 7.2.
7.3 Transition. Sellers will not take any action that is designed or intended to have the effect of discouraging any lessor,
licensor, customer, supplier, or other business associate of the Business from maintaining the same business relationships with the
Business after the Closing as it maintained with the Business prior to the Closing.
7.4 Customer Retention. After the Closing, each Seller shall use his respective best efforts to retain all customers of the
Business and convert them to customers of Buyer.
7.5
Non-Disparagement. After the Closing, no Party shall make any public statements that disparage or reflect
unfavorably upon the image or reputation of any other Party or their respective Affiliates or the Business.
7.6 Pfizer Agreement
7.7 Further Assurances. In the case at any time after the Closing that any further action is reasonably necessary to carry
out the purposes of this Agreement, each Seller and Buyer shall take any such reasonably necessary action.
7.8 Sharing of Data. Sellers shall have the right, at their sole expense, exercisable by Sellers or their representatives, for a
period of seven (7) years following the Closing Date, to have
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reasonable access during normal business hours with reasonable notice and in a manner so as not to unreasonably interfere with the
normal business operations of the Company or Buyer to those books, records and accounts, including financial and accounting
records (including the work papers of the Company’s independent accountants), tax records, correspondence, production records,
employment records and other records of the Company prior to the Closing Date, to the extent that any of the foregoing is needed
by Sellers for the purpose of complying with Sellers’ obligations under applicable Laws, including but not limited to Laws
regarding Taxes. Neither Buyer nor Sellers shall destroy any such books, records or accounts retained by it without first providing
the other Party with the opportunity to obtain or copy such books, records, or accounts at such other Party’s expense.
7.9
Tail Insurance. In the event that on or before the date hereof, the Company elects to purchase a prepaid “tail”
insurance policy or policies on behalf of the Company or the Sellers, Buyer agrees not to amend or terminate such policy or
policies; provided that neither the Company nor Buyer shall be required to pay any premiums or other amounts in connection with
any such policy after the date hereof.
7.10 Cooperation in Litigation
ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION
8.1 Indemnification by Sellers. Subject to the other provisions of this ARTICLE VIII, each Seller, severally and jointly,
shall indemnify Buyer, its Affiliates and Subsidiaries, and each of their respective Representatives (each a “Buyer Indemnified
Party”) in respect of, and hold them harmless against any and all Damages (calculated in accordance with the other provisions of
this Article VIII) incurred, resulting from or constituting the matters set forth in this Section 8.1. In addition to the foregoing, and
not by way of limitation, Buyer’s right to indemnification hereunder shall not be affected by any investigation conducted by Buyer
or any of its Affiliates.
(j) Any breach of any representation or warranty of Sellers contained in this Agreement;
(k) Any failure to perform any covenant or agreement of Sellers contained in this Agreement (other than the
covenants contained in Section 7.2 and Section 8.2);
(l) Any failure of Sellers to have good, valid and marketable title to the Purchased Shares, free and clear of all
Security Interests; or
(m) Any claim by a holder or former holder of Equity Interests in, or Security Interest against, the Company, or any
other Person, seeking to assert, or based upon: (i) ownership
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or rights to ownership of any Equity Interests in or assets of, the Company which differ from those set forth herein; (ii) any rights
of an equity or security holder (other than the right to receive the Purchase Price pursuant to this Agreement), including any option,
preemptive rights or rights to notice or to vote; (iii) any rights under the charter documents of the Company; or (iv) any claim that
his, her or its Equity Interest in, or Security Interest against, the Company were wrongfully transferred by a Seller or transferred
without the payment of adequate consideration in accordance with applicable Law or contract.
8.2 Indemnification by Sellers with Respect to Section 7.2. Subject to the other provisions of this ARTICLE VIII, each
Seller, severally and not jointly, will indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties in respect of, and hold them harmless against any and
all Damages (calculated in accordance with the other provisions of this ARTICLE VIII) incurred resulting from any failure to
perform any covenant or agreement of such Seller contained in Section 7.2.
8.3
Indemnification by Buyer. Buyer shall indemnify Sellers in respect of, and hold it harmless against, any and all
Damages incurred or suffered by Sellers resulting from, relating to or constituting:
(d) any breach of any representation or warranty of Buyer contained in this Agreement; or
(e) any failure to perform any covenant or agreement of Buyer contained in this Agreement.
8.4 Indemnification Claims.
(a) If an Indemnified Party seeks indemnification under this ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX, or proposes to apply
any Damages to the Threshold, the Indemnified Party shall provide a Claim Notice to the Indemnified Party promptly after
discovering the Liability, obligation or facts giving rise to such claim for indemnification or such Damages; provided that any
failure to so notify or any delay in notifying the Indemnifying Party shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its or his obligations
hereunder except (A) as provided in Section 8.5, or (B) to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced by such
failure or delay. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of a Claim Notice, the Indemnifying Party shall deliver to the Indemnified
Party a Response, in which the Indemnifying Party shall: (i) agree that the Indemnified Party is entitled to receive all of the
Claimed Amount and/or apply all of the Claimed Amount to the Threshold; (ii) agree that the Indemnified Party is entitled to
receive the Agreed Amount or apply the Agreed Amount to the Threshold; or (iii) dispute that the Indemnified Party is entitled to
receive any of the Claimed Amount or apply any of the Claimed Amount to the Threshold. During the 30-day period following the
delivery of a Response that reflects a Dispute, the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party shall use good faith efforts to
resolve the Dispute. If the Dispute is not resolved
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within such 30-day period, such Dispute shall be resolved in a state or federal court sitting in Orange County, California.
(b) If an Indemnified Party seeks indemnification with respect to a Third Party Action, such Indemnified Party
shall promptly provide a Claim Notice to the Indemnifying Party after receiving written notice of such Third Party Action;
provided that any failure to so notify or any delay in notifying the Indemnifying Party shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its
or his obligations hereunder except (A) as provided in Section 8.5, or (B) to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by
such failure or delay. With respect to any Third Party Action which, if adversely determined, would entitle the Indemnified Party to
indemnification pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX, the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled, at its sole cost and
expense, (i) to participate in the defense of such Third Party Action or (ii) at its option (subject to the limitations set forth below), to
assume control and appoint lead counsel of such defense with counsel reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party; provided
that, as a condition precedent to the Indemnifying Party’s right to assume control of such defense, it must first notify the
Indemnified Party in writing within ten (10) days after the Indemnified Party has provided its Claim Notice of the Indemnifying
Party’s intent to (i) assume control of the defense of the Third Party Action and (ii) indemnify the Indemnified Party from and
against the entirety of any Damages (subject to the limitations set forth in this ARTICLE VIII) the Indemnified Party may suffer
resulting from, arising out of, in the nature of, or caused by the Third Party Action. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to assume control of such defense, if the Third Party Action which the Indemnifying
Party seeks to assume control (i) seeks non-monetary relief, (ii) involves criminal or quasi-criminal allegations, (iii) involves a
claim, which if adversely determined, would be reasonably expected, in the good faith judgment of the Indemnified Party, to
establish a precedent, custom or practice materially adverse to the continuing business interests or prospects of the Indemnified
Party or the Business (iv) involves a claim that, in the good faith judgment of the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party failed
or is failing to vigorously prosecute or defend or (v) involves a legal defense, that, based upon the written advice of legal counsel,
may be available to the Indemnified Party that is different from or additional to those available to the Indemnifying Party.
(c) If the Indemnifying Party is controlling the defense of any Third Party Action in accordance with Section
8.4(a), (i) the Indemnified Party shall nonetheless have the right to participate in the defense of such Third Party Action at the
Indemnified Party’s sole cost and expense, (ii) the Indemnifying Party will not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into
any settlement with respect to or cease to defend such Third Party Action without the prior written consent of the Indemnified
Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, provided that the Indemnified Party shall have no
obligation of any kind to consent to the entrance of any judgment or into any settlement unless such judgment or settlement (A) is
for only money damages and (B) would not be reasonably expected, in the good faith judgment of the Indemnified
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Party, to establish precedent, custom or practice materially adverse to the continuing business interests or prospects of the
Indemnified Party or the Business.
(d) In the event that either the Indemnifying Party does not elect to assume the control of the defense of a Third
Party Action pursuant to Section 8.4(a) or any of the conditions in Section 8.4(a) is or becomes unsatisfied, the Indemnified Party
(i) may defend against, and consent to the entry of judgment or enter into any settlement with respect to, the Third Party Action in
any manner it may deem appropriate, and (ii) will, at the Indemnifying Party’s request, keep the Indemnifying Party reasonably
informed with respect to the conduct of such defense and the resolution thereof, and promptly provide copies to the Indemnifying
Party of all communications between the Indemnified Party and its counsel on one hand and the person or entity asserting the Third
Party Action and its advisors on the other hand, and copies of all pleadings pertaining to the Third Party Action and the defense and
resolution thereof.
8.5
Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties that are covered by the
indemnification agreements in Section 8.1(a) and Section 8.3(a) shall survive the Closing Date by a period of eighteen (18) months
except for (i) the Sellers’ representations in Section 2.1 (Organization, Qualification and Corporate Power); Section 2.2
(Capitalization); Section 2.8; (Taxes); Section 2.17 (Litigation); and Brokers’ Fees (Section 2.28) (“Sellers Fundamental
Representations”) (ii) the Sellers’ representations in Sections 2.12(a),(b),(c),(f),(g) and (j), (Intellectual Property) and Section 2.20
(Employee Benefits) (“Sellers Key Representations”) and (iii) the Buyer Fundamental Representations, all of which shall survive
for their respective statute of limitations. The Buyer Fundamental Representations shall consist of Buyer’s representations and
warranties in Section 3.1 (Organization and Corporate Power); Section 3.2 (Authorization of Transaction) and Section 3.5 (Closing
Shares). If an Indemnified Party fails to deliver to an Indemnifying Party, before expiration of a representation or warranty, either a
Claim Notice based upon a breach of such representation or warranty, or an Expected Claim Notice based upon a breach of such
representation or warranty, before expiration of such representation or warranty, then the Indemnifying Party will have no
indemnification obligation with respect to such breach. If an Indemnified Party delivers to an Indemnifying Party, before expiration
of a representation or warranty, either a Claim Notice based upon a breach of such representation or warranty, or an Expected
Claim Notice based upon a breach of such representation or warranty, then the applicable representation or warranty shall survive
until, but only to the extent of, and for purposes of the resolution of, the specific matter covered by such notice. If the Action or
written claim with respect to which a Claim Notice or an Expected Claim Notice has been given is definitively withdrawn or
resolved, the Indemnified Party shall promptly so notify the Indemnifying Party.
8.6
Recourse First to Closing Shares. In the event that Sellers have any indemnification obligations under this
ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX, to the extent that there remains in escrow
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a sufficient number of Closing Shares greater in value than all outstanding indemnification obligations that at such time are not
subject to adjustment pursuant to Schedule 1.5(a)(i), such obligations shall first be satisfied, subject to the provisions of the Escrow
Agreement, against such Closing Shares, by cancellation and return to Buyer by the Escrow Agent of a number of such Closing
Shares equal in value to the indemnification obligation, which shares will be valued for such purpose at the closing price per share
of Buyer Shares as reported by NASDAQ (or, if no longer traded on such market, such other market or exchange as Buyer’s
common stock may be traded) as of the trading day immediately preceding such cancellation and return. If, as of the first
anniversary of the date of this Agreement, there is pending an unresolved claim for indemnification under this ARTICLE VIII or
ARTICLE IX, the Tranche One Shares released to Sellers on the first anniversary of the date of this Agreement will be reduced
only if, and to the extent, that the amount of such unresolved indemnification claim exceeds the value of all Tranche Two Shares
and/or Tranche Three Shares pertaining to Strategic Objectives (as defined in Schedule 1.5(a)(i)) that have been achieved on or
before the first anniversary of the date of this Agreement. For purposes of the immediately preceding sentence, the Tranche Two
Shares and Tranche Threes Shares referred to therein will be valued at the closing price per share of Buyer Shares as reported by
NASDAQ (or, if no longer traded on such market, such other market or exchange as Buyer’s common stock may be traded) as of
the trading day immediately preceding the first anniversary of the date of this Agreement. Buyer and Seller will cooperate in good
faith in promptly providing joint escrow instructions to the Escrow Agent regarding release to Sellers, or cancellation and return to
Buyer, of the Closing Shares in accordance with this Section, the other provisions of this Agreement, and Schedule 1.5(a)(i). The
exercise of Buyers’ right of setoff in good faith, whether or not ultimately determined to be justified, will not constitute a breach of
this Agreement.
8.7
Treatment of Indemnity Payments. Any payment made to an Indemnified Party hereunder with respect to any
Damages shall be an amount which is sufficient to compensate the Indemnified Party for the amount of such Damages (subject to
the limitations set forth in this Article VIII), after taking into account (i) all increases in federal, state, local, foreign or other Taxes
payable by the Indemnified Party as a result of the receipt of such payment (by reason of such payment being included in income,
resulting in a reduction of tax basis, or otherwise increasing such Taxes payable by the Indemnified Party at any time), and (ii) all
decreases in federal, state, local, foreign or other Taxes payable by the Indemnified Party (and/or the Company if the Indemnified
Party is a Buyer Indemnified Party) as a result of the Damages to which such indemnification payment relates (by reason of such
Damages being deductible or otherwise decreasing such Taxes payable by the Indemnified Party (and/or the Company, if the
Indemnified Party is a Buyer Indemnified Party) at any time). Any payments made to an Indemnified Party pursuant to this
ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes.
8.8 Limitations.
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(a) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the indemnification rights set forth in this ARTICLE VIII and
ARTICLE IX shall be a Party’s sole and exclusive remedy against another Party for any claim, demand, cause of action or
Damages arising out of or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby; provided, however, that
notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing shall limit or impair any right that any Party may have to sue and obtain equitable relief,
including specific performance and other injunctive relief, for the breach of Section 7.2.
(b) No amount shall be payable to a Buyer Indemnified Party under Section 8.1(a) unless and until the aggregate
amount of all Damages exceeds $450,000 (the “Threshold”), at which time the Sellers shall indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Party
(subject to the other provisions of this ARTICLE VIII) to the extent of such excess; provided that (i) the Threshold shall not apply
with respect to any Damages resulting from, arising out of or relating to breaches or inaccuracies of the Sellers Fundamental
Representations or the Sellers Key Representations and (ii) none of such Damages shall count towards the satisfaction of the
Threshold.
(c) The aggregate amount of all payments made by Sellers in satisfaction of claims for indemnification pursuant to
Section 8.1(a) (including payments made in the form of Closing Shares) shall not exceed an amount equal to $11,800,000 (the
“Cap”); provided that (i) the Cap shall not apply to any payments made by Sellers with respect to Damages resulting from, arising
out of or relating to breaches or inaccuracies of Sellers Fundamental Representations or Sellers Key Representations, (ii) none of
such Damages shall count towards the Cap and (iii) in each event that the number of Tranche Two Shares or Tranche Three Shares
is reduced as a result of adjustment pursuant to Schedule 1.5(a)(i), then at such time the Cap shall be reduced to an amount equal to
the product of (x) $11,800,000, multiplied by (y) the Cap Reduction Percentage.
(d) The aggregate amount of all payments made by Sellers in satisfaction of claims for indemnification pursuant to
Section 8.1(a) of Sellers Key Representations shall not exceed an amount equal to $33,630,000 (the “Key Representations Cap”);
provided that (i) none of such Damages shall count towards the Cap and (ii) in each event that the number of Tranche Two Shares
or Tranche Three Shares is reduced as a result of adjustment pursuant to Schedule 1.5(a)(i), then at such time the Key
Representations Cap shall be reduced to an amount equal to the product of (x) $33,630,000, multiplied by (y) the Cap Reduction
Percentage.
8.9 Special Rule for Fraud and Intentional Misrepresentation. Notwithstanding anything in this ARTICLE VIII to the
contrary, in the event of any breach of a representation or warranty by any Party hereto that results from intentional
misrepresentation or that constitutes fraud, by or on behalf of the breaching Party (including, without limitation, any intentional
misrepresentation or fraudulent act committed by any officer, director, employee, agent or Representative of any Party in
connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated
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by this Agreement), then (a) such representation or warranty will survive and continue in full force and effect for the period of the
applicable statute of limitations without regard to any survival period set forth in Section 8.5, (b) the limitations set forth in Section
8.8 shall not apply to any Damages that the Indemnified Party may suffer, sustain or become subject to, as a result of, arising out of,
relating to or in connection with such breach and (c) none of such Damages shall count towards the satisfaction of the Threshold or
Cap.
8.10 Certain Limitations.
(a) Any insurance proceeds received by any Indemnified Party (or, if the Indemnified Party is a Buyer Indemnified
Party, insurance proceeds received by the Company) with respect to any Damages shall reduce the amount payable to such
Indemnified Party under this ARTICLE VIII.
(b) Each Indemnified Party will use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate any indemnifiable Damages to the
same extent as would a reasonable and prudent person to whom no indemnification was available.
(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the extent that any items or matters have been taken
into account in the computation of Closing Date Working Capital, such items or matters shall not be considered to be, or to have
caused, Damages that are indemnifiable under this ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX.
ARTICLE IX
TAX MATTERS
9.1 Tax Indemnification.
(f) Sellers shall be liable for and covenant to pay, and pursuant to ARTICLE VIII shall indemnify Buyer in respect
of, and hold it harmless against and any and all Damages incurred or suffered by Buyer or its Affiliates resulting from, relating to or
constituting (a) a breach of any representation contained in Section 2.8, (b) the failure to perform any covenant or agreement set
forth in this ARTICLE IX, and (c) all Taxes not reflected on the Final Balance Sheet (including, without limitation, any amounts
owed by Buyer relating to Taxes pursuant to a contract or otherwise, or owed by Buyer as a transferee or successor) of Company or
Sellers, or otherwise applicable to the Business, in each case attributable to taxable years or periods ending on or prior to the
Closing Date and, with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of such Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing
Date. For purposes of this Section 9.1, any Straddle Period shall be treated on a “closing of the books” basis as two partial periods,
one ending at the close of the Closing Date and the other beginning on the day after the Closing Date, except that Taxes (such as
property Taxes) imposed on a periodic basis shall be allocated on a daily basis.
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9.2

Assistance and Cooperation. After the Closing Date, Sellers and Buyer shall:

(f) assist (and cause its respective Affiliates to assist) the other Party in preparing any Tax Returns which such
other Party is responsible for preparing and filing;
(g) cooperate fully in preparing for any audits by, or disputes, contests or proceedings with, taxing authorities
which relate to the Business or Buyer;
(h)
make available to the other Parties hereto and to any Governmental Entity as reasonably requested all
information, records and documents relating to Liabilities for Taxes of such other Party or Parties;
(i)
preserve all such information, records and documents until the expiration of any applicable statutes of
limitations or extensions thereof and as otherwise required by any Law;
(j) provide timely notice to the other in writing upon receipt of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audits or
assessments relating to the Business for any period beginning prior to the Closing Date;
(k) furnish the other with copies of all correspondence received from any Governmental Entity in connection with
any Tax audit or information request relating to the Business with respect to any period beginning prior to the Closing Date;
(l) keep confidential any information obtained pursuant to this Section 9.2, except as may otherwise be necessary
in connection with the filing of Tax Returns or claims for refund or in conducting any audit or other Tax proceeding; and
(m) furnish the other Party or Parties with adequate information, to the extent reasonably available, which would
enable the other Party or Parties to determine its entitlement to, and the amount of, any refund or credit to which such Party or
Parties may be entitled.
9.3 Section 338(h)(10) Election.
(e) At Buyer’s election, the Company and Sellers shall join with Buyer in making an election under Section 338(h)
(10) of the Code (and any corresponding election under state, local, and foreign Tax law) with respect to the Purchased Shares (a
“Section 338(h)(10) Election”).
(f) Buyer and Sellers shall cooperate fully in making the Section 338(h)(10) Election, including the filing of all
required IRS forms and related forms under state, local or foreign Tax Law (collectively, the “Section 338 Election Forms”). Prior
to the Closing Date, the Company shall prepare IRS Forms 8023. Sellers shall permit Buyer to review and comment on such IRS
Forms 8023 and shall accept any comment or revision reasonably requested by Buyer. Buyer shall
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execute and deliver the fully completed IRS Forms 8023 to Sellers and Buyer shall file the IRS Forms 8023 on or prior to the due
date for filing such IRS Forms 8023.
(g) Promptly after Closing, the Parties shall retain an accounting firm selected by Buyer to issue a report and
allocate the Purchase Price (and all other capitalizable costs) among the assets of the Company in accordance with Sections 338
and 1060 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, and any comparable provisions of state, local or other
Tax law (the “Asset Allocation”), and shall deliver the Asset Allocation to Sellers for Sellers’ review and approval, which approval
will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Buyer shall pay the fees of such third party in connection with such
report.
(h) Buyer, the Company and Sellers shall file all Tax Returns (including but not limited to the Section 338 Election
Forms and IRS Form 8883) consistent with the Section 338(h)(10) Election and the Asset Allocation and shall not voluntarily take
any action inconsistent therewith upon any audit or examination of any Tax Return or in any other filing or proceeding relating to
Taxes, unless required pursuant to a determination as defined in Section 1313(a) of the Code or any similar provision of any
foreign, state or local law; provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall prevent Buyer or Sellers from settling any
proposed deficiency or adjustment by any Governmental Entity based upon or arising out of the Asset Allocation, and neither
Buyer nor Sellers shall be required to litigate before any court any proposed deficiency or adjustment by any Governmental Entity
challenging the Asset Allocation. If the Purchase Price paid by Buyer to Sellers pursuant to this Agreement is adjusted in any
manner as provided in this Agreement, Sellers shall promptly revise the Asset Allocation to reflect such adjustments to the
Purchase Price paid pursuant to this Agreement. Sellers shall permit Buyer to review, comment on and approve such revised Asset
Allocation, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and shall incorporate any comment or
revision reasonably requested by Buyer within thirty (30) days after delivery of the revised Asset Allocation by Sellers.
(i) Sellers shall be responsible for, and shall timely pay, all Taxes imposed on the Company or any Seller as a result
of making the Section 338(h)(10) Election in accordance with the provisions of this Section 9.3.
9.4 Indemnification Claims.
(h) Scope of ARTICLE IX. Any claim by any Party relating to a breach by another Party of its obligations under
this ARTICLE IX shall be pursued in accordance with the procedures for indemnification claims set forth in ARTICLE VIII. To the
extent there is any inconsistency between the terms of ARTICLE VIII and this ARTICLE IX, the provisions of this ARTICLE IX
shall govern. All claims for indemnification pursuant to this ARTICLE IX shall be subject to the limitations and other provisions of
Article VIII, excluding Sections 8.8(b) and 8.8(c).
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(i) Claim Procedure. For purposes of clarification, claims for a breach of an obligation under this ARTICLE IX
may be made by a Party at any time prior to the thirtieth (30th) day after the expiration of the statute of limitations applicable to the
Tax matter to which the claim relates.
9.5 Dispute Resolution. During the thirty (30) day period following the delivery of a Response that reflects a Dispute
pertaining to a claim for indemnification under this ARTICLE IX, Buyer and Sellers shall attempt in good faith to resolve the
Dispute. If, at the end of the thirty (30) day period, Buyer and Sellers have not resolved such Dispute, Buyer and Sellers shall refer
the Dispute for determination to the Accountants who shall act as experts, not as arbitrators, and the Parties will be reasonably
available and work diligently to facilitate the Accountants to render a determination within a twenty (20) day period immediately
following the referral to them. A determination by the Accountants with respect to any item of Dispute submitted to them will be
binding on Buyer and Sellers. The fees and expenses of the Accountants shall be borne fifty percent (50%) by Sellers and fifty
percent (50%) by Buyer.
9.6
Preparation of Certain Tax Returns. Sellers will prepare and file the Company’s state and federal income Tax
Returns for the period ending on the Closing Date and will, prior to such filing, provide copies of such Tax Returns to Buyer for its
review and approval, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
ARTICLE X
INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.
ARTICLE XI
DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Agreement, each of the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below.
“Accountants” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(d)(iii).
“Accounts Receivable” means each and all accounts receivable of the Company reflected on the Most Recent Balance Sheet
(other than those paid since such date).
“Action” means any action, claim, suit, litigation, proceeding, labor dispute, arbitral action, governmental audit, inquiry,
criminal prosecution, unfair labor practice charge or complaint or investigation before any Governmental Entity or before any
arbitrator or mediator.
“Affiliate” means any affiliate, as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act.
“Agreed Amount” means part, but not all, of the Claimed Amount.
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“Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
“Applicable Contract” means any contract (a) under which the Company or the Business has or may acquire any rights,
(b) under which the Company or the Business has or may become subject to any obligation or Liability, or (c) by which the
Company or its assets is or may become bound.
“Asset Allocation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(c).
“Business” means the business operations of the Company as of the date hereof.
“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in the County of
Orange, California are required or authorized by Law to be closed.
“Buyer” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
“Buyer 8-K” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.2.
“Buyer Fundamental Representations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.4(a).
“Buyer Shares” shall mean shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Buyer.
“Cap Reduction Percentage” shall mean, as of a given date, the result (expressed as a percentage) obtained by dividing (x)
the sum of $32,000,000 and the Reduced Closing Share Amount as of such date by (y) $59,000,000.
“CERCLA” means the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended.
“Claim Notice” means written notification which (i) contains a description of the Damages incurred or reasonably expected
to be incurred by the Indemnified Party and the Claimed Amount of such Damages, to the extent then known, (ii) contains a
statement that the Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX for such Damages or to
apply such Damages to the Threshold, and a reasonable explanation of the basis therefor, (iii) a demand for payment, or application
to the Threshold, in the amount of such Damages; and (iv) if such Claim Notice relates to a Third Party Action, is accompanied by
copies of all communications between the Indemnified Party and its counsel on one hand and the person or entity asserting the
Third Party Action and its advisors on the other hand, and copies of all pleadings, if any, pertaining to the Third Party Claim.
“Claimed Amount” means the amount of any Damages incurred or reasonably expected to be incurred by the Indemnified
Party.
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“Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3.
“Closing Amount” means the Closing Cash Payment, together with the Closing Shares Amount.
“Closing Adjustment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(c).
“Closing Cash Payment” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a).
“Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3.
“Closing Date Working Capital” shall mean the Company’s Working Capital as of the Closing Date.
“Closing Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c).
“Closing Shares Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c).
“COBRA” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.20(f).
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
“Company Intellectual Property” means the Intellectual Property owned by the Company or any Seller and used in
connection with the Business.
“Company Material Adverse Effect” means any material adverse change, event, circumstance or development with respect
to, or material adverse effect on, (i) the business, assets, liabilities, capitalization, condition (financial or other), or results of
operations of the Company or the Business, or (ii) the ability of Buyer to operate the Business immediately after the Closing;
except to the extent resulting from (1) general business or economic conditions, including such conditions affecting generally the
industry of the Business, (2) national or international political or social conditions, including the engagement by the United States
in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or
terrorist attack upon the U.S., or any of its territories, possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military
installation, equipment or personnel of the U.S., (3) financial, banking, or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and
any decline in the price of any security or any market index), (4) changes in GAAP, (5) changes in Laws or other binding directives
issued by any Governmental Entity, or (6) the taking of any action required by this Agreement; provided that in each such event,
change or action set forth in (1) through (5) above, the Business is not affected in a substantially disproportionate manner. For the
avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that the terms “material,” “materially” or “materiality” as used in this Agreement with an
initial
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lower case “m” shall have their respective customary and ordinary meanings, without regard to the meaning ascribed to Company
Material Adverse Effect.
“Company Option” means options to acquire shares of common stock of the Company granted or awarded under the
Company Option Plan.
“Company Option Plan” means the Company’s 2009 Stock Plan.
“Company Plan” means any Employee Benefit Plan that the Company or any ERISA Affiliate maintains, contributes to or
has an obligation to contribute to on behalf of participants who are or were employed by Company or any ERISA Affiliate.
“Company Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
“Confidential Information” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a).
“Covenant Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(b).
“Customer Deliverables” means the products and services that the Company (i) currently provides, or (ii) has provided
within the previous three (3) years.
“Damages” means any and all debts, costs, losses, liabilities, obligations, claims, causes of action, damages, deficiencies,
expenses (including amounts paid in settlement, interest, court costs, costs of investigators, fees and expenses of attorneys,
accountants, financial advisors and other experts, and other expenses of litigation), fines, fees, penalties, judgments, awards,
assessments, diminution in value and any amounts payable with respect to Taxes.
“Data” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.12.
“Data Rights” means all data, compilations of data and databases (in all forms and in all media), and all database rights
therein.
“Debt” means (a) all obligations of the Company for borrowed money, or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind
to the Company, (b) all obligations of the Company evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, preferred stock or similar instruments,
(c) all obligations of the Company upon which interest charges are customarily paid, (d) all obligations of the Company under
conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property purchased by the Company, (e) all obligations of the
Company issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding obligations of the Company or
creditors for raw materials, inventory, services and supplies incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business), (f) all capitalized lease
obligations of the Company, (g) all obligations of others secured by any lien on property or assets owned or acquired by the
Company, whether or not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed, (h)
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all obligations of the Company under interest rate or currency hedging transactions (valued at the termination value thereof), (i) all
letters of credit issued for the account of the Company, and (j) all guarantees and arrangements having the economic effect of a
guarantee by the Company of any indebtedness of any other Person.
“Deferred Revenue” means the estimated costs to complete deferred revenue.
“Disclosure Schedule” means the disclosure schedule provided by Sellers to Buyer on the date hereof.
“Dispute” means the dispute resulting if the Indemnifying Party in a Response disputes its Liability for all or part of the
Claimed Amount.
“Employee Benefit Plan” means any “employee pension benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA), any
“employee welfare benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), and any other written or oral plan, agreement or
arrangement involving direct or indirect compensation, including insurance coverage, severance benefits, disability benefits,
deferred compensation, bonuses, stock options, stock purchase, phantom stock, stock appreciation or other forms of incentive
compensation or post-retirement compensation.
“Environmental Law” means any federal, state or local Law, statute, rule, order, directive, judgment, Permit or regulation or
the common Law relating to the environment, occupational health and safety, or exposure of Persons or property to Materials of
Environmental Concern, including any statute, regulation, administrative decision or order pertaining to: (i) the presence of or the
treatment, storage, disposal, generation, transportation, handling, distribution, manufacture, processing, use, import, export,
labeling, recycling, registration, investigation or remediation of Materials of Environmental Concern or documentation related to
the foregoing; (ii) air, water and noise pollution; (iii) groundwater and soil contamination; (iv) the release, threatened release, or
accidental release into the environment, the workplace or other areas of Materials of Environmental Concern, including emissions,
discharges, injections, spills, escapes or dumping of Materials of Environmental Concern; (v) transfer of interests in or control of
real property which may be contaminated; (vi) community or worker right-to-know disclosures with respect to Materials of
Environmental Concern; (vii) the protection of wild life, marine life and wetlands, and endangered and threatened species;
(viii) storage tanks, vessels, containers, abandoned or discarded barrels and other closed receptacles; and (ix) health and safety of
employees and other Persons. As used above, the term “release” shall have the meaning set forth in CERCLA.
“Environmental Permits” means all permits, approvals, identification numbers, licenses and other authorizations required
under or issued pursuant to any applicable Environmental Law.
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“Equity Interest” means (i) with respect to a corporation, any and all shares of capital stock and any option, warrant,
convertible security, subscription right, conversion right, exchange right or other agreement that could require a Person to issue any
of its capital stock or sell any capital stock (“Commitments”) with respect thereto, (ii) with respect to a partnership, limited liability
company, trust or similar Person, any and all units, interests or other partnership/limited liability company interests, and any
Commitments with respect thereto, and (iii) any other equity ownership, participation or security in a Person.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
“ERISA Affiliate” means (1) any entity which is, or at any applicable time was, a member of (a) a controlled group of
corporations (as defined in Section 414(b) of the Code), (b) a group of trades or businesses under common control (as defined in
Section 414(c) of the Code), or (c) an affiliated service group (as defined under Section 414(m) of the Code or the regulations
under Section 414(o) of the Code), any of which includes or included the Company, or (2) any trade or business (whether or not
incorporated) that, together with the Company is treated as a single employer within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(14) of ERISA.
“Escrow Agreement” shall mean an escrow agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.
“Escrow Agent” shall mean Computershare Trust Company N.A.
“Estimated Closing Date Working Capital” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b).
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
“Expected Claim Notice” means a notice that, as a result of an Action instituted by or written claim made by a third party,
an Indemnified Party reasonably expects to incur Damages for which it is entitled to indemnification under ARTICLE VIII or
ARTICLE IX, or which it is entitled to apply to the Threshold, which notice will (i) contain a statement that the Indemnified Party
is entitled to indemnification under ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX for such Damages, or to apply such Damages to the Threshold,
and a reasonable explanation of the basis therefor; and (ii) if such Claim Notice relates to a Third Party Action, is accompanied by
copies of all communications between the Indemnified Party and its counsel on one hand and the person or entity asserting the
Third Party Action and its advisors on the other hand, and copies of all pleadings, if any, pertaining to the Third Party Action.
“Facilities” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.10.
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“Facility Leases” shall mean all of the items listed on Section 2.11(c) of the Disclosure Schedule.
“Final Balance Sheet” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(d)(i).
“Financial Statements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.
“Fixtures and Equipment” means all of the furniture, fixtures, furnishings, machinery, automobiles, trucks, spare parts,
supplies, equipment, tooling and other tangible personal property owned by Seller and used in connection with the Business,
wherever located and including any such Fixtures and Equipment in the possession of any of Seller’s or the Company’s suppliers,
including all warranty rights with respect thereto.
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America applied on a consistent basis.
“Governmental Entity” means any government or any agency, bureau, board, commission, court, department, official,
political subdivision, tribunal or other instrumentality of any government, whether federal, state or local, domestic or foreign.
“Hazardous Materials” means (a) petroleum and petroleum products, radioactive materials, asbestos‑containing materials,
mold, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, transformers or other equipment that contain polychlorinated biphenyls and radon gas,
(b) any other chemicals, materials or substances defined as or included in the definition of “hazardous substances”, “hazardous
wastes”, “hazardous materials”, “extremely hazardous wastes”, “restricted hazardous wastes”, “toxic substances”, “toxic
pollutants”, “contaminants” or “pollutants”, or words of similar import, under any applicable Environmental Law, and (c) any other
chemical, material or substance which is regulated by any Environmental Law.
“Healthcare Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.23(a).
“HIPAA” means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as it may be amended from time to time,
and any rules or regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.
“HIPAA Commitments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.22(b).
“Indemnified Party” means a Party entitled, or seeking to assert rights, to indemnification under ARTICLE VIII or
ARTICLE IX.
“Indemnifying Party” means the Party from whom indemnification is sought by the Indemnified Party.
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“Intellectual Property” means all:
(a) patents, patent applications, patent disclosures and all related continuation, continuation-in-part, divisional,
reissue, reexamination, utility model, certificate of invention and design patents, patent applications, registrations and applications
for registrations;
(b) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, Internet domain names, logos, trade names and corporate names and
registrations and applications for registration thereof;
(c) copyrightable works, copyrights and registrations and applications for registration thereof;
(d) copyright, confidential information and trade secrets embodied in computer software and documentation;
(e)
inventions, trade secrets and confidential business information, whether patentable or nonpatentable and
whether or not reduced to practice, know-how, manufacturing and product processes and techniques, research and development
information, financial, marketing and business data, pricing and cost information, business and marketing plans and customer and
supplier lists and information;
(f) all data, compilations of data and databases (in all forms and in all media), and all database rights therein;
(g) other proprietary rights relating to any of the foregoing (including remedies against infringements thereof and
rights of protection of interest therein under the Laws of all jurisdictions); and
(h) copies and tangible embodiments thereof.
“Internal Systems” means the internal computer systems of the Company that are used in its business or operations,
including computer hardware systems, software applications and embedded systems.
“Knowledge of the Company” means the knowledge of each Seller and the directors and officers of the Company, or
information which any such individual should have known based on his primary or supervisory responsibility for the matter at
issue.
“Law” means any federal, national, supranational, state, provincial, foreign, local or similar statute, law, ordinance,
regulation, rule, code, order, requirement or rule of law (including common law).
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“Leased Real Property” means the real property leased by the Company as tenant, together with, to the extent leased by the
Company, all buildings and other structures, fixtures, facilities or improvements currently located thereon.
“Leasehold Estates” shall mean all of the Company’s rights and obligations as lessee under the Facility Leases.
“Leasehold Improvements” shall mean all leasehold improvements situated in or on the Leased Real Property and owned by
any Seller or the Company.
“Liability” means any liability or obligation (whether known or unknown, whether asserted or unasserted, whether absolute
or contingent, whether accrued or unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, whether incurred or consequential and whether
due or to become due), including any liability for Taxes.
“Materials of Environmental Concern” means any: pollutants, contaminants or hazardous substances (as such terms are
defined under CERCLA), pesticides (as such term is defined under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act), solid
wastes and hazardous wastes (as such terms are defined under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act), chemicals, other
hazardous, radioactive or toxic materials, oil, petroleum and petroleum products (and fractions thereof), or any other material (or
article containing such material) listed or subject to regulation under any Law, statute, rule, regulation, order, Permit, or directive
due to its potential, directly or indirectly, to harm the environment or the health of humans or other living beings.
“Most Recent Balance Sheet” means the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of the Most Recent Balance Sheet
Date, prepared in accordance with GAAP.
“Most Recent Balance Sheet Date” means July 31, 2013.
“NASDAQ” means the National Association of Securities and Dealers Automated Quotation Stock Market.
“Option Pool” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
“Optionholders” means the holders of Company Options that are outstanding and unexercised as of immediately prior to the
Closing Date.
“Ordinary Course of Business” means the ordinary course of business consistent with recent past custom and practice
(within the past twenty-four (24) months) (including with respect to nature, scope and magnitude).
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“Parties” or “Party” means individually and collectively (as the case may be) Buyer, the Company and any or all of the
Sellers.
“Permits” means all permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, orders, approvals, franchises, variances and similar rights
issued by or obtained from any Governmental Entity (including those issued or required under Environmental Laws and those
relating to the occupancy or use of owned or Leased Real Property).
“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, general or limited partnership, proprietorship,
other business, non-profit or charitable organization, trust, union, association (whether or not incorporated in any jurisdiction), or
any court, arbitration tribunal, administrative agency or commission or other governmental or regulatory authority or agency.
“Pfizer” means Pfizer Health Solutions Inc.
“Pfizer Agreement” means the Software License Agreement dated March 11, 2011, by and between the Company and
Pfizer Health Solutions Inc., including all amendments and schedules thereto.
“Public Software” means any software that contains, or is derived in any manner (in whole or in part) from, any software
that is distributed as open source software or similar licensing or distribution models, including without limitation software licensed
or distributed under any of the following licenses or distribution models, or licenses or distribution models similar to any of the
following: (i) GNU’s General Public License (GPL) or Lesser/Library GPL (LGPL), (ii) the Artistic License (e.g., PERL), (iii) the
Mozilla Public License, (iv) the Netscape Public License, (v) the Sun Community Source License (SCSL), (vi) the Sun Industry
Standards License (SISL), (vii) the BSD License, and (viii) the Apache License.
“Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2.
“Purchased Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
“Reduced Closing Share Amount” shall mean, as of a given date, the Closing Shares Amount, minus the amount of any
Tranche Two Shares or Tranche Three Shares that have been reduced as of such date pursuant to Schedule 1.5(a)(i), valuing such
shares by the Share Valuation Method as of the Closing Date.
“Release” means disposing, discharging, injecting, spilling, leaking, leaching, dumping, emitting, escaping, emptying,
seeping, placing, appearing and the like into or upon any land, building, surface, subsurface or water or air or otherwise entering
into the environment.

56

“Representatives” means any officer, director, principal, attorney, agent, employee or other agent or representative.
“Response” means a written response containing the information provided for in Section 8.4(a).
“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
“SEC Reports” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(b).
“Section 338(h)(10) Election” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(a).
“Section 338 Election Forms” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(b).
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
“Security Interest” means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, encumbrance, charge or other lien (whether arising by
contract or by operation of Law), other than (i) mechanic’s, materialmen’s, and similar liens, (ii) liens arising under worker’s
compensation, unemployment insurance, social security, retirement, and similar legislation, (iii) liens for taxes not yet due and
payable, and (iv) liens on goods in transit incurred pursuant to documentary letters of credit, in each case arising in the Ordinary
Course of Business of the Company and not material to the Company.
“Seller(s)” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
“Sellers’ Fundamental Representations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.1.
“Share Valuation Method” shall mean the valuation of the Buyer Shares based upon the average closing price of Buyer’s
common stock as reported by NASDAQ (or, if no longer traded on such market, such other market or exchange as Buyer’s
common stock may then be traded) over the sixty (60) trading days ending on the close of the trading day immediately prior.
“Straddle Period” means any taxable year or period beginning on or before, and ending after, the Closing Date.
“Subsidiary” means with respect to any Person (the “Owner”), any corporation or other Person of which securities or other
interests having the power to elect a majority of that corporation’s or other Person’s board of directors or similar governing body, or
otherwise having the power to direct the business and policies of that corporation or other Person (other than securities or other
interests having such power only upon the happening of a contingency that has not occurred) are held by the Owner or one or more
of its Subsidiaries.
“Target Working Capital” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(a).
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“Taxes” (including with correlative meaning “Tax” and “Taxable”) means (a) any and all taxes, and any and all other
charges, fees, levies, duties, deficiencies, customs or other similar assessments or Liabilities in the nature of a tax, including
without limitation any income, gross receipts, ad valorem, net worth, premium, value-added, alternative or add-on minimum,
excise, severance, stamp, occupation, windfall profits, real property, personal property, assets, sales, use, capital stock, capital
gains, documentary, recapture, transfer, transfer gains, estimated, withholding, employment, unemployment insurance,
unemployment compensation, social security, business license, business organization, environmental, workers compensation,
payroll, profits, license, lease, service, service use, gains, franchise and other taxes imposed by any federal, state, local, or foreign
Governmental Entity, (b) any interest, fines, penalties, assessments, or additions resulting from, attributable to, or incurred in
connection with any items described in this paragraph or any contest or dispute thereof, and (c) any items described in this
paragraph that are attributable to another Person but that the Company is liable to pay by Law, by contract, or otherwise.
“Tax Returns” means any and all reports, returns, declarations, statements, forms, or other information required to be
supplied to a Governmental Entity or to any individual or entity in connection with Taxes and any associated schedules,
attachments, work papers or other information provided in connection with such items, including any amendments, thereof.
“Third Party Action” means any suit, proceeding or written claim by a Person other than a Party for which indemnification,
or application to the Threshold, may be sought by a Party under ARTICLE VIII or ARTICLE IX.
“Trading Partners” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.23(c).
“Tranche One Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c).
“Tranche Three Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c).
“Tranche Two Shares” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c).
“Working Capital” means, as of any particular date, the Company’s total current assets (including accounts receivable (net
of allowance for bad debts), prepaid expenses, and other current assets, but excluding cash and cash equivalents and excluding
labor expenses capitalized as work in process), minus total current liabilities (including accounts payable, accrued liabilities,
Deferred Revenue and other current liabilities but excluding cash and cash equivalents), computed in a manner consistent with
Schedule 11 attached hereto, which shows the computation of Working Capital as of May 31, 2013.
ARTICLE XII
MISCELLANEOUS
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12.1 Expenses. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, each of the Parties shall bear its own costs and expenses
(including legal, investment banking and accounting fees and expenses) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby.
12.2 Press Releases and Announcements. Sellers shall not issue any press release or make any public announcement or
other disclosure relating to the existence or subject matter of this Agreement without the prior written consent of Buyer. Buyer shall
be permitted to issue any press release or make any public announcement or other disclosure relating to the existence or subject
matter of this Agreement without the prior written consent of Sellers, that it believes in good faith is required by applicable Law,
any listing or trading agreement, or the rules and regulations of NASDAQ, including but not limited to any public announcement or
disclosure concerning Buyer’s publicly-traded securities or the filing by Buyer of a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Buyer 8-K”)
to report the execution of this Agreement. In connection with the preparation of the Buyer 8-K, Sellers shall, upon request by
Buyer, furnish Buyer with all information as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. Sellers represents and warrants to Buyer that all such information shall be true and correct in all
material respects and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading. At or after the execution of this Agreement, Sellers and Buyer shall jointly issue a public announcement and/or press
release and/or other disclosure, as shall be mutually agreed, of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each Party will
not unreasonably withhold approval from the others with respect to any press release or public announcement. If any Party
determines with the advice of counsel that it is required to make this Agreement and the terms of the transaction public or
otherwise issue a press release or make public disclosure with respect thereto, it shall, at a reasonable time before making any
public disclosure, consult with the other Party regarding such disclosure, seek such confidential treatment for such terms or
portions of this Agreement or the transaction as may be reasonably requested by the other Party and disclose only such information
as is legally compelled to be disclosed. This provision will not apply to communications by any Party to its counsel, accountants
and other professional advisors.
12.3 No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement shall not confer any rights or remedies upon any Person other than
the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
12.4 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the documents referred to herein), constitutes the entire agreement
among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any prior or contemporaneous understandings,
agreements or representations by or among the Parties, written or oral, express or implied, which may have related to the subject
matter hereof in any way.
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12.5 Succession and Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties named
herein and their respective successors and permitted assigns. No Party may assign either this Agreement or any of its rights,
interests or obligations hereunder without the prior written approval of the other Parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyer may
assign to its Affiliates as they exist now or in the future; provided, however, that no such assignment will relieve Buyer of any of its
obligations under this Agreement.
12.6
Counterparts and Facsimile Signature. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of which together shall be deemed to
constitute one and the same agreement. The exchange of copies of this Agreement and of signature pages by facsimile transmission
shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the Parties and may be used in lieu of the original
Agreement and signature pages thereof for all purposes.
12.7 Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in
any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
12.8 Notices. All notices, requests, demands, claims, and other communications hereunder shall be in writing. Any notice,
request, demand, claim or other communication hereunder shall be deemed duly delivered four (4) business days after it is sent by
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or one business day after it is sent for next business day
delivery via a reputable nationwide overnight courier service, in each case to the intended recipient as set forth below:
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If to Buyer or the Company:

Copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Quality Systems, Inc.
18111 Von Karman Avenue,
Suite 700
Irvine, California 92612
Attention: General Counsel
Fax: (949) 255-2610
Telephone: (949) 255-2600

Latham & Watkins LLP
650 Town Center Drive, 20th Floor
Costa Mesa, California 92626
Attention: Michael Treska
Daniel Rees
Fax: (714) 755-8290
Telephone: (714) 755-1235

If to Sellers or the Representative:

Copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Jon Teichrow
6861 E. Kallin Way
Long Beach, CA 90815
Telephone: 949-378-1540

McConnell, Dunning & Barwick, LLP
15 Enterprise, Suite 360
Aliso Viejo, California 92656
Attention: Scott McConnell
Fax: (949) 900-4401
Telephone: (949) 900-4400
Any Party may give any notice, request, demand, claim or other communication hereunder using any other means
(including personal delivery, expedited courier, messenger service, telecopy or ordinary mail) other than electronic mail, but no
such notice, request, demand, claim or other communication shall be deemed to have been duly given unless and until it actually is
received by the Party for whom it is intended. Any Party may change the address to which notices, requests, demands, claims, and
other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving the other Parties notice in the manner herein set forth.
12.9 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue.
(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal Laws of the State of
California without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of California or any other
jurisdiction) that would cause the application of Laws of any jurisdictions other than those of the State of California.
(b) All actions and proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement will be heard and determined in a
California court or a federal court sitting in Orange County, California, and the Parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts in any such action or proceeding and irrevocably waive the defense of an inconvenient forum to the
maintenance of any such action or proceeding. The Parties hereby consent to service of process by mail (in accordance with Section
12.8) or any other manner permitted by Law.
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12.10 Amendments and Waivers. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the same shall
be in writing and signed by all of the Parties. No waiver of any right or remedy hereunder shall be valid unless the same shall be in
writing and signed by the Party giving such waiver. No waiver by any Party with respect to any default, misrepresentation or breach
of warranty or covenant hereunder shall be deemed to extend to any prior or subsequent default, misrepresentation or breach of
warranty or covenant hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or subsequent such occurrence.
12.11
Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any
jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or
enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. If the final judgment of a court
of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision hereof is invalid or unenforceable, the Parties agree that the court
making the determination of invalidity or unenforceability shall have the power to limit the term or provision, to delete specific
words or phrases, or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable
and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision, and this Agreement shall be
enforceable as so modified.
12.12 Construction.
(c) The language used throughout this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the Parties to
express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Party.
(d) All terms and words used in this Agreement, regardless of whether singular or plural, or the gender in which
they are used, shall be deemed to include any other number and any other gender as the context may require.
(e) Any reference to any federal, state, local or foreign statute or Law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise.
(f) Any reference herein to “including” shall be interpreted as “including without limitation.”
(g) Any reference to any Article, Section or paragraph shall be deemed to refer to an Article, Section or paragraph
of this Agreement, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.
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12.13
Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of any litigation or arbitration proceeding arising out of any disputes under this
Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover their costs and expenses including, without limitation, reasonable
attorneys’ fees.
ARTICLE XIII
SELLERS’ REPRESENTATIVE
13.1 Appointment
13.2 Reliance. Any decision, act, consent or instruction of the Representative with respect to the matters referred to in
Section 13.1 shall constitute a decision, act consent or instruction of the Sellers and shall be conclusive and binding upon the
Sellers, and the Buyer may rely upon any such decision, act, consent or instruction of the Representative as being the decision, act,
consent or instruction of the Sellers. The Representative cannot be changed or substituted without the prior written consent of a
majority in interest of the Sellers and such change or substitution of the Representative shall not be effective until the Buyer
receives written notice thereof.
13.3
Indemnification. The Sellers shall hold the Representative harmless from any and all Damages based upon,
attributable to or resulting from the Representative’s performance of his duties and obligations under this Agreement, except to the
extent that such Damages are a result of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Representative.
[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been signed by or on behalf of each of the parties as of the day first
above written.
BUYER:
QUALITY SYSTEMS, INC.
By:

/s/ Jocelyn A. Leavitt
Name: Jocelyn A. Leavitt
Title: Executive Vice President,
General
Counsel and Secretary
Signature Page to Stock Purchase Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been signed by or on behalf of each of the parties as of the day first
above written.
SELLERS:

By:

/s/ Jon Teichrow
Jon Teichrow

By:

/s/ Gary Teichrow
Gary Teichrow

By:

/s/ Andrew Thorson
Andrew Thorson

REPRESENTATIVE:

By:

/s/ Jon Teichrow
Jon Teichrow
Signature Page to Stock Purchase Agreement

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER REQUIRED BY
RULE 13A-14(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Steven T. Plochocki, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Quality Systems, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: October 31, 2013

By: /s/ Steven T. Plochocki
Steven T. Plochocki
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER REQUIRED BY
RULE 13A-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Paul A. Holt, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Quality Systems, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
Date: October 31, 2013

By: /s/ Paul A. Holt
Paul A. Holt
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Quality Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013 (the “Report”),
the undersigned hereby certify in their capacities as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, respectively, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.
the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2.

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date:

October 31, 2013

By: /s/ Steven T. Plochocki
Steven T. Plochocki
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date:

October 31, 2013

By: /s/ Paul A. Holt
Paul A. Holt
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signatures that
appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

